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Group Introduction

3L ilibly

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited (“Aoyuan” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) have been developing
residential projects for over ten years with innovative concept of composite property, incorporating healthy living concepts of sports
and regimen into residential communities. Thereafter, the Group introduced the Cathay Capital Group, a US investment fund, as one
of its substantial shareholders, and the Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 9 October 2007 (Stock Code: 3883).

The real estate projects currently held by the Group are mainly located in Guangdong, Shenyang, Chongqing, Hunan, Guangxi
and Jiangxi etc., which have created excellent and comfortable living environment for property owners. The Group’s strategy is to
implement regional focus on the five major economic circles as its core regions in China, namely Pearl River Delta, Yangtze River
Delta, Bohai Rim, core region of Central and Western China and Beibuwan.

In the future, the Group will adhere to the “building a healthy lifestyle” brand philosophy, focusing on the development of
commercial and residential properties in parallel with quality-oriented strategy, strive to provide its customers with superior living
environment and create a healthy and positive lifestyle and lead a healthy city living.
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Corporate Information

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Yang Zhong (chief operating officer)

Ms. Zhong Ping (chief financial officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111,

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Aoyuan Mansion,

No. 108, HuangPu Avenue West,
Tianhe District,

Guangzhou,

PRC

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Units 1901-2, 19th Floor, One Peking,

No. 1 Peking Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.aoyuan.com.cn

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Ho Kar Yan Joyce

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Guo Zi Wen

Mr. Guo Zi Ning
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Corporate Information (continued)
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MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (chairman)
Mr. Tsui King Fai
Mr. Hu Jiang

MEMBERS OF THE REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE

Mr. Tsui King Fai (chairman)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung
Mr. Hu Jiang

MEMBERS OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Tsui King Fai
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung
Mr. Hu Jiang

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Limited

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Ping An Bank Company Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE
Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town
Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
17 M Floor,

Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Wanchai,

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Email: ir@aoyuan.net

Telephone: (852) 3622 2122
(86) 20-3868 6666

Facsimile: (852) 2180 6189
(86) 20-3868 6688
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» Financial Highlights
A 75 47 2

Results Highlights ¥£&H =
For the year ended 31 December 2014 HZE=E—Z—WNF+_-_A=+—HILtFE
(RMB'000) (AR¥F7T)

2014 2013
=F-mE —T=F
Revenue BERE 6,976,151 5,729,267
Gross profit EH 2,067,369 1,758,550
Net profit | 782,933 752,136
Attributable to: AT ARG
— Owners of the Company —ARRBHEB A 809,392 735,824
— Non-controlling interests — IR (26,459) 16,312
Earnings per share (cents) BROER (5)
- Basic —HRK 29.08 27.42
- Diluted —EE 29.08 27.40
Revenue Analysis &% 57
For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HE-Z—WNF+_A=+—HIFE
(RMB'000) (AREFT)
2014 2013
—Z-mF —E—=F
Property development L 6,802,952 5,599,797
Property investment LES -} 70,822 48,706
Others EAh 102,377 80,764
Total A&t 6,976,151 5,729,267

Property Development Revenue Analysis ¥ %% R WA 747

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HE-ZT—NF+_H=+—HIEFE
Sold and Delivered

2ERXAM
Revenue Area
'ON [
(RMB' million) ('000 sg.m.)

(AR®BBET) (FF7XK)

Residential apartments EEERE 4,607.3 783.5
Commercial apartments [SESEYNG 352.8 33.8
Retail shops and others 72 8 Ko HL A 1,711.2 77.8
Low-density residential REEFE 131.7 19.2
Total CEl 6,803.0 914.3

6 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H 5 B2 [ 1 2 45 [ )3 40 A BR A 5]



Financial Highlights (continued)

Balance Sheet Summary EEEERBE

As at 31 December 2014
(RMB'000) (AR T L)

A\—ZE—NF+-R=+—H

B ()

2014 2013

=F-MmE —T=F
Total assets BB 36,785,834 29,931,506
Total liabilities BERE 27,751,746 22,407,650
Total equity TS 4R TR 9,034,088 7,523,856

Three Years Financial Highlights = F B R E

Revenue & ¥ %8

RMB million AR¥BEET
8000

7000

6000 5,729
5000

4000 3,943

3000

2000

1000

6,976

2012 2013

2014

Gross Profit 7l
RMB million AREBEET

Net Profit £ %

RMB million ARBE ST

2,067
2100 1000 oo
900
1800 1,759
783
800 759
1500 700
600
1200 1%
500
900 400
600 300
200
300
100
0 0

2012 2013 2014

Note: During the year 2012, the Company disposed a joint venture and obtained profit
before tax of RMB858.2 million. There was no such non-recurring gain for the year

2013 and 2014.

2012M) 2013 2014

Wiat : 2012F HE—RIE &% - BRI K ARE
858.2E T » 2013 ~ 2014 F FIHAFIEAT #1475 -
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» Year in Review

A JBE R 55 [ A

8

Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era
Phase Il was officially launched for
sale.

JEN BB X — AR A FAR -

The Group successfully issued a five-
year USD300 million senior notes
with 4.2 times over-subscription.
REBKNBETRFHAIEERTHE
TR - BHEHEAEA215 -

Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview
Phase | was officially launched for
sale.

BILRERE—SEEMEARFRE -

New products of three major
urban complex projects, namely
Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza,
Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era and
Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza,
were officially released.
BINRBERS MR - EMNRE R
REMZERREES = NFa B m
B K EE A o

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B2 ] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A 7]

The Group successfully acquired
a high-quality commercial and
residential project, Chongqging
Aoyuan Beyond Era Phase I, through
auction in Nanan Chayuan District of
Chongging at RMB620 million.
REEAARKEG20BTANIEE
EEFRrEREERTREEEAR
MR —H -



The Group successfully obtained
another high-quality commercial
and residential project, Chongging
Aoyuan Beyond Era Phase Il, through
auction in Nanan Chayuan District of
Chongging at RMB775 million.
REBXNAARKE 775 BTIREE
FrFXEEX —BEXXHEEER
BEERR -

Year in Review (continued)

The Group successfully obtained
a quality residential project,
Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza
Phase Il, through auction in Luogang,
Huangpu District in Guangzhou at
RMB315 million.

REBKNAARKE NG ETRERE
MNhEHREREBEETER EMNE
i B S — A o

Phases | of Guangzhou Luogang
Aoyuan Plaza and Chongging Aoyuan
City Plaza were officially launched for
sale.
BEMNzEEREESREERBEN A
& BRAR KA o

A PE R [ml B ()

The Group successfully obtained a
quality commercial and residential
project, Aoyuan Shaoguan Impression,
in Shaoguan, Guangdong through
auction at RMB956 million.
REEAARE 956 BTTFSER A
FEEEEEE RERAHR -

Annual Report 2014 .2 — PYAEARE
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N Year in Review (continued)

10

A JEON T [T ()

The Group successfully obtained a
quality commercial and residential
project, Chongging Aoyuan Panlong
Yihao, in Jiulongpo District,
Chongging through auction at
RMB1.49 billion.

REBUARK149BTIRBEE N
EERBENTIREERERERES

=!
i
i °©

The Group successfully acquired a
quality commercial and residential
project, Jiaoling Aoyuan Plaza,
in Meizhou, Guangdong through
auction at RMB154 million.
REEUAREN 54 EBITKNIESEE
RigMNEBERTEEFEREES

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B2 ] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A 7]

107 0Oct

The foundation-laying ceremony of
Jiaoling Aoyuan Plaza was held.
EaEREESEAEAEERT -

The 2014 Guangzhou Aoyuan
City Plaza Leasing Results Press
Conference was held.

BN BB TR #2014 F B AR
g B RERAT o



Year in Review (continued)

A PE R [ml B ()

12 7Dec

Yangjiang Aoyuan Central Parkview
Phase | was officially launched for
sale.

5L ERE A E 5% & B AR -

Aoyuan successfully introduced Huaxia
Insurance as a strategic investor which
injected RMB1 billion to a subsidiary
of the Group, to facilitate an asset-light
operating model.

RERKINAE TIEE R FI5| AEER
RIERBEEIREE  SIEARK10E
T HEREEEEER o
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. 2014 Honors and Awards

12

2014 4558 N 48 TH

1. Awarded as the “2014 China Top 100 Real Estate Developers” by
three research institutes, namely Enterprise Research Institute of the
Development Research Centre of the State Council, Institute of Real
Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and China Index Research Institute
for three consecutive years, being ranked the sixth among the “2014
China Top 100 Real Estate Developers — Top 10 in Operational Efficiency”.

2. Awarded as “The 13th (2014) Top 20 Guangdong Property Enterprises
with High Credit” by the branches of big four state-owned commercial
banks in Guangdong Province, and People’s Daily Online, the Group
was one of the four major real estate companies in Guangdong Province
winning the award for thirteen consecutive years.

3. Awarded as “Guangdong Province Enterprise of Observing Contract and
Valuing Credit” by Guangzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce
and Guangzhou Enterprise Credit Promotion Association for fifteen
consecutive years.

4. Awarded as “2014 Top 10 Guangzhou Real Estate Enterprises with
Customer Satisfaction” by China Index Research Institute.

5. The registered trademark of Aoyuan Group was recognized as “Chinese
Well-Known Trademark” by Trademark Review and Adjudication Board of
State Administration for Industry and Commerce.

6. Awarded as "“China Real Estate Fashion Award — 2014 Most Valuable

Listed Real Estate Enterprise in China” by the Organizing Committee of
the Boao Real Estate Forum.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B2 ] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A 7]

BRI R BT R O DR « FEAL
EHEMITAT « P BIEEIR T = RIS £
AFEA2014FBEEMEARDGE]  FE=
FFREN RS - WEE [2014FEEMER B
EFLWERTOP 10) FAE -

REMABERTEREDTARBBRHEARS
BANERE+=E(2014FE) BRIEEE
2058 | - PRAEE + = F BRI ZIARBNMNE K
MEREFMELEZ — -

EETRFRERMNT IATRERRD - BMNG
EERRESTEREN [ERETERERER
B3] B

ERYET BIE B TE B AR B EY [ 2014 M B HOERR
EmBEtEReE] -

REAR IHATREEARAETEEAER
ErREEEGRA T EREES [ FEBEE
21

REMEFINERBEZT SR [HEBER R
RE-2014FERAEEBE EMRE] -



7.

10.

11.

12.

2014 Honors and Awards (continued)

Awarded as “CAPITAL Outstanding Chinese Property Developer Group”
again in the 9th CAPITAL Qutstanding China Enterprise Awards by
CAPITAL of Hong Kong for three consecutive years.

Awarded as “2014 Outstanding Real Estate Developers in China” by
Economic Digest of Hong Kong, winning the award for five consecutive
years.

Awarded as the “Top 10 Southern China Real Estate Enterprises Brand
Value 2014" by three research institutes, namely Enterprise Research
Institute of the Development Research Centre of the State Council,
Institute of Real Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and China Index
Research Institute, with a brand value of RMB4 billion.

Awarded as “2014 Listed Property Developers with Top Investment
Value"” by 21st Century Business Herald.

Awarded as “2014 Listed Enterprises with Top Investment Value in
China” by Guandian Real Estate New Media.

Awarded as “The 11th Blue Chip Property Developers in China” by The
Economic Observer.

1.

12. &

N VARuw G Y

2014 448 [ A% TH (48)

12
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Chairman’s Stat

BV

Dear shareholders,

In 2014, the Chinese economy has entered into a new normal stage
under which the economy has grown at a medium-to-high rate. The
Chinese property industry has entered into a period of adjustment
subsequently. The central government has successively promulgated
a series of mini-stimulus measures to stabilize the growth, and has
underpinned owner-occupier housing demand by cutting targeted
required reserve ratio and promulgating National Five Rules. Since
September 2014, the Chinese property industry has stabilized amid
further easing policies, including mortgage loan loosening and

interest cuts.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H 5] B2 ] #s 7 42 5 B4y TR A &)
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

Although the property industry is facing many challenges, the Group
maintained strong growth momentum, and achieved continuous
development in 2014. During the period, the Group recorded
contracted sales of approximately RMB12.22 billion with contracted
GFA sold of approximately 1.34 million sg.m., representing an
increase of approximately 22% and 25%, respectively, as compared
with the same period of last year. The first two months of 2015
maintained robust momentum of the fourth quarter of 2014,
and recorded contracted sales of approximately RMB1.8 billion,
representing an increase of approximately 28%, as compared with

the same period of last year.

In the first half of 2014, the Group successfully issued a new 5-year,
US$300,000,000 senior notes, which was highly sought after by
the international capital market. This issue further optimized debt
structure, while extending the debt maturity profile. In the second
half of 2014, the Group introduced Huaxia Life Insurance Corporation
Limited (“Huaxia Insurance”) into its project company as a strategic
investor by means of capital injection to facilitate an asset-light model,
therefore strengthening cash flows and maintaining the gearing ratio

at a reasonable level.

In 2014, the Group successively acquired 8 quality residential
and commercial projects with a total gross floor area (“GFA")
of approximately 2.66 million sq.m. for a total consideration of
RMB4.6 billion in Guangdong and Chongging, to ensure sustainable
development. The Group will continue the prudent land strategy,
focus on areas with existing presence and optimize the land bank
through diversified channels, so as to further strengthen market

position.

ER (8
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)
F R ()

In 2015, the Group will maintain stable development while seizing
new market opportunities. The Group will continue to implement
the strategy to develop commercial and residential properties in
parallel, and adjust the proportions of commercial and residential
properties in dynamic manner to speed up sales and cash collection.
The commercial properties will retain the asset-light model, primarily
with saleable properties and supplemented by investment properties.
Meanwhile, the Group will gradually promote overseas investment
and the development of cultural tourism properties, fully embrace the
internet, and innovate marketing methods, thereby exploring new

growth drivers.

In 2015, the Group will increase investment in the cultural tourism
properties to form a new model. The Group will cooperate with
Shanshui Scenery Culture Co. Ltd. (“Shanshui Scenery Culture”) to
develop a Zen Culture Tourist City in Aoyuan Shaoguan Impression.
Shanshui Scenery Culture is founded by Mr. Mei Shuaiyuan, the
founder of large scale scenic performance in China. As a leader of
cultural tourism projects investment and operation in China, Shanshui
Scenery Culture has successfully produced over a dozen of scenic
performance, including Impression — Liu Sanjie (Guilin and Yangshuo),
Zen — Shaolin (Mount Song, Henan), Worship Ceremony — Mount Tai
(Mount Tai, Shandong), and Princess Wencheng (Lhasa, Tibet), etc..
The Group has invested Shanshui Scenery Culture since 2011, laying
a solid foundation for developing composite real estate with a cultural
tourism theme.

In March 2015, Aoyuan acquired 130 Elizabeth Street of Sydney,

the first overseas project. Through gradual overseas expansion, the

Group aims to diversify asset portfolio and operation modes.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B2 ] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A 7]
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

In 2015, the Group will increase the application of internet
technologies. The Group will apply mobile internet mindset and
technologies to enriching and broadening product lines, and to
providing our residential and commercial customers with more value-

added services, further promoting sales.

At last, on behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express
my sincere gratitude to all our shareholders, investors, business
partners, property owners and attentive media and general public for
their unfailing trust and support. At the same time, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to our directors,

management and staff for their hard work.

Guo Zi Wen
Chairman

17 March 2015
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PRC PROPERTY MARKET

In 2014, the global economy recovered slowly, the divergence
in economic growth among different countries was obvious,
China was under stronger pressure of decelerating economic
growth, in particular, the real estate sector — one of the pillar
industries of the domestic economy — entered into a correction
period, the growth paces of all indicators shown an apparent
slowdown and even a falling trend. Amid the economy under
the “New Normal”, the view that the industry will enter into the
Silver Era in the future has become a general consensus. The
property market is dominated by more conservative sentiment,
the investment growth slowed down remarkably. The area sold
and sales amount of properties in the first tier, second tier and
third tier cities all declined substantially on a year-on-year basis.

On the global perspective, the contents and orientation of the
property polices introduced in 2014 were clearly divided in four
stages: in stage 1, NPC and CPPCC held in March proposed
the “fine tuning by category”, granting more autonomy to the
local governments, and starting a new chapter of “Removing
bureaucratic administration, adopting market oriented
mechanisms”; in stage 2, the central government successively
used mini-stimulus measures of “National Five Rules” and
targeted cut in required reserve ratio to protect the loan
demand for home purchase for own occupation; in stage 3, the
“property purchase restriction” had been cancelled in most of
cities since June; in stage 4, the central government loosened
restrictions on mortgage loans, and then cut interest rates, for
the purpose of stabilizing the overall economy, without doubt,
the property market benefitted a lot. Stimulated by a series of
growth stabilization policies, the downward trend of growth of
investment in property development showed signs of slowing
down, the falling trend of new construction area on the whole
stabilized, while the government stabilized the economic
growth, it also facilitated the property sector to pick up faster
and to step out of the correction period.

o B i B2 40

PEYET S

—TMF - EREBEREER T
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

o B S0 i ()

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2014, there were frequent government policies in the
mainland property market, the market declined from high
prices, the economy shrank, however Aoyuan adhered to the
product strategy of “developing commercial and residential
properties in parallel”, deepened the development model of
project standardization and the multiple channel marketing
model, it maintained a good growth trend and business
continued to develop steadily.

During the year, on top of keeping an active working attitude
in the routine marketing work, the Group also made scientific
and reasonable deployment, and actively accepted market
challenges, carried out marketing innovation, and formed the
online sales department, which obtained good actual sales
results (sales concluded by members of the online sales
department) and promoted the awareness of the properties,
this was the exploration and endeavour of the marketing team
last year in their proactive move of “Embracing the internet”.
For 2014, the Group achieved unaudited total contracted sales
amount of approximately RMB12.22 billion and contracted
sales area of approximately 1,343,000 sg.m., representing
an increase of approximately 22% and 25% respectively as
compared with the same period of last year; the average selling
price per sg.m. amounted to RMB9,103 and was comparable
to the previous year. Total contracted sales were evenly split
between residential and commercial properties (including
commercial apartments and shops).

In 2014 contracted sales contribution mainly came from the
following projects: Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza, Guangzhou
Aoyuan Beyond Era, Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza,
Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza, Chongging Aoyuan City
Plaza, Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis, Zhuzhou Aoyuan
Plaza, Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis and Zhongshan
Aoyuan.
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Details of contracted sales breakdown of the Group by major

projects are as follows:

Project
HHE

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza

Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era

Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza

Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza

Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza

Jiangmen Aoyuan Yicheng
International Plaza

Zhongshan Aoyuan

Chongging Aoyuan City Plaza

Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis

Other

Total
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wmr
Contracted Contracted
sales amount sales area
AEHEESHE AEHEEE
(RMB million) (sg.m.)
(AR¥BET) (FAHK)
1,897 86,000
1,463 72,000
1,412 83,000
817 66,000
786 132,000
641 124,000
606 75,000
497 99,000
416 34,000
361 65,000
3,327 507,000
12,223 1,343,000
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With its outstanding business results, stable financial conditions
and continuous increasing corporate brand influence, Aoyuan was
ranked No. 31 in Comprehensive Strength and No. 6 in Operational
Efficiency among “2014 China Top 100 Real Estate Developers”,
its brand value jumped to RMB4 billion, and was ranked the
third among “2014 China Top 10 Real Estate Brand Value in
Southern China”. In November, the State Industry and Commerce
Administration Trademark Evaluation Committee approved
that the registered trademark of “Aoyuan and picture (colour

”

specified)” used by Aoyuan Group Limited in goods and services
with trademark registration under international classification Class
36 chattel agency, chattel management, rental services of chattel
as “Chinese Well-known Trademark”. This approval not only
enhances the awareness and core competitiveness of Aoyuan’s
corporate brand, but also shows the brand image and value of

intangible assets of Aoyuan Group.

In December 2014 to facilitate asset-light operating model
Guangzhou Aoyu Real Estate Development Company Limited,
a subsidiary of the Group, has named Huaxia Insurance as
a strategic investor by means of capital injection, and raised
RMB1 billion. This successful investment by Huaxia Insurance
not only provided an additional source of capital, but also helped
to promote the asset-light operating model, strengthen the cash
flow and control the gearing ratio at a reasonable level.

LAND BANK

The Group maintains the long term solid development strategy,
continues to adopt, gives preferential consideration of cities
and regions which have been explored and where projects
with good sales achievement are located, actively explore the
land and optimize the existing land bank. In 2014, the Group
successively acquired 8 parcels of quality commercial and
residential projects in Guangzhou, Chongging and Shaoguan,
the additional GFA available for development was approximately
2,657,000 sg. m..
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

As at 31 December 2014, the total land bank of the Group
was approximately 12.31 million sq.m. GFA, the average cost
per sg.m. of the GFA of the land bank was approximately
RMB1,180, among which, 1.64 million sg.m. of properties
was completed, 3.89 million sq.m. of properties was under
construction and 6.78 million sg.m. was reserved for future
development. The Group considers that the existing land bank
is enough to meet the development need of the Group in the

coming b5 years.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

Following China’s change of gear to lower speed in terms of
economic development from a double-digit growth to a single-
digit growth, the economic development is entering into a new
phase of quality enhancement and efficiency improvement,
when the economic development enters into a New Normal,
certainly it will affect the development of the property sector
to enter into a New Normal. In 2015, the fine tuning idea of the
property market is clearer, the government will not continue
to over-suppress the property sector, nor continue to adopt
excessive stimulus policies to drive economic development,
the real estate market will enter into a mature and rational New
Normal. In the future, the supply will tend to shrink, investment
activities will tend to be conservative, new commencement of
construction will reduce, supply will decrease, the transformation
of old cities will be encouraged, additional construction land in
super large cities will be under strict control, the Chinese real
estate market will gradually move from the housing shortage era

to the upgrade and improvement era.

In 2015, the Group will learn about the New Normal situation
of the property sector in a more in-depth manner. It will
seize new opportunities and change the business concepts.
While the Group maintains a sustainable, solid and balanced
growth in results, it will actively seek corporate transformation
and development driven by innovation and based on the
existing business performance, resources, property owners,
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)
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financing and team advantages, including parallel development
in domestic and overseas markets, a comprehensive
“Embracing of the internet”, innovative marketing methods,
complete reform of the marketing system, product operation
transformation, cross-sector composite industries, sector
chain extended development and other aspects. Besides, it
will restructure the management work flow, improve design,
product delivery, property management and after sales services
with the “customer first” concept.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Operating Results

The revenue is primarily generated from two business segments:
property development and other revenue such as hotel operation.
In 2014, the Group's total revenue was RMB6,976.2 million,
representing an increase of RMB1,246.9 million or 21.8% over
RMB5,729.3 million in 2013. Property development revenue, other
revenue such as hotel operation and property investment revenue
accounted for 97.5%, 1.5% and 1.0% respectively.

In 2014, the Group's revenue generated from property development
amounted to RMB6,803.0 million, representing an increase of
RMB1,203.2 million or 21.5% over RMB5,599.8 million in 2013. The
GFA of delivered properties increased by 12.1% to 914,250 sg.m.
from 815,614 sq.m. in 2013, while the average selling price increased
by 8.4% to RMB7,441 per square meter from RMBG6,866 per square
meter in 2013, mainly due to the increase in average selling price
of shops delivered in 2014. The revenue generated from property
development attributable to Guangzhou, Chongging, Shenyang,
Zhongshan and other cities accounted for 40%, 14%, 14%, 13% and
19% respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Breakdown of property development revenue in 2014 by product

type:

Product
Em

Residential apartments FEERE

Commercial apartments [SEJENC
Retail shops and others 72 87 Mo Eo A
Low-density residential REEEE
Total st

Gross Profit and Margin

In 2014, the gross profit of the Group was RMB2,067.4 million,
representing an increase of 17.6% over RMB1,758.6 million in 2013.
The gross profit margin maintained at approximately 30%. The
stable gross margin of the Group was attributed to its success in
commercial properties development and sales model, as well as its

effective cost control measures.

Other Income and Gains

In 2014, the other income and gains of the Group was RMB109.6
million, representing a decrease of 4.7% over RMB115.0 million
in 2013. Other income mainly included exchange gain of RMB2.8
million, interest income of RMB67.9 million, government subsidy of
RMB23.9 million and other income of RMB15.0 million.
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Selling and Administrative Expenses

In 2014, total selling and distribution expenses of the Group
were RMB379.3 million, representing an increase of 18.8% from
RMB319.2 million in 2013, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in overall sales, marketing and promotional activities owing
to the increase in contracted sales amount during the year, caused
by the increase in the number of pre-sales properties during the year.
Total administrative expenses increased by 11.3% from RMB350.9
million in 2013 to RMB390.6 million, mainly due to the increase
in staff expenses and other management costs resulting from the

expansion of operation scale of the Group.

Taxation

Income tax expense comprised of PRC Enterprise Income Tax Land
Appreciation Tax and deferred taxation. The effective tax rate of 46.0% is
higher than the standard PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25%, mainly
attributable to Land Appreciation Tax of RMB305.0 million.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

In 2014, profit attributable to owners of the Company was RMB809.4
million, representing an increase of 10.0% over RMB735.8 million in
2013.

Financial Position

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s total assets amounted to
approximately RMB36,785.8 million (as at 31 December 2013:
RMB29,931.5 million) and total liabilities were approximately
RMB27,751.7 million (as at 31 December 2013: RMB22,407.7

million).

Current ratio was 1.6 as at 31 December 2014 (as at 31 December
2013: 1.8).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Financial Resources and Liquidity

In 2014, the Group's sources of fund primarily included income
generated from business operations, cash from bank borrowings
and issuance of senior notes in US dollar, which were used in our

business operations and investment and development of projects.

The Group expects that income generated from business operations
and borrowings will continue to be the main source of funds in the
coming year. Therefore, the Group will continue to strengthen out
cash flow management, improve the efficiency of capital returns
of projects and strictly control the cost and various expenses. With
an investment by Huaxia Life Insurance Corporation Limited made
in 2014, the Group will continue to explore the opportunities to
cooperate with foreign and domestic investors, in order to provide
other sources of funding for the expansion of projects and business

development.

Cash Position

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had cash and bank deposits
of approximately RMB1,989.1 million (as at 31 December 2013:
RMB2,812.3 million). As at 31 December 2014, the Group had
restricted bank deposits of approximately RMB3,928.3 million (as at
31 December 2013: RMB1,899.2 million). Among which, deposits of
RMB1,065.0 million were reserved for obtaining bank loans, while
the remaining deposits were reserved as payments to construction

contractors.

As at 31 December 2014, cash, bank deposits and restricted bank
deposits of the Group mentioned above totaled RMB5,917.4 million,
of which 95.0% was denominated in Renminbi and 5.0% was

denominated in other currencies (mainly in US dollar).

In 2014, cash collection ratio (total sales proceeds received in
2014 divided by the annual contract sales amount) for the Group's

contracted sales was approximately 81%.
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Borrowings, Senior Notes and Net Gearing Ratio

Borrowings and Senior Notes

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had bank borrowings of
approximately RMB8,240.3 million (as at 31 December 2013:
RMBS8,153.3 million) and senior notes of approximately RMB3,257.0
million (as at 31 December 2013: RMB1,370.6 million) as follows:

B BERBERFEGELR

EHRELEE

M-ZE—mE+-A=+—0 ~EBEEZH
RARBB8203BET(ZE—=F+=A
=+—H8: AR¥S8,15338H&L)  BEEE
HABARE326708EL(ZE—=F+=A

=+—H: AR¥1,3706BE8T) - H :

31 December

31 December

2014 2013
—E-lmEF —T—=F
+=ZA=+—8 +ZA=1+—H
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(AREBER) (AREBEET)

Repayment period BUREH
Within one year 1FEUAR 4,464.1 2,411.3
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 14 A _H{BRBIB2F 2,127.4 3,672.6
More than two years, but not exceeding five years 28 A H{EKBIBGE 4,858.1 3,194.2
More than five years BiB5F 47.7 2458
Total A5t 11,497.3 9,5623.9

The maijority of borrowings of the Group are floating-rate borrowings,
of which interest rates are subject to negotiation on annual basis,
thus exposing the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The effective
interest rate on borrowings and senior notes in 2014 was 10.2%,
which was lower than 11.4% in 2013. The Group has implemented
certain interest rate management policies which included, among
others, close monitoring of interest rate movements and replacing
and entering into new banking facilities when good pricing

opportunities arise.
In January 2014, the Group successfully issued offshore 5-year senior

notes of US$300,000,000, which was for the Group’s refinancing and

general corporate purposes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had credit facilities of
approximately RMB21,902.9 million (as at 31 December 2013:
RMB14,294.8 million) for short-term and long-term borrowings, of
which approximately RMB5,859.6 million (as at 31 December 2013:
RMB2,750.0 million) were unutilized.

Net Gearing Ratio

Net gearing ratio is measured by the net borrowings (total amount of
borrowings and senior notes net of cash and cash equivalents and
restricted bank deposits) over the total equity. As at 31 December
2014, the Group’'s net gearing ratio was 61.8%. The Group has
implemented certain loan management policies, which mainly include
close monitoring of the gearing ratio and any changes in net gearing
ratio, and optimization of the bank credit structure when good pricing
opportunities arise.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had the following contingent
liabilities relating to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
provided by banks to purchasers amounting to approximately
RMB8,693.7 million (as at 31 December 2013: RMB6,432.6 million).

The contingent liabilities represented the guarantees in respect of
mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating to the mortgage
loans arranged for certain purchasers of the Group's properties.
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is liable to the repayment
of outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued interest
and penalty owed to the banks by defaulted purchasers, and the
Group is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the
related properties. The amounts as at 31 December 2014 were
to be discharged upon the earlier of: (i) issuance of the real estate
ownership certificate; and (ii) the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by

the purchasers of properties.
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In 2007, a subsidiary of the Company (the “Subsidiary”) entered into
an agreement with two independent third parties (the “Vendors”)
for a potential acquisition of a company (the “Target”). However,
this acquisition agreement was subsequently terminated by the
Subsidiary because of the uncertainty about the validity of the
Vendors' shareholding in the Target. The Vendors then claimed
against the Subsidiary for compensation of RMB61,096,000.
Final ruling was declared on 5 December 2014, and the related
compensation of RMB6.3 million has been taken into account in
the consolidated financial statements during the year ended 31
December 2014.

Commitments

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had construction cost and
land payments contracted but not provided for of approximately
RMB11,147.4 million (as at 31 December 2013: RMB8,280.8 million).
The Group expects to fund these commitments principally from sale

proceeds of properties and bank borrowings.

Foreign Currency Risks

Most of the Group’s revenues and operating costs were denominated
in Renminbi. Except for the bank deposits denominated in foreign
currencies, senior notes denominated in US dollar and bank loans
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, the Group's operating cash flow
or liquidity is not directly subject to any other material exchange
rate fluctuations. The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange

hedging arrangements during the year ended 31 December 2014.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2014, the Group pledged its properties for
sales, property, plant and equipment, investment properties and
restricted bank deposit of approximately RMB8,495.4 million (as at
31 December 2013: RMB3,395.8 million) to various banks to secure

project loans and general banking facilities granted to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Events After the Reporting Period

On 21 January 2015, the Company and an Australian property
developer, Ecove Investments Pty Limited (“Ecove”), entered into
an agreement collectively to acquire one parcel of land situated at
130 Elizabeth Street in Sydney, Australia, at a total consideration of
AUD121,250,000 (equivalent to RMB600,000,000). The Company
will hold 70% equity interest of the project company established for
developing the land upon execution of agreement. The Company and
Ecove have paid AUD12,125,000 (equivalent to RMB60,000,000) of
the consideration and required to settle the remaining balance on or
before 21 April 2015. The land in Australia is designated for residential

properties for sale.

On 26 January 2015, the Company entered into an agreement
to acquire two parcels of land situated in Jiaxing, the PRC, at a
consideration of RMB221,060,000 through public auction. The
Company has paid RMB114,530,000 of the consideration on the
same date and required to settle the remaining balance on or before
9 June 2015. The land in Jiaxing is designated for commercial and

residential properties for sale.

On 16 February 2015, the Company entered into an agreement
to acquire 67% equity interest in each of Shanghai Tianye Eco-
Industrial Development Limited and Shanghai Jiangnan Tianyuan
Clubhouse Limited by way of capital injection at a total consideration of
RMB200,000,000 to acquire a parcel of land in Shanghai, the PRC. The
land in Shanghai is designated for commercial properties for sales.

Employees and Remuneration

As at 31 December 2014, the Group employed a total of 2,994
employees. In order to encourage and retain excellent staff, the
Group has adopted a performance-based rewarding system since
September 2007 and such system was reviewed on a regular basis.
As at 31 December 2014, share options in respect of a total of
4,500,000 shares were granted to certain directors and employees. In
addition to a basic salary, year-end bonuses would be offered to those
staff with outstanding performance. In accordance with the relevant
national and local labour laws and regulations, the Group is required
to pay employees social insurance and other insurance benefits. The
Group believes that the compensation and benefits offered to the

staff were competitive in comparison with market standards.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

HEREHREHNEB I

il

Back row from left: Mr. Tsui King Fai, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky, Mr. Hu Jiang
Front row from left: Ms. Zhong Ping, Mr. Guo Zi Ning, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Yang Zhong
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

R RO BN B ()

Executive Directors

HITES

Guo Zi Wen, Chairman

Guo Zi Wen, aged 50, is the founder of the Group, and holds a Master Degree
in Business Administration. He is an executive Director and the chairman. Mr.
Guo is mainly responsible for the formulation of development strategies of the
Company, as well as giving guidance to the Group’s project planning, financing
and investment.

In 2001, Mr. Guo was honored by national main stream media and China Real
Estate Association as one of the Top 10 Persons in Real Estate Industry. In
2004, Mr. Guo received the China Real Estate Special Contribution Award, and
the China Real Estate Theory Research Contribution Award and was named
one of the Top 10 Outstanding Real Estate Entrepreneurs in the PRC in the
same year. In 2008, Mr. Guo was awarded as one of the Top 10 Outstanding

Entrepreneurs of the Past Three Decades in China Real Estate and was
recognized as one of the Top 30 Leaders in the Residential Construction of
Guangdong. In 2010, Mr. Guo was named “Outstanding Leader” in the event
“Leaders of Real Estate of Guangdong in Ten Golden Years” and in 2011,
Mr. Guo was named “CAPITAL Leader of Excellence 2011". In 2014, Mr.
Guo received the Award of “Outstanding Leaders for the Year” nominated
by Nanfang Media and Peking University. Except for being a Director of
the Company, Mr. Guo has not held any directorship in other publicly listed
companies during the past three years. Mr. Guo is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi
Ning.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

R RO AR B B ()

Executive Directors (continued)

HITEE (F)

Guo Zi Ning, Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Guo Zi Ning, aged 53, is an executive Director, a vice chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company. He is also a director of the subsidiaries of the
Group, and holds a Master Degree in Business Administration. He joined the
Group in 1998, and now is primarily responsible for administration and human
resources, legal affairs, investment and business expansion and leads the
overall management of the Group. Except for being a Director of the Company,
Mr. Guo has not held any directorship in other publicly listed companies during
the past three years. Mr. Guo is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Wen.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

R RO BN B ()

Executive Directors (continued)

HITEE (F)

Yang Zhong, Chief Operating Officer

Yang Zhong, aged 46, is an executive Director and chief operating officer of
the Company. He joined the Group in September 2009, and was appointed
as executive Director on 20 January 2011. He has the qualification of a PRC
registered real estate appraiser and is a registered supervision engineer with
extensive, comprehensive and professional management experience in the
real estate industry in the PRC. Mr. Yang worked in two reputable property
developers prior to joining the Group in September 2009 and since then, he has
been primarily responsible for the overall management of the operations of the
Group. Except for being a director of the Company, Mr. Yang has not held any
directorship in any other publicly listed companies during the past three years.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

R RO AR B B ()

Executive Directors (continued)

HITEE (F)

Zhong Ping, Chief Financial Officer

Zhong Ping, aged 46, is an executive Director, chief financial officer, director of
Finance Centre and director of personnel assessment centre of the Company.
She obtained a Master Degree of Accountancy from Jinan University and
is a certified tax advisor and certified accountant in the PRC. She joined the
Group in August 2003 and is mainly responsible for the finance, internal audit,
administration and human resources management of the Group. Ms. Zhong has
not held any directorship in other publicly listed companies during the past three
years. Ms. Zhong is the director of certain subsidiaries in the Group.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

Non-executive Directors

FHITES

R RO BN B ()

Paul Steven Wolansky

Paul Steven Wolansky, aged 59, was appointed as a non-executive Director and
a vice chairman from 3 April 2007 to 20 January 2011. On 24 February 2011, Mr.
Wolansky was re-designated as the Group’s non-executive Director. He holds
a Bachelor of Arts degree from Amherst College and a Juris Doctor degree
from Harvard Law School. Mr. Wolansky has over 20 years of experience in
fund management and direct investment. He is the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of New China Capital Management and its affiliates, the
investment managers for a series of Cathay funds. The Cathay funds are private
equity investment funds formed to make direct investments in companies
operating in China. Cathay Sino Property Limited, a substantial shareholder
of the Company, is wholly owned by Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. From July
2007 to August 2012, Mr. Wolansky was a non-executive director of Centron
Telecom International Holding Limited, a public company listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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A. Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)
HHRAEBREEANBEN (F)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

B IFHITES (F)

Tsui King Fai

Tsui King Fai, aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 13 September 2007. Mr. Tsui holds a Master of Science in Accountancy
degree and a Bachelor of Business Administration degree with first class
honours awarded by the University of Houston. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Australia and a member of the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 30 years of extensive experience
in accounting, finance and investment management, particularly in investments
in Mainland China. Mr. Tsui is a director and senior consultant of a registered
financial services company in Hong Kong. He had worked for two of the "“Big
Four” audit firms in Hong Kong and the United States of America and served
in various public listed companies in Hong Kong in a senior capacity. Currently,

Mr. Tsui is an independent non-executive director of Lippo Limited, Lippo China
Resources Limited, Hongkong Chinese Limited, Vinda International Holdings
Limited and Newton Resources Limited, all listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

R RO BN B ()

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

B FHITES (E)

Cheung Kwok Keung

Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 20 January 2011. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of
experience in auditing, accounting and financial management. Mr. Cheung
is the chief financial officer and company secretary of Lee & Man Paper
Manufacturing Limited and he was until 25 April 2014, also an independent non-
executive director of Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited, both of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

o Bl 78

RESR - W+ N\m R -ZE——F AT HEZERBIUIFNTEE KA
BHALREHMAGZERAGERBBGIMAGZE®E - REAGEERZ &
AR ERENERAR - TEER WREXERERARMBRE R AR
WE EET-NFOA-—+THA  REATEERRERERARZEL
FHITES  ZMRABIRBERAER LT ©

Hu Jiang
Hu Jiang, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-executive director
on 28 February 2014. He is the principal of Beijing Normal University (Zhuhai)
College of Real Estate since November 2010. Mr. Hu has over 20 years of
teaching and research experience in the fields of geography and real estate. He
is a senior economist and has the qualification of a PRC registered real estate
appraiser. He is also a member of China Real Estate Valuers Association. Mr. Hu
holds a degree in science from the Beijing Normal University. Mr. Hu had been a
vice president of the Company from July 2007 to May 2008. Except for being a
director of the Company, Mr. Hu has not held any directorship in any other listed
public companies during the past three years.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

R RO AR B B ()

Senior Management

Chan Ka Yeung Jacky

Chan Ka Yeung Jacky, aged 35, is a vice president of the Group, the
president of Australia Company and the head of corporate finance
and investor relations. He graduated from the University of Illinois at
Urbana-Champaign in the United States of America with Bachelor’s
degree in Economics. He has extensive experience in financial
services and investor relations. He had previously been the chief
investment officer and investor relations director of Zhong An Real
Estate Limited and the deputy head and responsible officer of the
capital markets department of Agile Property Holdings Limited. He
joined the Group in October 2013 and is now mainly responsible for
the operation and management of Hong Kong and Australia office,
development of overseas projects, corporate finance, investor

relations, as well as other capital markets related affairs of the Group.

Xu Jun Shi

Xu Jun Shi, aged 57, is a vice president of the Group and managing
director of Tian Meng Cultural Co., Ltd.. He graduated from Xinghai
Conservatory of Music. He had served in some well-known
companies such as Tongda Energy and China Overseas Land &
Investment. He joined the Group in July 2011, and is now mainly
responsible for the operation and management of Tian Meng Cultural
Co., Ltd..

Wang Shu Yu

Wang Shu Yu, aged 42, is a vice president of the Group. She
graduated from the Hunan University, possessing extensive
experiences in sales planning, operational management and
marketing. She had served as an assistant to the general manager
and a general manager in renowned property companies such as
Forte Land and Dalian Wanda, etc. She joined the Group in August
2010, and is now mainly responsible for operation and management

of the Sales and Customers Service Centre of the Group.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Xiao Yi

Xiao Yi, aged 43, is a vice president of the Group and the president of
the Chongqing district company. He graduated from the Chongging
Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering, possessing extensive
experiences in engineering, cost and design management. He had
served as a deputy general manager of engineering and general
manager in Winsan (Shanghai) Industrial Corporation and Chongging
Longfor Properties, etc. He joined the Group in June 2009 and is
now mainly responsible for the operation and management of the
Chongging district company and business development in the region.

Chen Yong

Chen Yong, aged 39, is a vice president of the Group. He obtained a
Bachelor degree from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law.
He has extensive experience in fund management. He had served
in some well-known companies such as Vanke, Gemdale and Logan
Property. He joined the Group in June 2014, and is now mainly
responsible for the financing business of the Company.

Gu Hai Tao

Gu Hai Tao, aged 39, is an assistant to president of the Group, general
manager and responsible officer of Panyu sub-district company.
He obtained a Master Degree in Business Administration from the
Hong Kong Baptist University, possessing extensive experiences in
marketing planning and promotion. He had served in the Heung Kong
Group and Huayue Real Estate of Poly Property. He joined the Group
in February 2010 and is now mainly responsible for the operation and

management of the Panyu sub-district company.

Miao Si Hua

Miao Si Hua, aged 50, is an assistant to president of the Group and
the president of the Aoyuan Commercial group. He graduated from
Tongji University with a Bachelor Degree in Heat Ventilating and
Air Conditioning Engineering of Civil Engineering. He has extensive
experience in engineering. He had previously worked as the general
manager of Zhongtian Urban Development Group Commercial
company and the responsible officer of Powerlong Commercial
group, Henan District and the general manager of Zhengzhou
Powerlong. He joined the Group in September 2013.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile (continued)

R RO AR B B ()

Senior Management (continued)

Zhou Xian Jun

Zhou Xian Jun, aged 47, is an assistant to president of the Group and
director of investment development centre. He obtained a Bachelor
degree from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law. He had
previously been worked in Guangdong Yonghua Law Firm, Global
Kingway Law Firm and Guangdong Baike Law Firm. He joined the
Group in December 2010, and is now mainly responsible for assisting
chief executive officer Mr Guo Zi Ning in managing the investment

development centre and legal department.

Gao Xiang Dong

Gao Xiang Dong, aged 39, is an assistant to president and the chief
architect of the Group. He obtained his Master degree from South
China University of Technology. He has extensive experience in
design management. He joined the Group in April 2012, and is now
mainly assisting Mr. Guo Zi Ning, the chief executive officer, for the
management of centre for product experience, research and design

centre and chief engineer office.

Yang Jian Xiang

Yang Jian Xiang, aged 43, is an assistant to president of the Group,
general manager and responsible officer of Zhongfo sub-district
company. He obtained his Bachelor Degree from Central South
University. He had previously worked in well-known companies
such as Zovie Real Estate and Sany Heavy Industry Group. He joined
the Group in September 2011, and is now mainly responsible for
operation, management and business development of Zhongfo sub-

district company.

Ho Kar Yan Joyce

Ho Kar Yan Joyce, aged 37, is the company secretary. She graduated
from McGill University in Canada with a Bachelor Degree in
Commerce. She is a Chartered Financial Analyst and a member of
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She joined the
Group in July 2008.
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Land Bank
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Guangdong Province

1. Guangzhou Nanguo Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 1495
2. Guangzhou Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 222
3. Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 52.0
4. Guangzhou Guo Ao Nansha, Guangzhou Hotel, commercial properties, offices and high-rise apartments 194
Investment Development Centre
3, Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan Nansha, Guangzhou Integrated residential community 441
6. Guangzhou Aoyuan Hai Jing Cheng Nansha, Guangzhou Commercial properties, offices and high-rise apartments 73.9
7. Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 158.8
8. Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 10.5
9. Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 133.8
10.  Guangzhou Aoyuan International Center Panyu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 248.1
11. Guangzhou Aoyuan Spring Garden Huangpu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 124.2
12.  Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou Hotel, offices, commercial properties 234.1
13. Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza Zengcheng, Guangzhou Hotel, commercial properties, offices and high-rise apartments 3794
14.  Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza Huangpu, Guangzhou High-rise apartments, commercial properties 333.7
15. Fogang Aoyuan Qingyuan, Guangdong Low-density residential, commercial properties 7514
16.  Qingyuan Aoyuan Qingyuan, Guangdong Low-density residential, commercial properties 148.8
17. Jiangmen Aoyuan Jiangmen, Guangdong Integrated residential community 9.8
18.  Jiangmen Aoyuan Waitan Jiangmen, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 175.9
19.  Jiangmen Aoyuan Yicheng Jiangmen, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 105.7
International Plaza
20.  Zhongshan Aoyuan Zhongshan, Guangdong Integrated residential community 265.1
21. Zhongshan Aoyuan Jinyu Zhongshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 104.3
22. Nanhai Aoyuan Foshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 1824
23. Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview Foshan, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 285.6
24, Yangjiang Aoyuan Central Parkview Yangjiang, Guangdong Integrated residential community 362.1
25. Meizhou Aoyuan Peninsula View Meizhou, Guangdong Integrated residential community 3894
26. Yingde Aoyuan Wonderland Qingyuan, Guangdong Integrated residential community 756.5
27. Yunfu Aoyuan City Plaza Yunfu, Guangdong Integrated residential community 255.3
28.  Aoyuan Shaoguan Impression Shaoguan, Guangdong Integrated residential community 678.7
29.  Jiaoling Aoyuan Plaza Meizhou, Guangdong High-rise apartments, commercial properties 70.0

Jiangxi Province
30.  Jiangxi Aoyuan
Guangxi Province
31, Yulin Aoyuan
32.  Yulin Aoyuan City of Health

Ganzhou, Jiangxi Integrated residential community 221.0

Yulin, Guangxi
Yulin, Guangxi

Integrated residential community 397.0
Integrated residential community 785.2

33.  Chongaing Aoyuan City of Health Chongaing High-rise apartments, commercial properties 57.6
34, Chongging Aoyuan Jinyu Chongaing High-rise apartments, commercial properties 33
35.  Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 204.4
36.  Chongging Aoyuan Shuiyunjian Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 923
37. Chongging Aoyuan City Plaza Chongaing High-rise apartments, commercial properties 3135
38.  Chongging Aoyuan Beyond Era Chongaing Integrated residential community 408.1
39.  Chongging Aoyuan Panlong Yihao Chongaing High-rise apartments, commercial properties 455.2

Liaoning Province
40.  Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis
41, Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza
Jiangsu Province
42. Kunshan Aoyuan
Hunan Province

Shenyang, Liaoning
Shenyang, Liaoning

Integrated residential community 11435
Integrated residential community 667.8

Suzhou, Jiangsu High-rise apartments, commercial properties 129.7

43.  Zhuzhou Aoyuan Edinburgh Zhuzhou, Hunan Integrated residential community 50.3
44, Zhuzhou Aoyuan Shennong Health City Zhuzhou, Hunan Commercial, integrated residential community 393.3
45. Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza Zhuzhou, Hunan Commercial, integrated residential community 4297
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Land Bank (continued) —I
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1. BEBNEERE EMmESE REfTE 149.5
2. EMNRE ENmEEE EEAE - B 22.2
3. BENEERE BEMNmELRE AR 52.0
4. EMNEBEEZEEPL EMmmELE BIE - B¥ - BETEEAREAE 49.4
5. EMmYPRE BT E AR 441
6. BEMNBEESH BMmmEdE B¥ SFEERSEAE 73.9
7. BMNREES EMNmESRE BEASE - HHE 158.8
8. BEMNBEELRES BEMNmELRE SBEAE - mE 10.5
9.  BEIMNBEMEN BMNmESE BEAE - EmE 133.8
10.  EMNREBERAHL BMmESE BEAE - EE 248.1
1. EBINREEE B =EE BEASE - HHE 124.2
12.  BEINBEE MR EMNmHELRE BE - BT mE 234.1
13. EMNREEREEES BTk [ BIE - B¥ - ETEERREAE 379.4
14, ENZEHRERES B =EE BEAE - EE 333.7
15.  HRE EREFERET EZEET - B 751.4
16. BEREE EREFET EZEEE - @ 148.8
17. IMBRE BERAIMH AR 9.8
18. JIPIREINE BEREIM™ BEAE - EE 175.9
19. IMBREZRKERES BRETIMM BEASE - B 105.7
20. FRILEE EREF LT RALE 265.1
21, FRILBERESE BEEH LT BEAE - EmE 104.3
22. FMBRE BERA LT BEAE - EE 182.4
23. fRILBEAR—R ERAGLT BEAE - HHE 285.6
24, GIBREAER—NR BRAEMSTIH RALE 362.1
25. MMNBEFES—5E BERAEMT AT 389.4
26. HRERECHREEN EREFEN RAfTER 756.5
27. TFBEEWMmAM EREEZm AR 255.3
28. BEIREBEIR EREBEN RALE 678.7

. EHEBEES BERAEMT SEAE - mE 70.0

. JIARE LR M fRAALIE 221.0
31. EMEBE BEFE EMT AR 397.0
32. EMEBEFHR EFRE EMm RAfLIE 785.2
33. EEBRERR BEM BEASE - mE 57.6
34, ERBESH EEM BEAE - mE 3.3
35. EEBE R EE™M BEAR -« B 204.4
36. EEFEREKEH BEM BEARE - B 92.3
37. EEBREWMA BEM BEASE - HE 3135
38. ERBEMER EEM AR 408.1

EERERESH EET

bt
40. BISRE BRI FEELEST RAME 1,1435
B RE T EES FELEST fRA LR 667.8

. BUBRE TLERE BN T SSE 129.7
43. HNBREET & A M AR 50.3
44, HMNREEELER R A RN TT B FetE 393.3
45.  HNBREES ViEE =Ly v ) ¥ FedE 429.7
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Major Projects:
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Project Summary

JH H BE%E

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza FHBREEBRHTIFH

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza is well located at the interchange of
Xinguang Expressway and Hanxi Road (exit of metro station of Hanxi
Changlong). It is at the heart of Changlong-Hanxi-WWanbo segment
which is on the central axis of Guangzhou new city. Being the new
urban centre, it enjoys enormous geographical advantages. The
project is located at the intersection station of Metro Line #3, #7
and Dongguan — Foshan city rail. It takes 15 minutes to Zhujiang
New Town and 5 minutes to Guangzhou South Station (express
rail). Opposite to it is the only national 5A rated resort in Guangzhou,
Changlong Tourist Resort, which draws over 10 million tourists
every year. In addition, it enjoys well developed facilities in southern
Guangzhou, so the project has great investment value.

The project has a GFA of approximately 250,000 sg.m., and is a large
commercial project on the new central axis of Guangzhou. On 30 May
2013 it was approved as a major (construction) project in Guangzhou.
The project is a large scale experiential urban complex, integrating
tourism-themed shopping streets, themed hotel, Grade A office
buildings, a dreamy theatre, boutique serviced apartments and LOFT
apartments. The project features 3 themed commercial segments,
namely leisure and entertainment zone, fashion zone and kid’'s zone.

I TYETBEAESE

Artists impressions for reference
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 ()

I Ty AR R A

Artists impressions for reference

Since launch in July 2013, Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza has drawn BMNBRBMRIEE —T—=FtAMmH=EL
attention from the public. A record of RMB1.4 billion sales were made K RnegREBECHEE  ZETIHHAIE
in 2013, and the shops and apartments of the project continued their B 2 =FATHHEARE 14 ETLAHEE
robust sales in 2014 for RMB1.9 billion. It obtained several awards, T -NFEERABREDHEARE
namely “Sales Champion of the Year”, “Best Selling Properties of the 19187 - ARESRT [FEHERSE]  [FE
Year"”, “Commercial Landmark with Best Investment Value in Southern GiHER ] [FEEMmERAREEERZE
China of the Year”, “Projects with Best Investment Potential of the W] [FEREREBENER ] [HEEH
Year”, “Best Experiential Urban Commercial Complex”, the Promotion SRR [REH R EEYR OW T
Prize of Chinese Shopping Centres of Mall China etc. g LZIFKE o

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza will launch 38-56 sq.m. AO smart FE N BB T R M = F — 4 A Y 38-56 F
apartments and shops with prime location in 2015. FKAOBENBEMMBHEEERHT -
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 ()

Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era JF BRLERIRE T

Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era

Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era is the first project located on the central
axis of the core district of the Guangzhou South Station. It is an express
rail economic hub property with high investment potential. It also plays
as a new platform for international exhibition and trade. The project
is located on both sides of Guangzhou South Station Square, and is
adjacent to the eastern exit of Guangzhou South Station.

The project has fully integrated the design concept of Guangzhou
South Station as a world class transport hub, and possesses the
advantage of the express rail transportation hub. It has fast access
to Guangzhou and Foshan within half an hour, to Guangdong, Hong
Kong and Macau in an hour, to city clusters along the mid-lower
reaches of the Yangtze River within 4 hours and to major cities in
China within 8 hours.

The project is developed in two phases, and mainly comprises of
38-100 sg.m. multi-purpose smart “LOFT-apartment + flat floor
apartment” and 37-205 sq.m. two-story street shops.

W TYEMTERIAESE

Artists impressions for reference
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 ()

W TYETE R AES

Artists impressions for reference

Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era Building (Phase 1) is located on the
north of the central axis of Guangzhou South Station, and is next to
Shibi Station of Metro Line # 2 and 7. On the south of the central axis
of the Guangzhou South Station, Phase Il is located on the convergence
of Hanxi Road and Shixing Road which is a compulsory passage
to Guangzhou South Station. Phase Il consists of two towers and
an ancillary business centre; the east tower was launched on New
Year's Day of 2014, and the west tower was launched in the second
half of 2014. The west tower has the most advantageous location,
being closer to Guangzhou South Station. It features a 29-story iconic
skyscraper, and will be developed into the centre for 020 companies
in southern China.

In 2014, Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era recorded contracted sales
of approximately RMB1.5 billion. It was accredited with awards
such as “2014 Guangzhou Best Investment Value Property”,
“2014 Commercial Property (complex) award”, “2014 Guangzhou
Commercial Landmark”, “2014 Property with Best Investment
Potential” etc.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H 5] B2 ] #s 7 42 5 B4y TR A &)
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 ()

Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza J#)H 28w FE 35

Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza

Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza is the seventh large scale urban
complex of Aoyuan in Guangzhou. Located at the junction of Kaichuang
Road and Kailuo Road in the central district of Luogang, New Huangpu
district, Guangzhou, the project is the core of the traditional central
business living centre in Luogang. It has convienient transportation.
It takes ten minutes from the project to Huangpu, twenty minutes
to Tianhe District and Baiyun International Airport, thirty minutes to
Dongguan, and an hour to Shenzhen. The project is the only property
above the Xiangxue Station of Metro Line #6. Aoyuan will also set up
two metro exits with its own funds to connect LOHAS experiential
shopping street and the grade A office building.

On the west of the project is Luogang administrative centre. With the
merger of Huangpu and Luogang districts into new Huangpu District,
the new district government headquarter will be next to the project.
The administrative facilities such as Guangzhou Performing Arts
Centre are within 1.5 km from the project. On the north of the project
is the cultural and educational centre. Grade A schools at provincial
level such as Yulan Secondary School and Xiangxue Primary School
are adjacent to the project. On the east, Luogang Village and a dozen
of newly developed communities will accommodate a population
of over 1 million who need to interchange at the project. The huge
pedestrian flow is expected to enhance the competitive advantages
and appreciation potential of the project.

W TYEATEEAESE

Artists impressions for reference
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Project Summary (continued)

JH H B2 (57)

Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza has a GFA of approximately
330,000 sg.m.. It is expected to be developed into a large-scale urban
complex, comprising a large shopping centre, a themed commercial
street, iconic grade A offices, upgraded LOFT apartments,
apartments in a school zone near the city centre etc. It will possess
three themed commercial segments, namely New York style fashion
shopping centre, Champs Elysees style LOHAS experiential street
and Milan style household exhibition hall, providing customers a one-
stop LOHAS living experience.

The project recorded RMB500 million in sales when debut in June
2014, and drew the great attention of the market as the champion in
sales in Luogang. Almost 1,000 residential apartments of Phase | were
sold out. At present, the popular product of the project are commercial
apartments and shops. The commercial apartments are designed
to provide well-educated and high income group a residence which
features a duality of tradition and fashion and a mix of culture and
commercial. The retail shops on sale are designed with a street mall
style, and have direct access to the metro station, thus addressing high
investment value.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H 5] B2 ] #s 7 42 5 B4y TR A &)
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Artists impressions for reference
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 ()

Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza JFH BB RS

Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza

Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza is located at the intersection of Lixin
Road and Xiangshan Road of Xintang county, Zengcheng, Guangzhou.
It is closely adjacent to Xintang Coach Terminal, metro line #13 and
16, Guangzhou-Dongguan-Shenzhen city rail, Guangzhou-Shenzhen
railway and Guangzhou-Shantou railway, and has convenient access to
Guangyuan Highway, Guangzhou-Shenzhen Expressway, Guangzhou-
Shantou Expressway and Jinan-Guangzhou Expressway.

The project is currently the largest urban complex in Zengcheng,
consisting of themed shopping streets, apartments, offices, a
shopping mall, hotel, global e-commerce centre and financial centre.
Upon completion, the project will be the ideal destination in eastern
Guangzhou offering various facilities for lodging, dining, leisure,
shopping, and exhibition.

I TYETEEAESE

Artists impressions for reference

ENREERES

) 20 B B OB 50 0 B M S R Y S T K
BRE LABRER - EHESEEEN -
HHIHE - HARE RN ERE
B BB ETHE - TERERE - FR
ik BUER - EESROASRERR

o

% W

ZHRBRTEREY A8 BFE - BUR
% EE 2REFERBRERPON—E
2 B ATE R IR AR TAR S 58 - AR
EEMNREBZBE - 2B ERER | 61—
grnEaiieR 2 -

Annual Report 2014 —&—PYAFAE )}

53



54

Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 ()

This project enjoys ancillary services from the financial service district
for micro, small and medium enterprises in Guangzhou, and the
commercial facilities in the high-end residential community above
Guanhu Metro Station. The first 3A hospital in Zengcheng is only 1 km
from the project. Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza was approved as
“Zengcheng Tourism and Shopping Plaza” to become a designated
leisure, entertainment and shopping tourist spot. In the future it
will become a parking bay for tourist coaches, and the route that all
travellers to Zengcheng must pass through.

In 2014, Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza was awarded "Cutting-
edge Commercial Property Project” granted by Guangdong Logistics
Industry Chamber, Guangdong Catering Service Industry Association,
Guangdong Business Economics Society and topbiz360.com,
and “Outstanding Contribution Enterprise Award” granted by the
People’'s Government of Xintang County for its support in industrial
transformation and upgrading of Xintang.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H 5] B2 ] #s 7 42 5 B4y TR A &)
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 ()

Zhongshan Aoyuan H11 [

Zhongshan Aoyuan d L BEE

Zhongshan Aoyuan aims to be the “City of top choice for healthy FILBBEENITE RILEFREEEN] - &’
living” in Zhongshan. With Aoyuan's leading development concept HEBEEELNAEES MHEMNR R - 1L
and excellent design, it integrates healthy and regimen living (2RS4 | 5B A AR EAEFFR - £
concepts into the community. It has been highly recognized in the ES THREBEEREENERE] - [EEER
industry, and won awards including “China International Garden ZhTRE] - 2010 Mm@ EITESEE] S5
Community Award”, “Healthy Residence Pilot Projects” and “2010 & REFEHR AT -

Benchmark Quality Properties in Southern China”.
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 ()

The project is conveniently located in the west district of Zhongshan,
with 10 minutes’ drive to the city centre, and 1.5km away from
Zhongshan North Light Rail Station. It is the key development area
of Zhongshan's core residential district in the future. Following the
successive launching into operation of the urban transport network
of “Two Bridges and One Rail”, namely Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macau
Bridge, Shenzhen-Zhongshan Bridge and Guangzhou-Zhuhai city rail,
the travelling time from the project to cities in the Pearl River Delta
will be significantly shortened, and the project will enjoy the first-
comer advantages amid the integration of city clusters in the Pearl
River Delta.

Zhongshan Aoyuan has a total GFA of approximately 700,000
sg.m, comprising low density residences, apartments, commercial
properties and serviced apartments. At present, more than 4,000
households have moved in. A 400-metre commercial street is in
full operation, and commercial clubs and serviced apartments are
available for leasing. The scenic swimming pool, sports fields,
a 1,600-metre riverside park, and Aoyuan Public Primary School
which caters for 24 — 36 classes has been completed. Since launch
in September 2010, the sales result of Zhongshan Aoyuan has
maintained a leading position, and was the sales champion in the
west district of Zhongshan for three consecutive years. In 2014,
Zhongshan Aoyuan ranked among the top three in Zhongshan in
terms of sales, and Aoyuan brand has been widely recognized in
Zhongshan.
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 ()

Meizhou Aoyuan Peninsula View 5 & 5—5%

Meizhou Aoyuan Peninsula View

Located in Qinyang Peninsula, Meijiang District, Meizhou,
Guangdong, Meizhou Aoyuan Peninsula View is the start-up project
of Qinyang brand strategic development zone. The project faces
west over Mei River, and is adjacent to Dongshan Education Base
and Hakka Cultural Industry Base on the north. It has convenient
access to the city centre through Xiulan Bridge, and to Jiangnan
New Town through Guangzhou Bridge. The project enjoys well
developed facilities and beautiful environment. Within a radius of 3
km included Dongshan Secondary School, Thousand Buddha Pagoda
Temple, a waterside park, Han Theatre, Jiaying Opera Theatre (under
construction), the administrative service centre, Jiangnan Coach
Terminal, and Meizhou Municipal Government Office.

W TYETEELAESE

Artists impressions for reference
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Project Summary (continued)

JH H B2 (57)

The project principally comprises of river-view high-end residential
properties ranging in sizes from 80 to 185 sg.m. with various
communities facilities such as kindergarten, club house, sports
facilities and riverside commercial district. Within the project
will be built the "World Business and Cultural Centre of Hakka
(kejia)”, providing various functions and services such as trade fair,
exhibition and office. Inheriting the design concept of Hakka (kejia)
round house and learning from the traditional Fengshui concept, it
uses symmetrical construction form to present an impression of
grandiose.

Meizhou Aoyuan Peninsula View got some positive comments from
different parties, and it was named as the “Property with the Best
Fengshui Layout” granted jointly by China Fengshui Association,
China Human Habitat Society, China Yijing Society.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H 5] B2 ] #s 7 42 5 B4y R A ]
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Artists impressions for reference
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Yangjiang Aoyuan Central Parkview TR E A

Yangjiang Aoyuan Central Parkview

Yangjiang Aoyuan Central Parkview is located in Changzhou
Island, Jiangcheng district, Yangjiang, Guangdong, with a GFA of
approximately 360,000 sq. m.. The project features a 140,000 sg.m.
wetland eco-park. The project will be built into a representative
biological community with full facilities in Yangjiang with the concept
of “community living in park”, covering residences, apartments,
offices, commercial streets, commercial centres and diversified
business segments, residents will be able to easily swap to and from
lodging, leisure activities, shopping and business activities.

I TYETEEAESE

Artists impressions for reference
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Project Summary (continued)

JH H B2 (57)

The project is well located on the west of Zhongzhou Road, south of
Mojiang Road, and looks east over Moyang River. It is 15 minutes’
drive from the commercial centre. The project enjoys comprehensive
facilities, including hospitals, schools, and government agencies.

The project obtained several awards, such as “2014 Properties
with the Best Fengshui Layout in China (Real Estate)”, “The Most
Beautiful Garden Residence in Yangjiang”, “2014 Yangjiang Favourite
Properties by Internet Users” and “2014 Yangjiang Properties
Marketing Gold Prize"”.
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Artists impressions for reference
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Project Summary (continued)
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Chongging Aoyuan City Plaza T 5 B & 5 i K M

Chongqing Aoyuan City Plaza

Chongqging Aoyuan City Plaza is well situated at the new economic
centre of Chongging — Chayuan New District. It features accessible
transportation with superior geographical location. As the first stop
of Chongging Nanshan Tunnel, it is near the Light Rail Lines #6 and
8 and is 10 minutes’ drive to Liberation Monument and Jiangbei
District. It is close to the largest transport hub in Chongging —
Chayuan Transport Hub. It has become an important nexus linking
Jiangnan with Yuzhong and Jiangbei District. Chongging Aoyuan City
Plaza is a block away from the administrative centre of Nanan district,
and is surrounded with the Municipal Central Park, Kuxihe Biological
Wetland Park and Chashan Park which are covered with natural
vegetation and are rich in natural biological resources.

The project comprises a shopping centre, a 1-km LOHAS shopping
street, park view apartments, high-rises and international LOFT
apartments. It strives to develop Chayuan as the top consumer
centre, and to become a LOHAS new horizon for a million people,
bringing a new life model and shopping experience to Chayuan and
even Chongging. It will redefine the commercial layout of the whole
Chayuan new district.
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Artists impressions for reference
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Project Summary (continued)
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Artists impressions for reference

Chongging Aoyuan City Plaza was named as “the 11" Chinese Blue
Chip Properties — 2014 China Best Model Comprehensive Living
Complex” by the Economic Observer. Up to the present, the project
has signed intention with dozens of famous brands which intended
to move in, the joining of many famous companies will have strong
brand appeal, and attract attention and heat up the sentiment in the
commercial circle for the project, and build up the core business
position of the project in Chayuan.
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Project Summary (continued)
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Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis & 5 I [ 57 Pk

Chongqing Aoyuan The Metropolis

Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis is located at the heart of Huayan
New City, the bridgehead of western extension of Chongging. It
is near Light Rail Line #5 under planning, and close to a 200-mu
city park and the 1,609-mu Huayan Tourist District. It is only 3 km
from Longmenzhen Theme Park, the largest in Xicheng. It is at a
superior location with beautiful ecological environment. The project
is conveniently accessible to Yangjiaping, Dadukou, Shapingba and
Jiangjin by light rail, expressways and dozens of bus routes. It takes
about 20 minutes, drive to Yangjiaping shopping district and Dadukou
shopping district.
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Artists impressions for reference
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Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis has a GFA of approximately
290,000 sg.m., consisting of quality residential, a shopping mall and a
shopping street. The project has rich educational and sports facilities
such as an international kindergarten, swimming pools, badminton
courts and children’s play centers.

In the first half of 2014, Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis won the
champion in apartment sales in Huayan district. At the same time,
Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis was named as “The 7™ China
Urban Construction Contribution Awards"” by Chongging Times, and
“2015 Home Purchase Back in the Home Town Rank — Chongging
Properties with the Best Investment Value".
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Project Summary (continued)
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Chongqing Aoyuan Shuiyunjian R EKZ=[H]

Chongqing Aoyuan Shuiyunjian

Chongging Aoyuan Shuiyunjian is located at the new economic
centre of Chongging — Chayuan new district, and is a street from
the administrative centre of Nanan district and Chayuan CBD. It
is the future core residential zone of Chayuan new district. The
project has convenient transportation. It is near Chayuan integrated
transportation hub and two light rails, and has quick connection to
core business districts, such as Yangjiaping, Liberation Monument
and Jiangbeizui District CBD, and Chongging Railway Station and
Airport through Zhenwushan Tunnel, Nanshan Tunnel and Cimushan
Tunnel.

The project enjoys beautiful scenery. It is surrounded by Kuxihe
River on the east, Kuxihe Wetland Park on the north and Chayuan
Central Park on the south. Facilities such as schools, hospitals and
commercial are all complete and perfect.
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Artists impressions for reference
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Project Summary (continued)
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Artists impressions for reference

The project has a GFA of approximately 130,000 sqg.m. with a plot ZEBREEMBEYNI3EF K AEXE

ratio of merely 1.44, and will be developed into a riverview residential 1.44 - BUOITERBEKEREFEME - HE23
community in Chayuan. It comprises 23 Spanish-style buildings, a AN FRIEFE  SBFF KETERIKE
30,000 sqg.m. riverside food court and leisure plaza, and a commercial E% o UR—IREESAE -

complex.
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Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza &I 7

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza is conveniently located at the convergence
of Zhujiang South Road and Taishan Road in the centre of Shennong
City, and is 10 minutes’ drive from the downtown. The project is
easily accessible by public transport, such as expressway, metro line,
and dozens of bus routes. It is close to Yandi Square and the 330 mu
Shennong Lake, and is surrounded with completed cultural, leisure
and entertainment facilities such as Shennong Art Centre, Shennong
Theatre and children playground of over 1,000 sg.m. etc.

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza has a GFA of approximately 430,000 sg.m.,
consisting of low-density residential buildings, high rises, offices,
commercial apartments, hotels and shopping mall. Elite schools such
as the Municipal No. 2 Secondary School, the High School Affiliated
Beijing Normal University (Zhuzhou), and Baihe Primary School
are in the vicinity of the project. Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza is another
great work of Aoyuan in Hunan. It will become a model residence
of Shennong City and create a new standard for human habitat in
Zhuzhou.

Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 ()
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Artists impressions for reference
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Artists impressions for reference

The project is a large scale community with a sport theme with rich
sports facilities including gym, badminton courts, yoga rooms, and
snooker rooms, etc. It fully realizes the dream of living in a place
where “Exercise starts from home".

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza was named as “2014 Zhuzhou Most Popular
Property”.
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Project Summary (continued)
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Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza 3% R & & & %

Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza

Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza is situated at the core position
of exhibition segment of the major planning zone of Dahunnan,
the area where it is located has good development potential, it is
the largest transportation hub of the northeast combining airport,
express railway, city rail, metro, bus, and coach. The project is 10
minutes’ drive from Taoxian Airport, the largest airport in Northeast
China. Shenyang New South Station is located 2.2km on the east
of the project. Upon completion, it takes two hours to major cities
of Northeast and North China, including Beijing, Harbin, and Dalian.
Shenyang New South Station also acts as a nexus merging Shenyang
and its neighboring cities into a 1-hour economic circle through
railways and city rails, such as Harbin-Dalian railway, Shenyang-
Dadong railway, Shenyang-Dalian city rail and Shenyang-Fushun city
rails, etc.. In addition, metro line # 4 and 10 intersect at Shenyang
New South Station.
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The project has a GFA of approximately 900,000 sg.m., it covers a
rich range of product lines, including a shopping mall of stores of 30
to 80 sg.m. in size, outlets of 3 to 30 sg.m., Huanleli Phase 2 of 77 to
109 sq.m., and a diversified series of 33 to 92 sg.m. apartments. As
an international urban complex under the theme of exhibition centre,
the project comprises several business activities — leisure dinning,
audio and entertainment, trendy gym, and star-grade hotel etc, it will
satisfy the needs of the urban population for commercial facilities and
comprehensive and diversified services to the largest extent.

In 2014, Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza won awards such as
“The Best Commercial Property Project” awarded by Shenyang Real
Estate Association, “Special Contribution Property which Change the
City” by Liaochen Evening Post, and “The Most Regional Influential
Property in Shenyang”, “The Best Selling Real Estate”, and “The
Most Influential Listed Property Company” by SouFun, Tencent, Sina
etc.
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The Group has always valued and maintained a long-term and stable
relationship with shareholders and investors by the timely disclosure
of real and accurate information pertinent to the Group via multiple
channels, maintaining an effective mutual communications with
investors, fostering investors’ understanding and support to the
Group’s business and development so as to secure and expand
investors base in favour of expanding the Group’s financing channels

and reducing financing costs.

During the year under review, the Group had actively deployed
communication channels with investors. The Group had organized
and participated a total of 177 investor relations activities, including
results announcement investor presentation, management meetings,
investors road shows in Hong Kong, Singapore and United Kingdom,
investor conferences held by investment banks and securities firms,
and site visits etc. The Group had met nearly 700 representatives
from various investment institutions with a view to enhance
investors’ awareness of the Group's latest development in business
performance, operations and corporate strategies, etc..

The Group has regularly disseminated the latest information through
announcements, press releases, monthly newsletters and corporate

website in a proactive and timely manner.

Investor Relations
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Investor Relations (continued)
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Investors Relations Activities for
2014 (Number of times)

2014 EREFBFTEIHER ORE)

Investor

Presentations
Investor and Press
Roadshows Conference
and Conferences KEAEHENE R
REERER FEEhE
il 4
14

Site Visits
BEE28
19

Management
Meetings
= &
Telephone/Video 5} fii S
Conferences
LRGSR S

41

Prospects

The Group strives to maintain a professional and effective investor
relations management. We will continually optimize investor relations
operations, and maintain interactive communications with investors,
effectively fostering investors’ understanding of the Group. We also
pay attention to feedbacks from capital markets in a candid and open
mind, and maintain a high level of corporate transparency, therefore
fostering the sustainable development of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s Annual
Report for the year ended 31 December 2014.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the

Company are summarized as follows:

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group strives to maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholder value and safeguard shareholder
interests. The Group’s corporate governance principles emphasize
the importance of a quality Board, effective internal controls and

accountability to shareholders.

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) as

its own code of corporate governance.

The Company has complied with most of the code provisions as set
out in the CG Code.

The Company will, from time to time, review and enhance its
corporate governance practices to ensure that these continue to

meet the requirements of the CG Code.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct

regarding directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors and the directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code

throughout the year ended 31 December 2014.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
EERHRE ()

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.

Board of Directors

Board Composition
Membership of the Board is currently made up of eight members in
total, with four executive directors, one non-executive director and

three independent non-executive directors.

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing

Rules from time to time.

The relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed
under “Directors and Senior Management Profile” on page 33. Mr.
Guo Zi Wen is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Ning. Save as disclosed,
members of the Board are unrelated to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles and duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company are carried out by different individuals and have been
clearly defined in writing.

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Guo Zi Wen, and the Chief
Executive Officer is Mr. Guo Zi Ning. With the support of the
company secretary and the senior management, the Chairman
is responsible for ensuring that the directors receive adequate,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner and appropriate
briefing on issues arising at Board meetings, and that all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The
Chief Executive Officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. He is in charge
of the Company's day-to-day management and operations. The Chief
Executive Officer is also responsible for developing strategic plans
and formulating the organizational structure, control systems and
internal procedures and processes for the Board's approval.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial

management expertise.

All directors, including non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive
directors are invited to serve on the Audit, Remuneration and

Nomination Committees of the Company.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all

independent non-executive directors are independent.

Non-executive Directors and Directors’ Re-election
Each of the executive directors, non-executive director and
independent non-executive directors of the Company has entered
into a service contract or a letter of appointment with the Company
for a specific term. Such term is subject to his re-election by the
Company at an annual general meeting (“AGM") upon retirement.
The articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) of the
Company provides that any director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the members of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election at such meeting. Besides, any director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following AGM of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of all
directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. A retiring director is eligible for re-election
and continues to act as a director throughout the meeting at which
he retires. Any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board shall not be taken into account for
retirement by rotation.

The members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened
and held in accordance with the Articles of Association to remove
a director at any time before the expiration of his period of office
notwithstanding anything contrary in the Articles of Association or in
any agreement between the Company and such director.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions
of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
Directors of the Board take decisions objectively in the interests of
the Company. The Board has delegated to the senior management
the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various

responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of

directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.

All directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests

of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development of
the Company.

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
proper understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under

the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. All directors are encouraged to attend relevant training

courses at the Company's expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the directors participated
in the following trainings:

R E IR ()

EECRHERERR
EFANUTRERFDAEF L RELET
ARRMITRERT BEXHEHRAAE
B o

BENZIESTNHEVBZREFEEZEIA - 2
EREAMEMARIES - BREFEE TEA
REZEBLBIE 2B EWREKLA
REEEFRTECESHERAT -

ERAPEQBEZFHBERELER MRS RE
FEMB LR NEREBTEEREZEEN
RYIGBENBEATRESSELER - AR
RSB AES2NAMEIIRE - BAHA
ACIFEN

(E_E-MFE+_A=1+—HILFE EF
TRES B TE -

Directors 2= Topic
&

Executive Directors HITES

Guo Zi Wen PR A B

Guo Zi Ning Ellyeges A B

Yang Zhong 58 A, B

Zhong Ping (appointed on 30 June 2014) EF(RZZE—NFA=+HEZT) A B

Xin Zhu (resigned on 30 June 2014) FR (R ZE—MFERA=+HEHE)

Non-Executive Director FHTES

Paul Steven Wolansky IRER o BEATE A'B

Independent Non-Executive Directors BIKHITES

Tsui King Fai RRIE A,

Cheung Kwok Keung R B 58 A,

Hu Jiang (appointed on 28 February 2014) T (R=Z=—mE=-A=-+/\BEET) A B

Song Xian Zhong (resigned on 28 February 2014)

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading newspapers, journals, company newsletters and
updates relating to the economy, general business, real estate

or Director’s duties and responsibilities, etc.
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Board Committees

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
Company matters, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment

of directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with
a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws
and regulations are followed. Each director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the

Company’s expense, upon making request to the Board.

The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to the
Chief Executive Officer and senior management of the Company.
These responsibilities include implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating day-to-day operation and management
of the Company in accordance with the management strategies
and plans approved by the Board, formulating and monitoring the
operating and production plans and budgets, and supervising and

monitoring the control systems.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference which are posted on the
Company's website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are

available to shareholders upon request.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Audit Committee

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2014, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Keung (chairman of the Committee), Mr. Tsui King
Fai, Mr Song Xian Zhong (up to 28 February 2014) and Mr. Hu Jiang
(from 28 February 2014 onwards). Mr. Hu Jiang was appointed as
an independent non-executive director and a member of the Audit
Committee to fill the vacancy due to the resignation of Mr Song Xian
Zhong as independent non-executive director and member of the
Audit Committee on 28 February 2014. None of the members of
the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing
external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

° To review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the internal auditor or
external auditors before submission to the Board.

° To review the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees
and terms of engagement, and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditors.

° To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk

management system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee oversees the internal control system of the
Group, reports to the Board on any material issues, and makes
recommendations to the Board.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee reviewed the
Group's annual results and annual report for the year ended 31
December 2014, the financial reporting and compliance procedures,
the report of the internal auditor on the Company’s internal
control and risk management systems and processes, and the re-
appointment of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended 31

December 2014 and all the members attended the meetings.
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Remuneration Committee
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2014, the Remuneration

Committee comprises three members, namely, Mr. Tsui King Fai
(chairman of the Committee), Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr Song Xian
Zhong (up to 28 February 2014) and Mr. Hu Jiang (from 28 February
2014 onwards), all of which are independent non-executive directors.
Mr. Hu Jiang was appointed as an independent non-executive director
and a member of the Remuneration Committee to fill the vacancy due
to the resignation of Mr Song Xian Zhong as independent non-executive
director and member of the Remuneration Committee on 28 February
2014.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on and approving the
remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages of the
executive directors and the senior management. The Remuneration
Committee is also responsible for establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure
to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates will participate
in deciding his/her own remuneration, which remuneration will be
determined by reference to the performance of the individual and the

Company as well as market practice and conditions.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration policy
and structure of the Company, and the remuneration packages of the
executive directors and the senior management for the year under

review.

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2014 and most of the members attended the

meetings.

FMEES
REZE-_Z—ME+-_A=+—BILFER -
YFNZEERIE=2XE - BIRSIERE (%
ZEEXE)  REREE  REPEE(ERE
ZE-WFZAZFN\B) KT EE (BT
—mMFEFZA=Z+N\BR) FAEZZATHA
BMIRITES - HIAENR T —HNF_A
T N\BEZAABYIRTESTRTMEE
K8 - NERARBP EEREB L IERITE
ERFHEEERE 2R o

FHZBEZTERBERRBTESRAIME
BABFMZBRERBALTHFERNES
SRLEZNEL - FHEZESTAARIA
BRI ABIE U F H M EUR 2R -
R EEMNESTAECABRAL2HREL
g2 % EFEe2REARKARR
BARTIHED LG METE °

FWNEBRERAA T2 HMEERER - 5L
RATEERSREEA RN CEEE 2 H
FRIEIRET -

REBZE-_Z—NFE+_A=+—HLFE  #
MEZBECHXBIT=RERE - KFMHKEHE
HEEEE -

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [58 58 [5] H 2s 45 B B4y A PR A 7



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Nomination Committee
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2014, the Nomination

Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Guo Zi Wen
(chairman of the Committee), Mr. Tsui King Fai, Mr. Cheung Kwok
Keung, Mr Song Xian Zhong (up to 28 February 2014) and Mr. Hu
Jiang (from 28 February 2014 onwards), the majority of them are
independent non-executive directors. Mr. Hu Jiang was appointed
as an independent non-executive director and a member of the
Nomination Committee to fill the vacancy due to the resignation of
Mr. Song Xian Zhong as independent non-executive director and

member of the Nomination Committee on 28 February 2014.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include considering
and nominating suitable candidates to become members of
the Board, reviewing the Board composition on a regular basis,
developing and formulating relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and succession planning of directors, and assessing

the independence of the independent non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a set of nomination
procedures for selection of candidates for directorship of the
Company by making reference to the skills, experience, professional
knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of such
individuals, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory

requirements and regulations.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the Board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, where necessary, recommend them to the

Board for adoption.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the year ended

31 December 2014 and all the members attended the meetings.
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The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. The Nomination Committee considered
an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is

maintained.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Ms. Zhong Ping,
Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky, Mr. Tsui King Fai and Mr. Cheung Kwok
Keung shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer himself/herself

for re-election at the next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the next forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company.

The Company's circular dated 20 April 2015 contains detailed
information of the directors standing for re-election.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this

Corporate Governance Report.

Board Meetings

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings
Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are

normally made available to directors in advance.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep directors apprised of
the latest developments and financial position of the Company and
to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each
director also have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessary.

The senior management attend all regular Board meetings and
where necessary, other Board and committee meetings, to advise on
business developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory
and regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major
aspects of the Company.

The company secretary assists the chairman in preparing the agenda
for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors for
comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and final

versions are open for directors’ inspection.

The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring directors to
abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such directors or any of their

associates have a material interest.

Code provision A.1.3 stipulates that at least 14 days’ notice should be
given for a regular Board meeting.

Certain Board meetings held during the year ended 31 December
2014 were convened with less than 14 days’ notice. The Company
adopted a flexible approach in convening Board meetings and
ensured that sufficient time and adequate information were given to
directors for making informed decisions.
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Attendance Record of Directors and Committee

Members

The attendance record of each director at the Board and Board

Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company

held during the year ended 31 December 2014 is set out in the table

below:

Name of
Director

£33

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zi Wen

Mr. Guo Zi Ning

Mr. Yang Zhong

Ms. Zhong Ping (appointed
on 30 June 2014)

Ms. Xin Zhu (resigned on
30 June 2014)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky

Independent Non-
executive Directors

Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang (appointed on
28 February 2014)

Mr. Song Xian Zhong (resigned

on 28 February 2014)
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meetings
with the non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) without the presence of executive directors
during the year.

Directors’ Responsibility in respect of the
Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2014.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 106 to 107.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
financial statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that
such financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and that relevant statutory and regulatory

requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied with.

The Board has received from the senior management the
management accounts and such accompanying explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to make an

informed assessment for approving the financial statements.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditors of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2014 amounted to RMB3,800,000 and
RMB2,806,000 respectively.

An analysis of the remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company, Messrs Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December
2014 is set out below:

Service Category Fees Paid/Payable

Audit Services RMB3,800,000
Non-audit Services

— Interim review report RMB1,018,000

— Performance appraisal RMB700,000
Scheme advisory fee
— Circular in relation to a deemed
disposal of 46.04% equity
interests in a subsidiary RMB580,000
— Issue of senior notes RMB488,000
— Others RMB20,000

Internal controls

The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2014. The review covered the financial, operational, compliance
and risk management aspects of the Group including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control
system to safeguard shareholder investments and Company assets
and reviewing the effectiveness of such system on an annual basis.

An internal audit department has been established to perform
regular financial and operational reviews and conduct audits of the
Company and its subsidiaries. The work carried out by the internal
audit department will ensure the internal controls are in place and
functioning as intended.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

During the course of audit performed by the external auditors,
they reported on the weakness in the Group's internal control and
accounting procedures which had come to their attention. The
internal audit department reviewed, evaluated and monitored the
follow-up actions in response to their recommendations and reported
to the Audit Committee.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder

meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each

shareholder meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

The Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings. Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Law or the Articles of Association of the Company.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures set

out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,

shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned

above to the following:
Address: Units 1901 — 2, 19th Floor

One Peking

No.1 Peking Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Company Secretary)
Fax: (852) 2180 6189

Email: aoyuan.hk@aoyuangroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address, and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by

law.

* Shareholders may call the Company at (852) 3622 2122 for any assistance.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Communication with Shareholders and Investor
Relations

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’'s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decisions. To achieve this, the Company maintains a website at
http://www.aoyuan.com.cn, where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company's business operations and developments,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other

information are posted.

The general meetings of the Company also provide good opportunity
for exchange of views between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or, in
their absence, other members of the respective committees and,
where applicable, the chairman of the independent Board committee,

are available to answer questions at shareholder meetings.

The 2015 Annual General Meeting (2015 AGM") will be held on 20
May 2015. The notice of 2015 AGM wiill be sent to shareholders at
least 20 clear business days before the 2015 AGM.

The Board believes effective investor relations can contribute
towards lowering cost of capital, improving market liquidity for the
Company's stock and building a more stable shareholder base.
Therefore, the Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate transparency and following a policy of disclosing relevant
information to shareholders, investors, analysts and bankers. Keeping
the shareholders aware of our corporate strategies and business

operations is one of the key missions of our investor relations team.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date version of the
Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the Company’s

website and the Stock Exchange's website.
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M. Report of the Directors

P

The Directors are pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2014.

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law (2004 Second Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 6
March 2007.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on 9
October 2007.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in property development and property
investment.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and operating profit for the year
ended 31 December 2014 by principal activities is set out in note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 and

the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2014 are set out

in the consolidated financial statements on pages 108 to 252.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMB8.7 cents per ordinary share to the shareholders on the
register of members on 29 May 2015, amounting to approximately
RMB242,195,000 (2013: final dividend of RMB8 cents per share),
subject to the shareholders’ approval of the final dividend at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Share Capital
Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association, or the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a

pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Sales to the Group's five largest customers accounted for less than
30% of the total sales for the year and purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the total

purchases for the year.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

For the year ended 31 December 2014, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's
listed securities.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

o= H R ()

Senior Notes
On 23 November 2012, the Company issued senior notes in an

aggregate principal amount of US$125,000,000 at the rate of
13.875% per annum due 2017. On 29 January 2013, the Company
further issued senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of
US$100,000,000 at the rate of 13.875% per annum due 2017 which
have been consolidated and form a single series with the notes
issued in November 2012.

Details of which are set out in the announcements dated 8 November
2012, 15 November 2012, 23 November 2012, 21 January 2013, 22
January 2013 and 29 January 2013 respectively and in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

On 10 January 2014, the Company issued senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$300,000,000 at the rate of 11.25%
per annum due 2019.

Details of which are set out in the announcements dated 10 January
2014 and 17 January 2014 respectively.

Closure of Register of Members
The register of members of the Company will be closed during the

following periods:

(i) from 16 May 2015 to 20 May 2015, both days inclusive, for the
purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2015 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the 2015 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
15 May 2015; and
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Report of the Directors (continued)

from 27 May 2015 to 29 May 2015, both days inclusive, for
the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend, the register of members of the
Company will be closed. In order to establish entitlements
to the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no
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later than 4:30 p.m. on 26 May 2015.
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During the periods mentioned in sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, no
transfers of shares will be registered.

Reserves
Details of the movement in reserves during the year are set out in

&
REFZEAREBE LA BRANGETB®RE
[RAEREHER] —H RZT—HWF+=
A=+—8  RARAHEIRTREZHEER
AR®3,471,632,000 C(ZZE—=F : AR®
4,167,878,0007T) °

the section “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” of the
consolidated financial statements. The Company's reserves available
for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2014 were
RMB3,471,532,000 (2013: RMB4,167,878,000).

BEBE
AEEZ AFPHEMEENE 263 8 ©

Financial Summary
A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on page 253.

=
AFEREAREBHULAAREEMT -

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report, were as follows:

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman) IRESE A ()

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer) SRS A (B F/E RTTIHABEL)
Mr. Yang Zhong 5 B ST

Ms. Zhong Ping (appointed on 30 June 2014)
Ms. Xin Zhu (resigned on 30 June 2014)

BEFLL(R-B-—NEANAZ+BEZEI)
SEBRL+ (R B—EN A=+ BEE)

Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky RED o ERAHTE LA
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang (appointed on 28 February 2014)

Mr. Song Xian Zhong (resigned on 28 February 2014)

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Ms. Zhong Ping,
Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky, Mr. Tsui King Fai and Mr. Cheung Kwok
Keung shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer himself/herself

for re-election at the next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all

of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Mr. Guo Zi Ning has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from 3 April 2007, and which will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party thereto giving to the other party not
less than three months’ prior notice in writing. Ms. Zhong Ping has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years, and which will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party thereto giving to the other party not less than three months’
prior notice in writing. Mr. Yang Zhong has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years with effect from
20 January 2011, and which will continue thereafter until terminated
by either party thereto giving to the other party not less than three

months’ prior notice in writing.

Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky was appointed as non-executive director
under a letter of appointment for a term of one year with effect from
24 February 2011, and which may be extended thereafter for such

period as the Company and Mr. Wolansky may agree in writing.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Mr. Tsui King Fai has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company and is appointed for a specific term commencing from
13 September 2007 which may be extended for such period as the
Company and he may agree in writing. Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of one year with effect from 20 January 2011, and which may
be extended thereafter for such period as the Company and Mr.
Cheung may agree in writing. Mr. Hu Jiang has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of one year with effect
from 28 February 2014, and which may be extended thereafter for
such period as the Company and he may agree in writing.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at AGM of the Company pursuant to its Articles of Association. Apart
from the foregoing, none of the Directors has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts
Other than as disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial

statements, no contract of significance to which the Company, its
holding company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
In order to eliminate competing business with the Group, on 20

September 2007, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Guo Zi Ning and Ms. Jiang
Miner, spouse of Mr. Guo Zi Wen, entered into a deed of non-
competition with the Company.

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors are considered
to have any interest, either direct or indirect, in businesses which
compete or are likely to compete with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

In compliance with the deed of non-competition signed on 20
September 2007, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Guo Zi Ning and Ms. Jiang
Miner hereby make an annual declaration on his/her compliance with
the non-competition undertaking.
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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Disclosure pursuant to Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of
the Listing Rules

The following information is disclosed by the Company pursuant to
Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.

On 8 August 2011, the Company as borrower, and Nanyang
Commercial Bank, Limited and Bank of China Limited, Macau branch
(“Lenders") as lenders entered into a supplemental agreement to a
loan agreement dated 25 June 2010 in relation to a term loan facility
of HK$500,000,000, pursuant to which the Lenders agreed to grant
an additional term loan facility of HK$490,000,000 (“New Loan")
to the Company and as long as any part of the loan under the loan
agreement and the supplemental agreement remains outstanding,

the Company shall procure that:

(@) Mr. Guo Zi Wen and his spouse (“Guo Family”) will beneficially
own the Company as single majority shareholder and the
Company shall remain at all times under the control of Guo

Family;

(b)  Mr. Guo Zi Wen will continue to act as the chairman of the board

of directors of the Company; and

(c) Ace Rise Profits Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands, will not charge or mortgage any of its
shareholdings in the Company in favour of any person, firm or
company (except for charges or mortgages in existence over

the shareholdings prior to the date of the loan agreement).

The maturity date of all outstanding amounts and interest accrued
under the supplemental agreement will be the date falling three and
a half years from the first drawdown date under the New Loan and in
no event later than 28th June 2015.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

A breach of any of the above specific performance obligations will
constitute an event of default under the loan agreement. As such, the
Lenders will declare the commitments under the abovementioned
agreements to be cancelled and/or declare all outstanding amounts
together with interest accrued and all other sums payable by the

Company to be forthwith due and payable.

Group’s Emolument Policy

The Company's policy on determining the emolument payable to
Directors are based on the skill, knowledge, involvement in the
Company's affairs and the performance of each Director, together
with reference to the profitability of the Company, remuneration
benchmarks in the industry, and prevailing market conditions. To
enable the Remuneration Committee to give better advice on the
Group's future remuneration policy and related strategies, the
Remuneration Committee has been advised of the Group’s existing
remuneration policy and succession plan, such as guidelines on
designing employees’ remuneration packages and related market

trends and information.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Securities

As at 31 December 2014, the interests of Directors and chief
executives of the Company and their associates in the equity or debt
securities of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO")) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Long

position in Shares and Underlying Shares under Equity

Derivatives of the Company:

2

mp

AR B R ARAST & T AABR () 2 4f

Number of shares

RAEE
Ordinary shares Underlying
EZER shares Approximate
interests  interests held (under equity percentage
Name of Director/ held under by controlled  derivatives of Aggregate of the issued
Chief Executive personal name corporations  the Company) interest share capital
HER 7
(RARBRAE BITRA
B TETRAEHS BAETER SEEEES 14 I8) wRs Bk
Director =
Mr. Guo Zi Wen BEXESE - 1,337,075,563 - 1.337,075,563 48.03%
(Note 1)(fi1z#1)
Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky  {RE ¢ BEHTELAE - 293,175,563 - 293,175,563 10.53%
(Note 2)(H1z#2)
Mr. Yang Zhong BRAE 1,650,000 - - 1,650,000 0.06%
Ms. Zhong Ping EFrt 50,000 - 2,000,000 2,050,000 0.07%
(Note 3)(#1z#3)
Mr. Guo Zi Ning (Note 4) BEBEE (HiT4)
Notes: et -

(1)

2)

These 1,337,075,563 ordinary shares are registered in the name of Ace Rise
Profits Limited. Ace Rise Profits Limited is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific
Group Limited (which in turn is wholly-owned by Sturgeon Limited) and as to
10% by Hopka Investments Limited. Sturgeon Limited is wholly-owned by Asia
Square Holdings Ltd., as nominee and trustee for J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company
(Singapore) Ltd. as the trustee holding such interests on trust for the beneficiaries
of The Golden Jade Trust. The Golden Jade Trust is a discretionary family trust
established under the laws and regulations of Singapore. As at the date of this
report, the settlors of The Golden Jade Trust are Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang
Miner.

These 293,175,663 ordinary shares are registered in the name of Cathay Sino
Property Ltd., which is wholly-owned by Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. Cathay
Capital Holdings, L.P. is managed by its general partner, Cathay Master GP, Ltd.
which in turn is owned as to 45% by Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky as trustee.
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Ltd R RE o BERTHTEIEA ((EBZFTAN) HE
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Report of the Directors (continued)

(3) Details of share options held by the Directors are shown in the section of “Share
Options”.

(4) Since April 2013, upon completion of a share transfer, Ace Rise Profits Limited
is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited (which in turn is wholly-owned
by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited, a company
wholly-owned by Ms. Su Chaomei who is the wife of Mr. Guo Zi Ning, a director
of the Company. As a result, Mr. Guo Zi Ning has a deemed effective interest of
about 4.80% of the Company. Since Ace Rise Profits Limited is not a controlled
corporation of Mr. Guo Zi Ning or Ms. Su Chaomei under the SFO, no notice has
been be filed under the SFO by Mr. Guo Zi Ning in respect his deemed interest in
Ace Rise Profits Limited.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or
short positions in the shares of the Company, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation
as recorded in the register which were required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
None of the Directors of the Company or their spouses or children
under the age of 18, had been granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations, or had exercised any such right for the year ended 31
December 2014.

Share Options
On 13 September 2007, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the "Scheme”). Details of the options outstanding for the

year ended 31 December 2014 were as follows:

Ol ()

@) EFFEBRIEZFEER [BRE —F -

(4) B =T — =05 RIEIEZZ T % + Ace Rise Profits
LimiteddJoy Pacific Group Limited (#Sturgeon
Limited 2 E#H) REFREFGRAA (BALRA]
BEIRFEL L ZIEHREEL LS EHRBZ RE])
DENFFBI0% K 10% 1 o Bt ZBFFE L H R
BB LR LE]A4.80 % I ER #z o B Ace Rise
Profits LimitediR1%E 5 R A& 1K 1)0 FE 2015 5 55 4
BEBEL T RIEEE - UL IREZE S RIE RG]
SR E S £ KRR Ace Rise Profits Limited %2
BB Bt KB o

Br Rl EEIN  ARRIREBFREZITHA

BERE AT « AR F) S E TR

B BERDxEST  BEIWRAEBIR

BEEHFRBEGPIEIEEANEARBFEZ

Btk BansuRE  RBIEESFRIA

MERRE R EmIORE - BIEARD

AEFIBEZRBIRB T N\RTFZERT

REEAR DA AR AE 2 RS ER 2

R ARHEZE-NF+ A =+—HIt

FECITEEMZEER -

B

RZZZLFAAT=R XARERNER
‘(A8 ) - RBEE—T—HF+=A
=T BUEFERRTEZERE  FHBE0T
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h Report of the Directors (continued)

wHHEHE (5)
Number of share options
BREHE
As at Granted Exercised Lapsed As at 31 Exercise
1 January during during during  December Date of price
2014 the year the year the year 2014 grant Exercise period per share
R-Z-mF
R=2-IF t=A Bk
-A-A ERRH ERTR FRXN =1-H RitAH e i@
HK$
AT
Name of Director/Chief Executive
B3/ IERABHE
Mr. Yang Zhong 2124714 - (1,000,000 (1,124,714) - 4412011 1/4/2012-31/12/2014 1.318
BREE (Note 1) EF 2
(Hit1) MAmA MA-BZ
—T-|F
+ZA=1+-8
2,124,715 - - (2124719 - 4412011 1/412013-31/12/2014 1.318
E—F “T-=F
MAMA MA-AZE
i3
tZA=+-A
Ms. Zhong Ping - 2,000,000 - (2,000,000 - 15/1/2014 16/10/2014- 1.61
E¥ut It Sit:2 16/12/2014
—A+hA EmE
TATARE
e St
TZATRA
- 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 15/1/2014 16/10/2015- 1.61
“Z-pmF 16/12/2015
—A+HA —E-RE
TATREZE
“Z-1f
TZRA+<A
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Report of the Directors (continued) l
HHRHE ()

Number of share options
BREXA
As at Granted Exercised Lapsed As at 31 Exercise
1 January during during during  December Date of price
2014 the year the year the year 2014 grant Exercise period per share
RZE-mE
R-F-DF t=A 33
-A-H ERRH ERTE FREXM =1-8 RHAH e i@
HK$
AT
Name of Director/Chief Executive
B3/ IERABHE
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung 318,707 - - (318,707) - 4412011 4/4/2011-3/4/2014 1.318
REBEE EF ET—F
mAmA mARAZ
“E-mF
MA=R
Mr. Chan Ka Yeung, Jacky - 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - 15/01/2014 16/10/2014- 1.61
3 7y “F-PF 16/12/2014
—AthA —TmE
TATARE
“Z-mF
TZAtKA
- 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 15/01/2014 16/10/2015- 1.61
“FpE 16/12/2015
—AThA ik
TATREE
“Z-1f
TZATKA
4,568,136 9,000,000 (1,000,000  (8,068,136) 4,500,000
Notes: st -
(1) The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately before the date on (1) BEEICIEET(E H B R AR (7 89 I FEF UL 718
which the options were exercised was HK$1.34. 1.34)87T ©
2) The closing price of the shares immediately before 15 January 2014 on which the 2) ROFEZERERYA=F—9F—A+HHZH
options were granted was HK$1.57 per share. B TTIE BAAR1.578T -
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Report of the Directors (continued)

o= H R ()

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares

Save as disclosed in the section “Share Options” above, at no time
during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any director or their respective spouses or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of
its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any

other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

So far as the Directors or the chief executives of the Company are
aware of, as at 31 December 2014, the shareholders, other than
the Directors or the chief executives of the Company, who had
interests or short positions in the shares or the underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company in
accordance with the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 in Part XV of the
SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:

Name

BRERERE

Ace Rise Profits Limited"

Joy Pacific Group Limited™

J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company
(Singapore) Ltd.

Mr. Guo Zi Wen'
RS

Ms. Jiang Miner"
LR A0

Capacity

512

Beneficial owner

EmiEA A

Controlled corporation

SAEHIAE]

Trustee

EEA

Settlor of

The Golden Jade Trust
The Golden Jade Trust
ZEETA

Settlor of

The Golden Jade Trust
The Golden Jade Trust
ZEETA

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B2 ] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A 7]

EXRERD ZER

Br B3 [RBAHE | —ERFTIRERSD - FABIEE =
R EFS B ZEBIRKF T LERLITER
FRPBARRBRMD NESEE 2R - NRF]
S EEAHER AT - HB AR R RHE QR

TMESBEEA L - B E AR EREME
ABEBSZFER -

FTERFER
HRARRESTREBTHRABRAE KT
—OFE+ZA=+—H BREKRRAEEL
BITBA BBRIN) RAR AR IR S RE AR
MHEBREZSFRABRAIEXVEIE2RES
DEEREERAR R REBENERIOAR » 3k
BAR B 5 R & 161 55 336 1R B A A% IE
Frim & Magmsoxs - ST :

Voting power

Number of shares/ (%)
Underlying shares (approximate)
RIRE

BRBEBE (%)
HER G (BHEDL)
1,337,075,563 48.03%
1,337,075,563 48.03%
1,337,075,563 48.03%
1,337,075,563 48.03%
1,337,075,563 48.03%



Name

REREH
Asia Square Holdings Ltd."”

Sturgeon Limited™

Mr. Selwyn Donald Sussman®@ and @
Selwyn Donald Sussman3t 4258

Capital Asset Management, Inc.®

Trust Asset Management LLP®@ad®
Trust Asset Management LLP®2%@

Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky®?
REAe ERHT AL ER
Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P.@
Cathay Master GP, Ltd.?

Cathay Sino Property Ltd.?

Hopka Investments Limited™
BREEBRAFD

Report of the Directors (continued)

Capacity

512

Controlled corporation
SR /NG

Controlled corporation

SRt NG

Controlled corporation/
Beneficial owner
| VNG
EREAA

Controlled corporation
Sk NC]
Controlled corporation
S

Trustee

EIN

Controlled corporation
ok NC]
Controlled corporation

ST

Beneficial owner

EnBEAA

Number of shares/

Underlying shares

ROBE,
B AR £
1,337,075,563

1,337,075,563

343,175,563

293,175,563

293,175,563

293,175,563

293,175,563

293,175,563

293,175,563
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Voting power
(%)
(approximate)
RIRE

(%)
(BREDE)
48.03%
48.03%

12.33%

10.53%

10.53%

10.53%

10.53%

10.53%

10.53%
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Report of the Directors (continued)

ol (Y

Notes:

(1)

2)

(3)

The 1,337,075,563 shares are registered in the name of Ace Rise Profits Limited.
Ace Rise Profits Limited is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited
(which in turn is wholly-owned by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka
Investments Limited. Sturgeon Limited is wholly-owned by Asia Square Holdings
Ltd., as nominee and trustee for J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company (Singapore) Ltd.
as the trustee holding such interests on trust for the beneficiaries of The Golden
Jade Trust. The Golden Jade Trust is a discretionary family trust established under
the laws and regulations of Singapore. As at the date of this report, the settlors of
The Golden Jade Trust are Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner.

Since April 2013, upon completion of a share transfer, Ace Rise Profits Limited
is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited (which in turn is wholly-owned
by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited, a company
wholly-owned by Ms. Su Chaomei who is the wife of Mr. Guo Zi Ning, a director
of the Company. As a result, Mr. Guo Zi Ning has a deemed effective interest of
about 4.80% of the Company. Since Ace Rise Profits Limited is not a controlled
corporation of Mr. Guo Zi Ning or Ms. Su Chaomei under the SFO, no notice has
been be filed under the SFO by Mr. Guo Zi Ning in respect his deemed interest in
Ace Rise Profits Limited.

The 293,175,563 shares are registered in the name of Cathay Sino Property Ltd.
which is wholly-owned by Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. Cathay Capital Holdings,
L.P. is managed by its general partner, Cathay Master GP, Ltd. which in turn is
owned as to 45% by Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky as trustee and 45% by Trust
Asset Management LLP. Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P., Cathay Master GP Ltd.,
Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky and Trust Asset Management LLP are all deemed to be
interested in the 293,175,663 shares under the SFO.

Capital Asset Management, Inc. is the general partner of Trust Asset
Management LLP, which has 45% interest in Cathay Master GP, Ltd., the general
partner of Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. As Mr. Selwyn Donald Sussman ("“Mr.
Sussman”) is holding 100% interest in Capital Asset Management, Inc., Mr.
Sussman, Capital Asset Management, Inc. and Trust Asset Management LLP
are all deemed to be interested in the 293,175,563 shares held by Cathay Sino
Property Ltd. The remaining 50,000,000 shares are held by Mr. Sussman as his
personal interests.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B2 ] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A 7]

Bt

(1)

2)

3)

1,337,075,563 /12 ji¢ 17 L Ace Rise Profits Limited 2
% # & i - Ace Rise Profits Limited # Joy Pacific
Group Limited(Sturgeon Limited £ £# 5 ) &5
BHRAN G5 FI#590% K 10% #zs i Sturgeon
Limited 8l B3 Asia Square Holdings Ltd. & ## % *
# % J3J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company (Singapore)
Ltd ZHREARZFEA « AZFEA 5174 The Golden
Jade Trust&) R am A ¥ 1z 5t#z © The Golden Jade
Trust B IRIEFT B ERERZERR I Z 2 -KES
5L o RA#HE AH - The Golden Jade TrustZ 81EZ#%
FABIREFERTHTE LT -

BZ=ZF—=4F /M AKREEZZETKIE Ace
Rise Profits Limited 1 Joy Pacific Group Limited
(/i Sturgeon Limited 2 E#H) R & REFIRL 7]
(AR ] EFIIFES LT IEHFEEL L+ EWE
B2 RAE])DFIFEEI0% K 10% s o Bt - 255
BSE R BB KL AJA)4.80 % ) BB E s o A
R Ace Rise Profits Limited #R1555 55 J Bl & 151938 FE
B L R EFEE LT ZFAE - UL IR
R BB (& B 27 3 5% 42 G0 K 5t A R Ace Rise Profits
Limited £ 1R BHEB .2 B am tE XA

293,175,663 i¢ fi& 17 LX Cathay Sino Property Ltd..Z
% £ & i - 7 Cathay Sino Property Ltd. #1 Cathay
Capital Holdings, L.P. % & # % ° Cathay Capital
Holdings, L.P. /1 & % i# & # A Cathay Master GP,
Ltd. EFF -+ [fjCathay Master GP, Ltd. Bl|H1REH o JE4T
HZ L4 ((EAZFTA) K Trust Asset Management
LLP. 5 B BE H45% R45% 1E 75 - IR 1F i % R
& (¥ #I - Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. + Cathay
Master GP, Ltd. ~ {REH o JERTATE 7 4 K Trust Asset
Management LLP##5#2 7378293, 175,563 iR K 17 4

Capital Asset Management, Inc. A Trust Asset
Management LLP.Z % i# & # A + [fj Trust Asset
Management LLP#¥ & Cathay Capital Holdings,
L.P..ZEEAHENA Cathay Master GP, Ltd. 45% Z 1
7 ° IR Selwyn Donald Sussman #t 4 ([ Sussman &
4 |)## 5 Capital Asset Management, Inc. 100% 2 1
7+ SussmanstE4 - Capital Asset Management, Inc.
¢ Trust Asset Management LLP %1% A1 Cathay
Sino Property Ltd. 542 293,175,663 RIR (7 # &
s ° H 450,000,000 52 % 17/ Sussman 5t £ 5
BIEN 7 o



Report of the Directors (continued)

Corporate Governance
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this

annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirm that the
Company has maintained the public float as required by the Listing
Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual

report.

Auditors

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 have
been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the Company's auditors

for the coming year will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

There has been no change of the auditors of the Company since its
listing on the Stock Exchange.

On behalf of the Board
GUO Zi Wen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 March 2015
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B8 A M e

TOTHE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA AOYUAN PROPERTY GROUP
LIMITED
b ] VL ] e 4 Lt A R )

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 108 to 252,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2014, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’'s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2014,
and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 March 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Aok o 1H 2 M At 2 v 2 2%

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

2014 2013
—ZE—mF —T—=4F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
HizE AR®T T ARET T
Revenue e 5 6,976,151 5,729,267
Cost of sales SHE RS (4,908,782) (3,970,717)
Gross profit EH 2,067,369 1,758,550
Other income and gains H bl A Bz 7 109,622 115,034
Change in fair value of KEMEANTEE
investment properties 16 97,610 84,991
Share of results of joint ventures  fE(GA &E b EELS 17 9,161 (75)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary  H&—EH B A s 38 - 20,682
Selling and distribution expenses 5% &5 5 (379,292) (319,168)
Administrative expenses THRAX (390,609) (350,885)
Finance costs BhE A 8 (65,155) (44,048)
Profit before tax BREE RT3 9 1,448,706 1,265,081
Income tax expense FrS iR 10 (665,773) (512,945)
Profit and total comprehensive FEa M R EER R
income for the year 1ERE 782,933 752,136
Profit and total comprehensive AR AT FE(E S &
income for the year ZHEWALREE
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company . VNCIEZ 2 =N 809,392 735,824
— Non-controlling interests — IEIE RS (26,459) 16,312
782,933 752,136
Earnings per share BiR&R
Basic (RMB cents) AR (ARED) 13 29.08 27.42
Diluted (RMB cents) HE(ARESD) 13 29.08 27.40

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A T IR DR

At 31 December 2014 R=-ZE—JE+—H=+—H

2014 2013
—E-NF —T—=fF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
HizF AR®T T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEMBNEE
Property, plant and equipment W% BB k& 14 501,446 415,336
Prepaid lease payments TR EFIE 15 15,809 167,527
Investment properties B 16 2,727,946 2,419,399
Interests in joint ventures RE ERERNER 17 62,978 4,925
Available-for-sale investment A ERE 18 25,000 25,000
Deferred tax assets RIETIRE E 32 150,763 118,214
Amount due from a joint venture  fEW—fE&EDEFIE 19 151,955 —
3,635,897 3,150,401
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Properties for sale A HEHE Y 20 24,946,828 19,437,238
Deposits paid for acquisition Wt S i {5 P A
of land use rights BffiEe 21 - 1,063,890
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H M FE R 22 1,849,158 1,063,515
Amounts due from non-controlling & Ut 8 A 7 FEH5 A%
shareholders of subsidiaries A% B FIAE 23 21,014 193,506
Amounts due from related parties  FEUEIE R FIFE 24 196,582 164,113
Tax recoverable Al EIFE S 218,612 146,863
Prepaid lease payments AR ERIE 15 435 415
Restricted bank deposits ZRAIRITER 25 3,928,254 1,899,230
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 25 1,989,054 2,812,335
33,149,937 26,781,105
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEIaE
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMMER 26 3,501,292 2,952,522
Deposits received for HEMEE WG
sale of properties 8,772,081 6,463,074
Amounts due to non-controlling  FEHIE A & FEER
shareholders of subsidiaries f& R IR 27 197,008 185,552
Amount due to a related party FEf—E &R RIFIA 28 19,098 68,002
Amount due to a joint venture JE—fE & EEFIE 29 57,300 —
Tax liabilities MIAEE 1,789,987 1,488,462
Bank and other borrowings HR1T SR ELM fE X 30 4,464,125 2,411,281
Provisions Bt 31 1,577,144 1,394,404
20,378,035 14,963,297
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

AR IR UL (AE)

At 31 December 2014 R-ZE—QEF+—-H=+—H

2014 2013
—E-NF —T—=4F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’'000
HizE AR¥T T ARET T
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEERE 12,771,902 11,817,808
TOTAL ASSETS LESS REERRSEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 16,407,799 14,968,209
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEmBAE
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EM AR 30 3,776,180 5,741,996
Deferred tax liabilities RIETHIRE R 32 340,545 331,790
Senior notes BREE 33 3,256,986 1,370,567
7,373,711 7,444,353
9,034,088 7,523,856
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B K FEE
Share capital %N 34 26,355 26,347
Reserves e 7,693,097 7,192,699
Equity attributable to owners ZIN/NEIEZ SN
of the Company fEfh S 7,719,452 7,219,046
Non-controlling interests FEIZERRHE A 1,314,636 304,810
9,034,088 7,523,856
The consolidated financial statements on pages 108 to 252 were HRE108HEF 22 B AP BRERER

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17

March 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

Guo Zi Wen
BRRESC
DIRECTOR
EE
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At 1 January 2013

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Appropriation to statutory reserve

Recognition of equity-settled
share-ased payments

Exercise of share options

Contrioution from non-controling
shareholders of subsidiaries

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37)

Disposal of @ subsidlary (note 3]
Dividend recognised as
distribution (note 12)

At 31 Decerber 2013

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Aopropriation to Statutory reserve

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payments

Exercise of share options

Transfer of share option reserve upon
forfeiture of share options

Decrease in non-controling interests
upon partial disposal of interest in
asubsidiary note 38)

Disposal of partial interest in
subsidaries without
loss of control

Deemed disposal of partil interest
in a subsidiary without oss of
control (note 46¢)

Repayment the register capital
to the non-controling
shareholder of a subsidlary

Dividend recognised as
distribution (note 12)

At 31 December 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

b e S L

For the year ended 31 December 2014 &&= E—pU#+=H=+—HIFF/F

Attributable to owners of the Company

LTINS
Property Share Non-
Share Share  Statutory Special ~ revaluation option Retained controlling
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profts Total interests Total
{H ok
Brx  REEE R RUBE  EHEE  BRERE  REEA it & it
RMB000  RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'OO0  RMBOO0  RMB000 RMB'OO0  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note Note b) (Note ¢
) b)) (B
5015 4123191 86,168 357,34 31,73 4148 2377 6%13% 162350 710368
- - - - - - 735,84 735,84 16312 762,136
- - 6,536 - = = (6,536) = = =
= = = = = 118 = 118 = 118
B4 6,663 - - - 2319) 4,367 - 4367
- - - - - - - - 31,902 31,942
- - - - - - - - 123500 123500
- - - - - - - - [19.294) (19.294)
1,299 212109 - - = = (686,006) (472,598 = (472,598
26347 4341983 92,124 357,34 3173 1947 236099 7,219,046 304810 7523856
- - - - - - 809,392 809,392 (26,459) 782,933
- - 5775 - - - (5,775) - - -
- - - - - 954 - 954 - 954
8 1485 - - - (445) - 1,048 - 1,048
- - - - - (2,068) 2,068 - - -
- - - - - - - - (46,975) (46,975)
- - - 3334 - - - 3334 1,566 4900
- - - (91,694) - - - (91,694 1,091,694 1,000,000
- - - - - - - - (10,000) (10,000)
- - - - - - (220628)  (222628) - (222,628)
2635 4343438 98,499 28,981 3173 B8 294405 779452 1314636 9,034,088

Annual Report 2014 & —PU4E4EH;

md

111



112

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

AR O RERR S B AR (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

Notes:

The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit for the
year of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
(based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements) in accordance with
the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve cannot be reduced except either
in setting off the accumulated losses or increasing capital.

Special reserve includes (i) revaluation loss of RMB21,210,000 arising from
the acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary during the year ended 31
December 2004, (ii) the difference of RMB378,5651,000 between the aggregate of
the nominal value of share capital and share premium of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation and the nominal value of the share capital
issued by the Company as consideration for the acquisition during the year ended
31 December 2007 and (iii) revaluation loss of RMB91,694,000 arising from the
deemed disposal of equity interests in Guangzhou Aoyu Real Estate Exploitation
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Aoyu"”) without loss of control during the year
ended 31 December 2014 and revaluation gain of RMB3,334,000 as a result
of the partial disposal of its equity interests in Beijing North Aoyuan Property
Company Limited (“Beijing North"”) without loss of control during the year ended
31 December 2014. It represents the difference between the adjustment to the
non-controlling interests in subsidiaries and the nominal value of the share capital
issued by the Group as consideration received.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, revaluation surplus arising from
transfer of owner-occupied properties to investment properties at the date of
change in use amounted to RMB50,313,000 net of related deferred tax liability of
RMB12,578,000 was credited to property revaluation reserve.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
NEBREeREE

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

2014 2013
“E-mF —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
et ARETR ARETFT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES LEEE)
Profit before tax BRAATE R 1,448,706 1,265,081
Adjustments for: HANIIESEE
Change in fair value of investment properties RENFEATEES (97,610) (84,991)
Finance costs RARAR 65,155 44,048
Share of results of joint ventures EEAELEER (9,161) 75
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRBA AR - (20,682)
Share-based payments R AERR R 954 118
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE - BERSETE 25,351 33,901
Write-down of properties for sale A E YRR 309 24,645
Release of prepaid lease payments BRAENZER 435 69
Bank interest income SRITHI BUA (59,758) (21,748)
Other interest income HeF SUA (8,130) (16,663)
Dividend income from available-for-sale A HERER
investments R EHA (2,000) (2,800)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  tHEYE - BiE R REEE 1,140 3,385
Unrealised foreign exchange gain ARIERINE W (2,838) (37,999)
Operating cash flows before movements in EEESRIRIMLE
working capital BeneE 1,362,553 1,186,439
Increase in properties for sale B3l (5,187,996) (6,210,857)
Decrease in deposits paid for acquisition Yk i REE TR
of land use rights 1,063,890 1,606,455
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 RAbELREM (896,386) (293,724)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 REAM AT 1,040,360 443,453
Increase in deposits received for sale of properties  $5EMESUGT SN 2,550,279 2,632,695
Cash used in operations TR & (67,300) (635,539)
Income taxes paid BAFEHR (472,838) (302,165)
Interest paid BfFIE (1,105,121) (834,985)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES LR EEAR TS (1,645,259) (1,772,689)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KA
Payments for investment properties REMERR (210,937) (439,178)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash and YeEbE A 5] (BRI IR &
cash equivalents acquired) EREEED) 37 (10,404) (37,523)
Capital injection to a joint venture m—HAELEEE - (5,000)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment EEME  BERSE (113,001) (36,625)
Purchases of prepaid lease payment BEBEABEEMNR (766) -
Advance to non-controlling shareholders BEHEINGE R T
of subsidiaries (152,658) (192,426)
Advance to related parties REERABH (49,662) (77,104)
Decrease in restricted bank deposits RRBIFITERRD (2,120,702) (1,136,749)
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest in a HER—FNE A A A s
subsidiary without loss of control i R KRR PR S 50E 4,900 -
Proceeds from deemed disposal of partial interest S AHER—RBR B ER
in a subsidiary without loss of control Tl A R AR TS A 46 1,000,000 =
Annual Report 2014 —&—PU4E4EH;
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

A B iR ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 # % —=F

—HFEF—A=1—HILFE

2014 2013
—E-mE —T—=F
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
Hrzt ARETR ARETT
Repayment the register capital [MFEERAR R (B & A
to non-controlling shareholder (10,000) -
Interest received BUAIE 64,024 32,411
Dividend received from available-for-sale A HEREMRERA
investments 2,000 2,800
Proceeds from a subsidiary change —HERBAREA—HaErE
to a joint venture PSR (30,474) =
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—TRRBARMEHE - (26,360
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties HERENERMETE - 1,152
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RBEHMARSFE
ACTIVITIES (1,627,680) (1,914,602)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
New bank and other borrowings raised IR R A 6,163,983 6,344,473
Repayment of bank and other borrowings RERRITREMER (5,140,229) (2,269,898)
Proceeds received from senior notes, BEZBEHE - MRETRZ
net of issue expenses 1,769,247 665,750
Advance from (repayment to) non-controlling 2 (ER) B R RIFHER
shareholders of subsidiaries REHE 11,822 (228,597)
(Repayment to) advance from a related party (B8)2H—H F% (48,903) 68,002
Repayment to a joint venture BE-HAELENT (105,700) =
Contributions from non-controlling shareholders FEHERBRRTE - 31,942
Dividends paid to owners of the Company ERAAREEARE (222,628) (472,598)
Proceeds from the issue of shares upon ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁéﬁﬂxf i)
exercise of share options S 1,048 4,367
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEDMERS TR 2,428,640 4,143,441
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND Re kAL EEMORD)EINFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (844,299) 456,150
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE [ExggHza
CHANGES 21,018 (24,798)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RENMRE RREEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,812,335 2,380,983
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RELMR e LRSEEY) -
THE END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED RITER KA S
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 1,989,054 2,812,335

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i M B

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

General

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK"). The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section to
the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
46.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following new and revised IFRSs
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“|ASB") for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to IFRS 10,
IFRS 12 and IAS 27

Investment Entities

Amendments to IFRS 32  Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

Amendments to IFRS 36  Recoverable Amount Disclosure
for Non-Financial Assets

Amendments to IFRS 39  Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge
Accounting

IFRIC = Int 21 Levies

—RE#

AARA—BRASRBEMLT0E
RAF - ERGREEB SRS HAR
AR (TEEBRF]) o RARME
R B B T B D B IR PN
ARER—HRE -

ARTARREHRBAT  HHBATE
BTN 6 °

FEMBHRRARARNEEEARE
TARE D27 -

R #TR] R A=A 5T B PR B S 4
HEA ([ BB R E 2R )

AR B R BRI T 51
e ENEER(AEEHENER
& 1) il 2 93T R4S 15 3T BB 90
28 -

B0 B B 75 R 5 2 A
F105% « F 1258
)Szlli%%”;: ZER|

3%
pis
bl
puin)
Fole

F27 R 2AEFT
BRI E 2R SpEENSRE
FE 325 28T BEE R
BRI E 2R REIFEHMEE
3692 1ERFT Z AT BB FE
lli%\ﬁﬂ& SRR TAETAEZER
%395 2185 REREET 2

BIBR B 15 R i R =®E
%E%-ﬁ&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

2. Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

The application of above the new or revised IFRSs in the
current year has had no material effect on the Group's financial
performance and position for the current and prior years and/or
disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

IFRS 9

IFRS 14

IFRS 15

Amendments to IFRS 11

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 38

Amendments to IAS 19

Amendments to IFRSs

Amendments to IFRSs

Amendments to IFRSs

Amendments to IAS 16

and IAS 41

Amendments to IAS 27

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]

Financial Instruments'

Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?®

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations®

Disclosure Initiative®

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation®

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions*

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle®

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2011-2013 Cycle*

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle®

Agriculture: Bearer Plants®

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements®
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (7))

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to IFRS 10,

IFRS 12 and IAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the
Consolidation Exception®

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for first annual IFRS financial statements beginning on or after 1
January 2016

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

ks Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with limited
exceptions

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets.
IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013
to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting.
Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014
mainly to include a) impairment requirements for financial
assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and
measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through
other comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”) measurement
category for certain simple debt instruments.

2.
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

2. Adoption of New And Revised International 2. A RIEETEIFR I R

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Key requirements of IFRS 9:

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are
required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held
within a business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets,
and that have contractual terms of the financial asset give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
ate measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair value at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under
IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an entity investment
(that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires
that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless
the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s
credit risk in other comprehensive income would create risk
are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss is
presented in profit or loss.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (7))

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 required
an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred
credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model
required an entity to account for expected credit losses and
changes in those and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the
three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available
in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced
to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting,
specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for
hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-
financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition,
the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced
with the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective
assessment of the hedge effectiveness is also no longer
required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity's
risk management activities have also been introduced.

The management of the company anticipate that the application
of IFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact on amount
reported in respect of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of the effect of IFRS 9 until the group undertakes a
detailed review.

2.
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

2. Adoption of New And Revised International 2. A RIEETEIFR I R

120

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 “Revenue’ IAS
11 “Construction Contracts” and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective. The core principle of IFRS 15 is
that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer
of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for goods or services. Specifically, the
standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

=R ([ BB F R E 2R )

(&)

BB R T 8 BRI 15 55 KEHEF &R
#zE |

BIER B 7% S 2 RIS 165K 2 A - E
E-RE-—2EEARERBELER
FPEKOMEENKRE AR - REIRMB
WELERE1GRAEME - HBIAIRE
HPRER S ERF 1855 [ W] - BHER
SETEANFE115R [ZEAD] RERERE
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Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with customer F—4: HREZFIIVHEL -

Step 2: Identify the performance obligation in the contract FH: BAEHRHEBHOEME -

Step 3: Determine the transaction price F=F: EBEERSE-

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance FIH . BREEIEEZAHFTHNELN
obligations in the contract EfE o

Step 5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a FhY: REBTHKBAOERER (S5
performance obligation b)) FERR M R o

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
IFRS 15.

The management of the Group anticipates that the application
of IFRS 15 in the future may affect the amounts reported and
related disclosures. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until the Group
performs a detailed review.
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Adoption of New And Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

Except those mentioned above, the management of the
Company anticipate that the application of other new and
revised IFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
SEHK and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain properties that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

2.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in
use in IAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below:
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the

Company:
o has power over the investee;
o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date of the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group losses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
has directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specific/permitted by applicable
IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
IAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangement of the acquire or share-based
payment arrangement of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting
policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that Standard.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’'s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments made
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.

Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint venture used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, investment in a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost (including acquisition related-cost) and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the joint venture. When the Group’s
share of losses of a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest
in that joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment
in the joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that joint venture.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments in joint ventures (continued)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group's investment in a joint venture. VWhen necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with
its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments in joint ventures (continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from
the date when the investment ceases to be a joint venture, or
when the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified as held
for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in
accordance with IAS 39. The difference between the carrying
amount of the joint venture at the date the equity method
was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in a joint
venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the
gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3. FESBER(E)

Investments in joint ventures (continued) REBLEZIRE (B)

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity, = EE T E AR %Ij TR ﬁ <z 5
;t /\

profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly
controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

B A 2 3
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Revenue recognition WA TR
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration H&A}EEH&%%H&R{EZ“$@§‘|‘§ o
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated WARGETEFRE ~ 130 M E A EEM

customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:
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o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks o AEEDEE R Tgﬁﬁ%ZEkﬂ %
and rewards of ownership of the goods; eSS T ES
. the Group retains neither continuing managerial ° REBE W ERE —REREEER

involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.
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Specifically, revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary BEEmMS  ESYWECRITVRINFTFE
course of business is recognised when the respective TR R —REBRRERRAHEME
properties have been completed and delivered to the buyers. ZUWA o REH FMIEXERT B B 5 UKE
Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to 2 E R BFIBEI AGZE PSR R
meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are included MBIBERN

in the consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset's net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group's accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—MF+—-A=+—HIFFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land
(classified as finance lease) and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than properties under construction as described
below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than properties under construction) less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date
of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the profit or loss.

Buildings under development for future owner occupied
purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for
production, or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of
prepaid lease payments provided during the construction period
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management).

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—MF+—-A=+—HIFFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Leasehold land and building (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties and/or land held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purpose).

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Properties for sale

Completed properties and properties under development for
sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes the cost of land, development expenditure, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting
policy, and other attributable expenses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —F—MF+ - A=+—HIFFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Properties for sale (continued)

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
properties for sale less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property from properties for sale to
investment property when there is a change of intention to
hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation
rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which
is evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to
another party. Any difference between the fair value of the
property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F 1+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into (i) available-for-
sale ("AFS") financial assets and (i) loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b)
held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as AFS financial assets and are traded in an active market are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial
assets relating to interest income calculated using the effective
interest method and dividends on AFS equity investments
are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the carrying
amount of AFS financial assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading
of investments revaluation reserve. When the investment is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy
in respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit
or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —F—MF+ - A=+—HIFFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3. FESHBE(E
Financial instruments (continued) ERT A (#&)
Financial assets (continued) LHEE (1)

AFS financial assets (continued)

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such unquoted equity investments, they are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the
end of the reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect
of impairment of financial assets below).

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, amounts due from
related parties, amounts due from a joint venture, restricted
bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment
of financial assets below).

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F 1+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

For AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to
be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—MF+—-A=+—HIFFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3. FESHBE(HE)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For certain of financial assets, such as trade receivables, that
are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition,
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be
reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—MF+—-A=+—HIFFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3. FESHBE(E
Financial instruments (continued) ERT A (E)
Financial assets (continued) THEE (&)
Financial liabilities 2HEE

Financial liabilities (including bank and other borrowings,
trade and other payables, amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, amount due to a related party and
amount due to a joint venture) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Senior notes

Senior notes issued by the Company that contain both liability
and early redemption option (which is not closely related to the
host contract) are classified separately into respective items on
initial recognition. At the date of issue, both the liability and early
redemption option components are recognised at fair value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the senior
notes is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The early redemption option is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Senior notes (continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior
notes are allocated to the liability and early redemption
option components in proportion to their relative fair values.
Transaction costs relating to the early redemption option are
charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating
to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the senior
notes using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a
debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not
designated at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
initially at fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of:

()  the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
the revenue recognition policies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —F—MF+ - A=+—HIFFE

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3. FESBEK(E
Financial instruments (continued) ERT A (#&)
Financial assets (continued) THEE (&)
Derecognition FEBRTERR

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises an
associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset'’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 B2 5] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A 7]

AEBRAEEEEERSRENAOE
MNEmk T ERERSREENRE
REB B B @R R IR iR & B
E - MRAKER T EHERZ O ERE
48 KB 5 R\ e K [ e 0 A A o o 1 8 R
BE AASEEEERAZEELNH
HESLRERBRREREBARG MR
AEEREBEREZRSREEBNI DR
B EE - AASEESEIAZSRE
ENERC WSR2 ERER -

REERRERCMEER  ZHEE
FEEEDKRAKERRERREMEE
WAERN B ESSEEANEEER
B R o

AREBERAK

JERES - RRERERAE - AR
RNTRARNREEREDIRESK
BRINZEN B HER

SEETERRE - EE
FER
iR

B 2EILEREREE(AIFEK
FEEHLNESERTEREKAIHLE
A E) BERBBNETRAB T AZE
BENKAT  HEEWEEARAH
RIERERERHERL -

MBEMERAAGREEERERE
TR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B 5 A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F 1+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the
loan based on prevailing market interest rates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —F—MF+ - A=+—HIFFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are
measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

Provisions for land acquired are based on estimates of required
expenditure on the properties. The Group estimates its liabilities
for land acquired based upon detailed calculations of the
amount and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform
the required work, escalated for inflation, then discounted at a
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability such
that the amount of provision reflects the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions for land acquired are added to the cost of properties
for sale in the period in which the obligation is identified.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[4#+ —HA=+—HIFFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

o exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings;

o exchange differences on transactions entered into in
order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see the
accounting policies below); and

o exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—MF+—-A=+—HIFFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interest
in a joint venture, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for
such investment properties are measured in accordance with
the above general principles set out in IAS 12 (i.e. based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans and
state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—MF+—-A=+—HIFFE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
option reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the management of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale

Properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale are stated at the lower of the cost and net
realisable value. Cost of each unit in each phase of development
is determined using the weighted average cost method. The
net realisable value is the estimated selling price less estimated
selling expenses and estimated cost of completion (if any),
which are estimated based on best available information. \Where
there is any decrease in the estimated selling price arising from
any changes to the property market conditions in the PRC, there
may be written down on the properties under development for
sale and completed properties for sale.
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale
(continued)

As at 31 December 2014, the carrying amount of properties
under development and completed properties for sale
amounted to approximately RMB24,946,828,000 (net of
write-down of RMB54,474,000) (2013: carrying amount of
RMB19,437238,000, net of write-down of RMB58,596,000).

Impairment of hotel assets included in property, plant and
equipment

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
are reviewed annually and adjusted for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 whenever certain events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amount of the assets is the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing fair
value less costs to sell, a combination of the market approach
and depreciated replacement cost approach was adopted in
assessing the land portion and the buildings structures of the
hotel, respectively, taking into account of discount for vacancy
and cost to sell the hotel property. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation for property, plant and equipment are
disclosed in note 14.
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. However, the
implementation and settlement of the tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and certain
projects of the Group have not finalised their land appreciation
tax calculations and payments with any local tax authorities
in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgment is required in
determining the amount of Land appreciation and its related
income tax provisions. The Group recognised the LAT tax based
on management’s best estimates. The final tax outcome could
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
these differences will impact the income tax expense and the
related income tax provisions in the periods in which such tax is
finalised with local tax authorities.

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2014, a deferred tax asset of
RMB141,964,000 (2013: RMB81,187000) in relation to unused
tax losses has been recognised in the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised on the tax losses of RMB413,348,000 (2013:
RMB363,190,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual future profits generated are less than
expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal takes place.
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i AP B AR T R S R R [ B B IR
BUEXNEMEZR  MASENET
T B i K B AR B A0 3 05 B RS BB P S AR
ELHIBER  HERIM - Bt ®
BT IR ESE N ARSI AR
BAELEAHE - AREENEEE
Z R ER L HIRER - RROK
BERKSTRARNBIIR 2SR - M
% E B R E BT BRI B PIREE X
EWAPEAZAERFA LB
SHEE -

iz

R-Z—ME+-F=+—H  AEX
A E B AR 141,964,000 7T (=
T—=4: AR#¥81,187,0007T) &V iIE
EFHBEEEDNASEBERE M BRI K
RITERR o BB P R AR g ) 2RO A9 1~ =] 7881
M IR BRI E IR A R 413,348,000
T(ZZE—=%: AK¥363,190,000T)
BRELEHIBEE - BLEHBEENE
BRENEZFANRAREEE RBHER
s M R ER R 258 - MATEAR
BB AR AENRTEL » AJREEERT
MBEEMEARRE - WHRELZIER
Bl K HARI A 1B 25 FERR ©
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

The investment properties of the Group are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. The board of directors
of the Company has set up a property valuation team, which
is headed up by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, to
determine the appropriate valuation technigues and inputs for
fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an investment property, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified property valuers to perform the valuation.
The property valuation team works closely with the qualified
external property valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The Chief Financial Officer
reports the property valuation team’s findings to the board of
directors of the Company half a year to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

The Group uses valuation technigues that include inputs that are
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value
of investment properties. Note 16 provide detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of investment
properties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—MF+—-A=+—HIFFE

AT THABE RN EZRR
(&)

AT THBE RN EZRR (&)

AP EFTEBRIGEERE

AEBOREMET R A FEFTENR
RYBHEREE - RAREFEEMKL
UARBHBERERBENMELEE
B ARl P ER EEEEM A ERM
KB ABUE °

B REMEO R FER - AREER
ARMZAREEE - ME—R2BA
ZETAR AREERERE=8%
R XA EMETHE - WEAERK
THAERMINEMREEMBEZAIE
HIRT &8 2 fhE Bl AR A A BUR -
BRABERAFERINREA - B8
ESY¥FRANREZTEEZ2RYEMLE
B TS S

R ER A B 15 IR A Al BB T 45 SR
BEENEABBREANGBER G
KREMEN R FE - M 16 EBRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Provision for land acquired

The provision for land acquired have been determined by
the executive directors based on their best estimates. The
executive directors of the Company estimated this liability for
land acquired based upon detailed calculations of the amount
and timing of future cash flows spending on the properties
development, escalated for inflation, then discounted at a
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability,
such that the provision reflects the present value of the costs
expected to be required to settle the obligation. However, in
so far as the effect on the land and properties development
becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the
associated costs may be subject to change in the near future.
The provision is reviewed regularly such that it properly reflects
the present value of the obligation arising from the current and
past properties development. The movement of provisions for
land acquired during the year is set out in note 31.

Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the property development
and property investment in the PRC. An analysis of the Group's
revenue for the year is as follows:

AT THABE RN EZRR
(&)

AT THBE RN EZRR (&)

WiE L 1B

Wt BEE I RATESREERE
BATEE - AITESREVMEFREZR
KReREFIXSEMRKHEZFAAE
TE - BRAER  BRERREEERE
E2RITHEHERABRERR R
RERE  BERERRBHUARTER
ERXZRE  KmbetaEBE Lz
BE-AM RERBLMEYERE
ZEBRARAEEGHE - AAEEK
RZAEEHIRAI R A DA R EE -

e EHRE  NEERRER B
MERBMEEAREEZRE FRAKRE
TR B RIEEST -

ERE

AEBEISRAARENLEERYE
RERT - REBMPNENHL LTSI
o -

2014 2013

—E-mF —T—=%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Sales of properties SHEWZ 6,802,952 5,599,797
Rental Income AW A 70,822 48,706
Hotel, consulting and management income JEJE « B K &R A 102,377 80,764
6,976,151 5,729,267
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #F —F—N#+—H=+—HI-FE

6. Segment Information 6. THER
Information regularly reported to the Group's chief executive BORERNMF HEEME RASBETT
officer (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of BRB(EELERRE) EHRENE
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses PHEDER EFFEA - REBERIEBIR S
on the type of operation. The Group's reportable and operating TR 22 R 28 8 SR MY AT R o5 I &8 o Zhan
segments under IFRS 8 are as follows: o
Property development — development and sale of properties MIEERE — ZRNMEEVE
Property investment - lease of investment properties MERE — HEKREME
Others — hotel operation, provision of consulting Hib — eSHE . IREEEEE

and management services k7%

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results NTRASEZIREREEDEED
by reportable and operating segments: AL e wE [ 2AESHT

Year ended 31 December 2014
BE-_Z-—NME+-_A=+—HLEE

Property Property
development investment Others Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  AR®TR  AR®TR  ARETR

External segment revenue IMEDF = 6,802,952 70,822 102,377 6,976,151
Segment profit (l0ss) AEbai (EE) 1,375,134 143,909 (59,932) 1,459,111
Other income and gains Hi A R 109,622
Unallocated corporate expenses AABEARRAY (64,033)
Finance costs BERA (65,155)
Share of results of joint ventures EhEErERE 9,161

Profit before tax BREA AR A 1,448,706
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok o B s i M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

6. Segment Information (continued) 6.

7 ERER (&)

Year ended 31 December 2013
HE—T—=F+-A=t+—HItFE

Property Property
development investment Others Total
MEER MERE Hoth 5t
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFTT AREFTT AREFT ARETT
External segment revenue IMEDBDE X 5,699,797 48,706 80,764 5,729,267
Segment profit (l0ss) AEEF (FE) 1,186,494 105,346 (52,753) 1,239,087
Other income and gains U ONT 115,034
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBELERT (65,599)
Finance costs AR (44,048)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HBA R 20,682
Share of result of a joint venture Eh—HaEtE%E (75)
Profit before tax BRAEATER] 1,265,081

Notes: Bi%E

There is no intersegment revenue in both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit
generated or loss incurred by each segment without allocation
of central administration costs including directors’ salaries, head
office operating expenses, bank interests and other income,
finance costs, share of results of joint ventures and gain on
disposal of a subsidiary. This is the measure reported to the
Group's chief executive officer for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

MEERB D AR R -

AIERE R EED NG BRRENE3 A
MARENE A BRMAR - 2 RFFAE
EDEBAESE M EIE - WARDBEF
RITHEAN (BREFFHT - AEKEHR
o RITFBREMUBA - BERA -
EHALEEEERKE —HITB AR
Yegs) o BT RIEREIRD B M RARE
MEAASBETHRARBEN T o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/Z

6. Segment Information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities

2 ERER (&

AT RAEBEIZAIRERZE

B EEl

by reportable and operating segments: HEERBEI :
Segment assets TEEE
2014 2013
—E-NF —E—=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Property development M ER 27,061,540 21,930,148
Property investment YR E 2,763,029 2,461,676
Others Hih 249,152 191,241
Total segment assets DEPEERE 30,073,721 24,583,065
Unallocated assets: ROLEE :
Available-for-sale investment A ERE 25,000 25,000
Interests in joint ventures NG B R R 62,978 4,925
Amount due from a joint venture W —H& & FHIE 151,955 =
Deferred tax assets EEBIEE E 150,763 118,214
Tax recoverable A EIRE & 218,612 146,863
Restricted bank deposits ZRFIRITER 3,928,254 1,899,230
Bank balances and cash RITER LIRS 1,989,054 2,812,335
Others HAth 185,497 341,874
Consolidated assets HEBE 36,785,834 29,931,506
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F1+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Segment Information (continued)

6. AR (&

Segment liabilities DEEE
2014 2013
—E-ME —E—=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Property development MR 13,967,650 10,977.354
Property investment YR E 34,513 47659
Others Hih 60,834 36,268
Total segment liabilities DESEEREE 14,062,997 11,061,281

Unallocated liabilities: ROEBE :

Bank and other borrowings RIT R EA AR 8,240,305 8,153,277
Senior notes BAEREE 3,256,986 1,370,567
Amount due to a joint venture R —HE&EhFERIE 57,300 =
Tax liabilities MIEAE 1,789,987 1,488,462
Deferred tax liabilities BELEFHIEAE 340,545 331,790
Others Hith 3,626 2,273
Consolidated liabilities LEBRE 27,751,746 22,407,650

For the purposes monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources among segments:

o all assets are allocated to reportable and operating
segments other than interests in joint ventures, amount
due from a joint venture, AFS investment, deferred tax
assets, tax recoverable, restricted bank deposits, bank
balances and cash and other assets not attributable to
respective segment.

° all liabilities are allocated to reportable and operating
segments other than tax liabilities, bank and other
borrowings, senior notes, amount due to a joint venture,
deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities not attributable
to respective segment.

7

o &

RNRERENED FREDEEIRM

FREEERENEE A HRE REE
78D HEXFEB R ORISR &
BEENELD  BR-—AEEDLE
B AHHERE  EEHIRER
E-AlEBe  XRERTHE
R RITERNAEEAREMEE
BRON

FRERREKESEEAIHRE REE
DER - MEIIEBE ) B REAE RO FEA
BB RITREMER BER
B BN—EaEEEA BT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—F+=-A=+—HIFFE

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. DEEFR(E)
Other information BER
Year ended 31 December 2014
BE-E-MET-A=T-ALEFE
Property Property
development investment Others Unallocated Total
NERE  NERE Aty KAE @3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR¥TT AR%Trn ARETR ARETx
Amounts included in the measure of ERGERS BT EE
segment profit or loss or segment assets: PHRER LIRS
Addition of property, plant and equipment 0% - BERREAE 104,919 - 7240 842 113,001
Addition of investment properties REMFAE - 210,937 - - 210,937
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE - BERRENE 8,991 - 8,918 7442 25,351
Release of prepaid lease payments BAREMNTAR 435 - - - 435
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HE%1% « BERREFHE 871 - 269 - 1,140
Change of fair value of investment Properties REMEATES - 97610 - - 97610
Write-down on properties for sale AT SRR 309 - - - 309
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F1+ - A=+—HIFFZE

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. DEEFR(E)
Other information (continued) HapgER (8)
Year ended 31 December 2013
BE-E-—=5+-R=f-RI5E
Property Property
development  investment Others  Unallocated Total
NEER NERE HAh RAE S
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETE
Amounts included in the measure of ERGERS BT EE
segment profit or loss or segment assets: PHRER LIRS
Addition of property, plant and equipment NE - BE RREAE 9,257 - 3,669 23,699 36,625
Addition of investment properties RENERE - 439,178 - - 439,178
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE - BERRENE 4,838 - 14,131 14,932 33,901
Release of prepaid lease payments BAREMNTAR 69 - - - 69
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HE%1% « BERREFHE 380 - 3,005 - 3,385
Change of fair valug of investment properties REMEATES - 84,991 - - 84,991
Write-down on properties for sale AT SRR 24,645 - - - 24,645
Geographical information 1 BB

The Group’s operation and location of non-current assets are in
the PRC only.

Information about major customers
There is no individual customer who contributed over 10%

of the total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31
December 2014 and 2013.

AEBEEEBRIRDEE DL @R
R -

BT EEFHEF
REZE_ZE—NEER-_FT—=F+-A

=t BHIEFE #EENEFMEAR
EEAEEBEEB10% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

7. Other Income and Gains Hapug A & Uk EH

2014 2013
—E-lF —E—=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® T AREFT

Other income and gains comprises of: EMRA RS EE
Exchange gain G 2,838 37999
Bank interest income SRITHBUA 59,758 21,748

Dividend income from Al ERERBRA
available-for-sale investments 2,000 2,800
Other interest income E i F 2 A 8,130 16,663
Others (note) E At (F7E) 36,896 35,824
109,622 115,034

Note: BaE -

Others mainly represent the government subsidy received.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Finance Costs 8. BEMRAK
2014 2013
—E-mF —T—=%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Interest on: ATEIEOAE
Bank and other borrowings SRIT R EMIfE TR
— wholly repayable within five years — AR AFAREER 850,010 625,618
— not wholly repayable within five years —#HBRREFAZHEE 3,728 15,741
Senior notes (note 33) B (M7 33) 402,186 189,979
Amounts due to non-controlling FETHI B A B IEE AR AR SR FIE
shareholders of subsidiaries (note 27) (f¥zE27) 19,866 16,998
Total borrowing costs BEEX A B 1,275,790 848,336
Less: amounts capitalised to properties B BRI SR
under development for sale YEER LR R (1,210,635) (804,288)
65,155 44,048

Interest capitalised arose on the general borrowing pool of
the Group was calculated by applying a capitalisation rate
of approximately 10.01% (2013: 10.80%) per annum to
expenditure on the qualifying assets.

BRMEFBE T AASE BN — R IEREE
MEE  REBREENRZNERL
RAONFGEFEI001%(ZE—=F: §F
10.80% )& -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

Profit Before Tax 9. BRBiIAIEF
2014 2013
—E-mF —T—=%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR¥ETTT
Profit before tax has been arrived A AT A TR (GHA)
at after charging (crediting): AT EIB%EY
Auditors’ remuneration IZEET N & 3,800 3,680
Directors’ emoluments EE 11,679 13,306
Staff salaries = 297,828 226,448
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R {REFET {2k 13,811 10,342
Total staff costs BT ANMERE 323,318 250,096
Less: amounts capitalised to properties W BRI R
under development for sale BRI EE (58,082) (40,069)
265,236 210,027
Release of prepaid lease payments THERE AL 435 69
Depreciation of property, plant M - RE RERETTE
and equipment 25,351 33,901
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEMZE - BEMEREEE
and equipment 1,140 3,385
Rental expenses in respect of rented BELEHEE HEEFHSMX
premises under operating leases 8,869 7452
Gross rental income in respect of S B YA AR A S A
investment properties (70,822) (48,706)
Less: direct operating expenses B R EREERESRARN
from investment properties REMENEZLEHRAT
that generated rental income
during the year 21,181 16,583
(49,641) (32,123)
Write-down on properties for sale A4 W SEMOR 309 24,645
Exchange gain ERR G (2,838) (37999)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

10. Income Tax Expense

10. FrEBiRAY2

2014 2013
—E-lF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARETIT
Income tax expense recognised comprises of: B ERFTSHF X B4 :
Current tax: BNEATHIA
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") G ([SEETH]) 386,200 340,249
LAT T HbIEEF 304,956 192,701
691,156 532,950
Deferred tax (note 32) EIERTE (FI7E32) (25,383) (20,005)
Income tax expense for the year FRFERAY 665,773 512,945

Under the Law of the People’'s Republic of China on EIT (the
“EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

Under the Provisional Regulations of the People’'s Republic
of China on LAT (the “LAT Provisional Regulations”) and
Implementation Regulation of the LAT Provisional Regulations,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is levied at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including cost of land use rights and all property
development expenditures.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group's income
neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.

BEPEARIMBELEMEFA (D
EMBRED REEMRSEHEERKG
Bl FREMBARNHEE ST /\F
—H—H#%R25% °

RIEFE AR EME L IR ERE1TIE
B (T £ 3t 3B E R E 1T R 1) e £ 338 (E
RETIRGIE AR - KB A A&
T Tyt T (EE L E (B E WA
SRR RS (BIE T fE AR AR
RETEMHEZREMSX)) REBEI0N £
60% TNEFTE o

HRASEERALFRBBELENRE
£ BT BERGEVBERRAELEE
S HEME -
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10. Income Tax Expense (continued) 10.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the

profit before tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

FrisBis > ()

FANARIHAXEGAEE MR
M et R MRV ER AR AE AR AT

2014 2013
—E-mEF —T—=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Profit before tax BRI A& A 1,448,706 1,265,081
Tax charge at domestic tax rate of 25% RAH T 25% 5T EMTIES o 362,176 316,270
Tax effect of share of results of EIEE EREFRENNBE
joint ventures (2,291) 19
Tax effect of expenses not deductible DB AR E
for tax purpose 49,181 54,292
Tax effect of income that are not taxable ~— BEZRRUMARFIETLE
for tax purpose (1,384) (6,860)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTRIB BT S 2 16,472 17588
Utilisation of tax losses previously )R SE R R FERR A I 518
not recognised - (33,414)
LAT provision TR R 304,956 192,701
Tax effect of LAT T IR ER RS2 (76,239) (48,175)
Deferred tax effect of LAT on revaluation — EfE% &Y LB EF K
of investment properties RIEN IR 2 12,902 5,624
Deferred tax on undistributed earnings FR B0 B8 A B AR 7001k 24 8 B AR AT 5 TE
of PRC subsidiaries - 15,000
Income tax expense for the year FAMEHRXS 665,773 512,945

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’
Remuneration

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors and the

n.§$~igﬁﬁkéﬁﬁém

ENKENSEEREETRABNFH

chief executive were as follows: o T :
Salaries and Incentive  Share-based
Fees allowances bonus payments Total
(note)
URA R
e FeR2H RERAL BB AR &t
()
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR
Year ended 31 December 2014 ~ BE-B-ME+-A=+-HLEE
Executive director; g7ES
Guo ZiWen ElE'e - 2,284 210 - 2,554
Guo Zi Ning D= - 2,126 370 - 2,496
Xin Zhu IR
(resigned on 30 June 2014) (R=Z-mERA=THRE) - 1,026 - - 1,026
Yang Zhong B2 - 1,969 460 - 2,429
Zhong Ping &Y
(appointed on 30 June 2014) (R=F-MEXA=THEZA) - 1,772 258 424 2,454
Non-executive director: FHTES
Paul S. Wolansky RE o BRHTE - 47 - - 47
Independent non-executive director; BUFFH{TES :
Song Xian Zhong REH
(resigned on 28 February 2014) (A=B-—mE=A=+/\BEE) 26 - - - 26
Tsui King Fai reE 260 - - - 260
Cheung Kwok Keung SREl% 256 - - - 256
Hu Jiang L
(appointed on 28 February 2014)  (R=Z-MEZA-T/\REZ(T) 131 - - - 131
673 9,224 1,358 424 11,679
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’
Remuneration (continued)

M. EEL - FETHAERESH
€ (18)

Salaries and Incentive Share-based
Fees allowances bonus payments Total
(note) MAiktr &
ik Helozat SRR () b A At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEET ARBTTL ANEEFT AEBTT N S
Year ended 31 December 2013 BE-Z-—F+_A=T-HIEE
Executive director: yrES:
Guo ZiWen X - 2,316 800 = 3,116
Guo Zi Ning P - 2,156 800 - 2,956
Xin Zhu I - 1,996 800 - 2,796
Yang Zhong ok - 1,996 800 118 2,914
Non-executive director: FaTES:
W Jie Si RED
(resigned on 20 May 2013) (RZZ-=FRA-THEMA) - 333 - - 333
Paul S. Wolansky RE o BHHTR - 48 - - 48
Independent non-executive director: BUIFHTES :
Song Xian Zhong REH 184 - 9% = 280
Ma Kwai Yuen SHE
(resigned on 8 July 2013) (RZZ—=F+A\RET) 113 - 96 - 209
Tsui King Fai "5E 233 - % - 329
Cheung Kwok Keung RElR 229 - 9% - 325
759 8,845 3,584 118 13,306
Note: B eE -

The incentive bonus is determined as a percentage of the contract sales of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.

Mr. Guo Zi Ning is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his remuneration
disclosed above includes those for services rendered by him as the Chief
Executive.

No directors waive any emolument in the current year or the prior year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’
Remuneration (continued)

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2013: four) were executive directors and the Chief
Executive of the Company whose emoluments are included
in the disclosures in this note above. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2013: one) individual was as follows:

11.

EE  FRITHAERESH
% (&)

EEME

AEERESERTMALH =& (ZF
—=F : 1E) ARRRWTEERER
THRAE » BENMEE SN LA AR
g HEMA(ZTE—=F: —%) A
THMEST

2014 2013
—E—F —T—=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

Salaries and allowances e MoERL 6,530 2,500
The emoluments were within the following bands: FMEE N ¢

2014 2013

—E—UFE —E—=4F

No. of No. of

employees employees

EE%H =E24E
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 87T % 3,500,000 7T
(equivalent to RMB2,367,001 (FHER AR 2,367,001 T

to RMB2,761,000) AE#2,761,0007T) 1 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 77T & 5,500,000 78 7T
(equivalent to RMB3,945,001 (FEER AR 3,945,001 L=

to R\MIB4,339,000) AR 4,339,0007T) 1 =

During the year, no emolument was paid by the Group to any
of the directors or the five highest paid individuals (including
directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

FR - ANEEYEEABE TER
EXRRERSFMAL (BEEZRE
E)ERIMARR IMAREE R EE L
BERUR AVARIE o
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

170

final dividend RMB5.20 cents) per share

(ZF—=F:Z2F=F

12. Dividends 12. RE
2014 2013
—E-pmF —T=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Dividends, recognised as distribution IRE  BRBFANIK :
during the year:
2013 final - RMB8.0 cents (2013: 2012 “T-=FARP-BRARKS.0S

REARBEARE5205) 222,628 136,006
2012 special dividend-HK26 cents per share = — — S48 RIS - &A% 26 781 - 550,000
222,628 686,006

During the year ended 31 December 2014, a final dividend
of RMB8.0 cents per share in respect of the year ended 31
December 2013 (2013: RMB5.2 cents per share in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2012) was declared to the owners
of the Company. The aggregate amount of the final dividend
declared in the interim period amounting to RMB222,628,000
(2013: RMB136,006,000).

On 22 March 2013, the board of directors of the Company
declared a special dividend of HK$0.26 per share. Pursuant
to the circular issued by the Company dated 4 June 2013,
shareholders of the Company may elect to receive special
dividend in (i) a cash dividend of HK$0.26 per share; (ii) an
allotment of such number of shares of the Company credited
as fully paid equal to the total amount of special dividend which
such shareholders would otherwise be entitled to receive
in cash; or (iii) partly in cash and partly in shares. On 4 July
2013, dividend amounting to HK$412,063,000 (equivalent to
RMB336,592,000) was paid in cash and 163,095,000 shares
(equivalent to HK$267,966,000 or RMB213,408,000) were
allotted as share dividend.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2014 of RMB8.7 cents
per share has been proposed by the Board of Directors and
is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming
general meeting.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]

REBE-T—HWNF+_A=1+—BLF
E BRARAEBEATRBE=Z
—=F+-_A=+—HIEFEHREK
BERARKSD(ZZE—=F : plE=
T —E+_A=+—HILFESTK
BRAREDL27) - RAEHHEEEIRA
Hife B4R %E R AR 222,628,000 T (=
T—=%F : AR#¥136,006,0007T) °

R-_ZE—=F=A=+=H ' ARA&
Hes kREFIREEM0.267 T o RIEA
ARBHRAE-_T—=FANBTEZ
B AQEIREIREN)RESKRES
f20.268 7T ¢ (iNBL SR EFRIAR B85
(ZERRBHEARSIE) KRR FA
BRVIE R 2 BERARRMHEE 5 K (i) o
AR & M8 LARR AR W EREF B AR B o W
—E—=F+AMNA ' A%412,063,000
Bt (SR AR 336,592,000 7T) 2 i%
BURE T - ™49 163,095,000 A& A% 17
(HHE M %) 267,966,000 78 ok 49 A R #&
213,408,000 7T ) BL 3 AARE. ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B (A1)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[I4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

13. Earnings Per Share 13.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following

BRER

ARTRE ARG SRERRBERF
TR T BB & -

data:
2014 2013
—E-ME ZT—=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
Earnings EF| AR®T T ARETT
Earnings for the purposes of basic MERERRESER TN E/H8F -
and diluted earnings per share, BV R R E AL E R
being profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company 809,392 735,824
2014 2013
—E-MF —E—=fF
‘000 ‘000
Number of shares RHOEE TR T
Weighted average number of ordinary HERERBFM S KT RRK
shares for the purpose of basic TR H S
earnings per share 2,783,512 2,683,811
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: EiBAEI#E £
— Share options — IR fix i 59 1,383
Weighted average number of ordinary HEREERFM S H TR
shares for the purpose of diluted TR 5 S
earnings per share 2,783,571 2,685,194

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 has
accounted for the effect of those share options granted where
the exercise price of the options was lower than the average
market price of the Company’s shares.

HEEE-E—NE+-A=T—HK
—E—=FF+_A=+—HUEFEZE
IREEE R - e R EBARE 1T
BIERARARRGD 2 FHTE - BlFtA
ZEBRIE 2 B
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok 1 B s i M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZE —F—pU#E+—H=—+—HI F/ZF

14. Y% - BERRE

Hotel under Office Motor Leasehold
Buildings  development  equipment vehicles improvements Total
BFf  BETEE WARE RE  RENEEE &t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®Tn  ARETR AR%Tn  ARETR ARETn  ARETR
COST B
At 1 January 2013 R_E-=%-f-H 467040 - 53609 24,498 52,599 597746
Additions hE 18,009 - 8197 3965 6,454 36,625
Transfer from investment properties nder ~ ERAEZRENE (M3 16)

construction (note 16) - 40,186 - - - 40,186
Acquired on acquisition of e B ARG (Ha7)

subsidiaries (note 37) - - 20 - - 20
Disposals i - - (116) (529) (3,343) (3,988)
Disposals of a subsiiary HE—FNBAF (M3

(note 38) - - - (83) = (83)
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=E+ZA=1-A 485,049 40,186 61,710 27851 55,710 670,506
Additions hE 9,867 60,103 11480 24,394 7157 113,001
Disposals i (982) - (304) (573) - (1,859)
Disposals of a subsidiary HE— B AR (Hix3s) - - - (487) - (487)

(note 38)

At 31 December 2014 RZF-METZA=1-A 493,934 100,289 72,886 51,185 62,867 781,161
DEPRECIATION AND TERAE

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2013 R_E-=%-F-H 151,276 - 25315 17157 28172 221,920
Provided for the year EREfE 11577 - 11,852 1,920 8552 33901
Eliminated on disposals iR - - () (529) - (603)
Disposals of a subsidiary HE—FHNBAF (M)

(note 38) - - - (48) = 48)
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=£+ZA=1-A 162,853 - 37003 18,500 36,724 255,170
Provided for the year EREE 6,660 - 9,19 3,305 6,190 25,351
Eliminated on disposals iR (192) - (70) (457) - (719)
Disposals of a subsidiary L E—FHEAR (M3s) - - - (87) - (87)

(note 38)

At 31 December 2014 RZE-ME+ZA=1-A 169,321 - 46,219 21,261 42914 219,715
CARRYING VALUES EE

At 31 December 2014 RZE-ME+ZA=1-A 324,613 100,289 26,667 29,924 19,953 501,446
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=F+ZA=+-H 322,196 40,186 24,617 9,351 18,936 415,336

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [ B [ 3 3 45 B e 5 PR 23 7]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B (A1)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[I4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment except hotel
under development are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings Over the shorter of the relevant
lease term or 3%-5% per annum

Office equipment 3 to 5 years

Motor vehicles 3 to b years

Leasehold Over the shorter of relevant lease

improvements term or 3 to 5 years

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the management
of the Group performed a valuation on a hotel property which
is included in “Building” category of property, plant and
equipment, and impairment loss of RMB125,000,000 has
been made according to the excess of the aggregate carrying
amounts of the hotel property over the recoverable amount
which is determined as the fair value less costs to sell of this
hotel property. The fair value of the hotel property was arrived
at using a combination of land portion of the hotel which was
assessed by the market approach, and buildings and structures
portion which was assessed by depreciated replacement
cost approach (“DRC"). The market value of land portion was
referenced to the comparable land transactions in Guangzhou,
PRC. The DRC approach considers the current cost of
replacement (reproduction) of the buildings and improvements
less deductions for physical deterioration and all relevant
forms of obsolescence and optimization. The DRC approach
generally furnishes the most reliable indication of value for the
hotel property in the absence of a known market based on
comparable sales. With reference to the valuation of the hotel
property as at 31 December 2014 and financial results during
the year 31 December 2014, in the opinion of the management
of the Group, the carrying amount of hotel property
approximates to its recoverable amount and no impairment loss
was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2014 and
31 December 2013.

14. Y% - BERSE (&)

Lz - BER&E(ERPBEER
MQB&TW%#TE%E%ME@%&
T ERTE

B HEAHE Bk B F
3%-5% ZERE

NS == F4

/‘L$ Eiﬂfﬁ

HEMHEEE HEBEHSX==1F
ZEREE

REEZZT——F+A=+—HIEF
B AEBEEEESBERDE  WE

REFEF] BRI 2BEDZEED
GME - BEYE 2 BRERERE DA WE
SHE(ANBEMELAFEREEKA)F
R E BB A A R % 125,000,000 7T ©
BIEM 2 AT EE BB E LI D
FERAMSE  MEFREEWBSFH
WEEERNEGRAEE - LD
MBEEL2EFRBEEMNELR 2 T

SBE FEEERRNEZEREFR
%%2ﬁ%§§@§£ﬁ$vﬁ£%
EREERMEREEX 2RERE(L
E 230k o —B M S - ERRE &)
BhhmmBHEERZBRAT  ESH
BERAEARERASEBEMEEE
ﬁ%o@ﬁ@%%%%_?fm¢+_

A=t—HBzHEREE —MF
+fH:+—E¢¢§Z%%¥%'$
SEEEERAS BEMENEEES

HuE &8s AREE-_Z
F+-_A=+—HAk=_ZE—=F+=A8
= t+—BHILFEMERRETARERIE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

14.

15.

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

As at 31 December 2014, buildings of RMB260,801,000 (2013:
RMB264,702,000) were pledged for certain banking facilities
granted to the Group. All the buildings of the Group are situated
on leasehold land in the PRC under medium lease term.

Prepaid Lease Payments

The carrying amount of prepaid lease payments represents land
use rights held under medium-term lease in the PRC is analysed
as follows:

14.

15.

Y - BB sk fe ()

HE-_Z-NHNE+-_A=+—0 Bt
REBAERE TRITEEMEFETF
H B A& A R¥260,801,0000( =%
— =% : AR%264,702,0007T) ° A&
BT A MM EEE - TR
HITHEHARRIF A -

RAAEEARK

BNHEERRREERRN T ERESH
HERBNLERRE - 2T

2014 2013

—ZT-NF =P

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREETFIT

Non-current asset ERENEE 15,809 167,527
Current asset MENEE 435 415
16,244 167942

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group
transferred a parcel of land situated at Guangzhou, China with
carrying amount of RMB 151,955,000 to Guangzhou Baoao Real
Estate Development Limited, one of the Group’s joint venture
at its carrying amount. The fair value of the parcel of land at the
date of transfer was approximate to the book value.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]

REBEE_Z—WF+_A=+—HIF
B ASBEZREAERAET —MHaEh
¥EMNREEHERZEBR A REREMN
RAEBEEMNTRH—ELH - REEAA
R ¥ 151,955,000 7T ° 7z & - pA 8% B
HM AT EHEEREERS -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (7))

For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[I4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

16. Investment Properties

16. REWHE

Completed Investment
investment properties under
properties construction Total
ERTREMHE EEREMF Rt
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARET R ARBTR
At 1 January 2013 RZE—=F—F—H 1,763,540 185,894 1,949,434
Additions NE 90,949 348,229 439,178
Transfer to completed BREERTRENS
investment properties 59,883 (59,883) =
Transfer to hotel under BRETRAE (FF14)
development (note 14) - (40,186) (40,186)
Transfer to prepaid lease ERERNBENT(FFE15)
payments (note 15) - (12,866) (12,866)
Disposals HE (1,152) - (1,162)
Net change in fair value recognised in ERGEERRANEAKERR
the consolidated statement of profit or ROATEEHFE
loss and other comprehensive income 29,859 55,132 84,991
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=F+_A=1-H 1,943,079 476,320 2,419,399
Additions NE 1,361 209,576 210,937
Net change in fair value recognised in ERGEERR AN EAKERA
the consolidated statement of profitor BRI AT ELZHFE
loss and other comprehensive income 8,059 89,551 97,610
At 31 December 2014 RZZ-MFE+-A=+-H 1,952,499 775,447 2,727,946
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16. Investment Properties (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

16. REWX (&)

The carrying value of investment properties shown above LR EYERNREERRE
comprises:
2014 2013
—E-mF —T—=%
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEFTT
Properties situated on land with URAFBREL THERE
land use rights in the PRC {5 AR RO ) 3
— under long lease —REHEE 149,900 145,400
— under medium lease — R EITE 2,578,046 2,273,999
2,727946 2,419,399

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

At 31 December 2014, investment properties of
RMB1,251,563,000 (2013: RMB1,184,572,000) were pledged
to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

The fair values of investment properties under construction and
completed investment properties at 31 December 2014 and
2013 were determined by reference to valuations carried out
by American Appraisal China Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Group. The fair
values of the investment properties were determined by the
valuer on the following basis:

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]

BEASERKEHERERIES R
BEEAZENYEEn  DERARYF
BERIVABIDBRARINSREDE -

R-ZE—NE+—_A=+—H A5H
SR AR#1,251,663,00070( —F—=
& AR¥1,184,572,0007T) K% E ¥
¥ UESETASENETRITEE -

ERREMENCEBTIRENER T
—NEE—ZFT—Z=F+-_A=+—80H
AEE D2ERAEERERENE
VEBREEGEEMERTE(RR)A
FRARIMGEEMETE ° HEMIZR TS
EEETREMENATE :



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (7))

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

16. Investment Properties (continued)

Completed — by reference to capitalised income
investment to be derived from the existing
properties tenancies and the reversionary

income potential of the properties
or, where appropriate, by reference
to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties in the
same locations and conditions

Investment — by reference to the current or recent
properties prices of investment properties
under and estimated costs to completion
construction based on construction budget,

committed contracts, allowances for
contingencies as well as developer’s
profit margin, which reflect the risks
associated with the completion of
the development of the properties
and in achieving the anticipated
income or capital appreciation on the
date of valuation

The following tables give information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation technigues and inputs used), as well as the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

16. REWX (&)

BRTHRE - 2ZTKHRNAHEE
UES ERERCRARY)

EWEBRWAE N
(HBEE) BRRER
BRI E R & a9 2R
UMEZRX S ERE
MEEER

A — 2EREVENEN

E s 3T BB 45 A 2 AR &
IREE BERE
# - EFEEEN
REREAFRAE
ML RIER K
PR A % (E B A 22 S AK
YR R ER BT
A sk & A EE R
)N

TRINEBRIAEEZFREVER
FEMNER (LREHERTDRABEA
2UB) U RRIB R T EFTER A AR
MABREEREN A EFEMBR
TEER(F1REEIR) -
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At 31 December 2014

16. Investment Properties (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

16. REWX (&)

R-ZE—MNUE+=-A=+—H

Investment properties Fairvalue  Fairvalue Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 hierarchy ~ and key inputs (relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value) average)
AT EXTIEEEANE L]
AEERANRENR ARETR  DTESR RERORFIZBAE (FUEREARBREATENEE) (IgTs56E)
Completed investment properties 1,791,859 Level 3 Direct comparison method and income 1. Term yield (the higher the term yield, the lower ~ 4.1%-6.5%
capitalisation of the net income and the fair value)
made provisions for reversionary income
potential. Also reference to the market 2. Reversionary yield (the higher the reversionary ~ 4.6%-6.5%
observable transactions of similar yield, the lower the fair value)
properties.
3. Market unit rent (RMB/sgm) (the higher the 2662
market unit rent, the lower the fair value)
4. Market unit sales rate (RMB/sqm (the higher the  5,200-7350
market unit sales rate, the higher the fair valug)
BRTIRENS IR ERURARPRAMBARAL ¥R 1wl (EEksEs  ATEHE) 41%6.5%
BRERAENELER - REZRNDZ
AP LG ) GENE(ERNEEE  ATELE 46%65%
3. MRENBS(ARE/TAK)(THELRSE 266
& ATEHE)
4 TRENER(ARE/THR) 5,200-7350
(MR EENS  ATHEER)
Completed investment properties 160,640 Level2 Direct comparison method-based on ~ N/A NA
market observable transactions of similar
properties and adjusted to reflect the
conditions of the subject property.
ERIRENZ 220 ERUWE-BEAUMENTEUER  TER iR

25 SHELHBARBRONEORN «
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B (A1)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[I4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

16. Investment Properties (continued) 16. BREYHX (&)

At 31 December 2014 (continued) R-B-—RmE+=-A=+—H (&)
Investment properties Fairvalue  Fairvalue Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 hierarchy ~ and key inputs (relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value) average)

AR EVXL=EpN o #fE
AEERANRENF ARETR  DVESR RERORFIZBAE (FUEREARBRYNTENEE) (IgTs56E)
Investment properties under 345,000 Level3  Residual method-based on market 1 Contingency (the higher the contingency, the  75%
construction observable transactions of similar lower the fair value)

properties and taken into account the
construction costs that will be expendedto 2. Developer's profit (the higher the developer's  14%-20%
complete the development. profit, the lower the fair value)

3. Marketing costs (the higher the marketing costs, 3%
the lower the fair value)

4. Future construction costs for completion (the ~ N/A
higher the construction costs, the lower the fair
value)
EERENE 23R BEE-BEEUNFOTSUERR 1 AAPAEEEEER ATEER) 75%
7 TERTRRE S EEIER -
2 BRERN (BREENES  ATELE) 14%-20%

3 ERER(SHERES ATEER) 3%
4 TRREHRRBIER(GEIERES ATE 7EF
)
Investment properties under 430,447 Level3  Direct comparison method-based on  Market unit sales rate (RMB/sqm) (the higher the ~ 376-7470
construction market observable transactions of similar  market unit sales rate, the higher the fair value)

lands and adjusted to reflect the conditions
of the subject lands.
ERMRE-RERNU BT ETER

ERRENZ [
25 UELEBARBEN LR . AVES

316-1470

3
S.A)
=5
]nr

EB(ARS,/F%) (FEBLERLR
)

2,727946
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #F —F—N#+—H=—+—HI-FE

16. REWX (&)

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2013 R-_ZE—=F+—-_A=+—H
Investment properties Fairvalue  Fairvalue Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 hierarchy ~ and key inputs (relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value) average)
AT EXTIEEEANE L]
AEERANRENR ARETR  DTESR RERORFIZBAE (FUEREARBREATENEE) (IgTs56E)
Completed investment properties 1,785,139 Level 3 Direct comparison method and income Term yield (the higher the term yield, the lower — 3%-7%
capitalisation of the net income and the fair value)
made provisions for reversionary income
potential. Also reference to the market Reversionary yield (the higher the reversionary ~ 6.6%-275%
observable transactions of similar yield, the lower the fair value)
properties.
3. Market unit rent (RMB/sqm) (the higher the 1845
market unit rent, the lower the fair value)
4. Market unit sales rate (RMB/sqm (the higher the 900-26,800
market unit sales rate, the higher the fair valug)
ERIRENZ 3R ERUBARFUAMBARAL  WE 1 ERRE(ERMGER ATEER) 3%-7%
BRERAENELER - FEZRNNZ
IR ° 2. GRS (ERRELS  ATEEE) 6.5%-275%
3. MAELBE(ARE/THR)(TRELESE 1845
& ATEHE)
4, TRENER(ARE/TAR)(THELEEE 90026800
& AT{EER)
Completed investment properties 157940 Level2 Direct comparison method-based on  N/A NA
market observable transactions of similar
properties and adjusted to reflect the
conditions of the subject property.
ERIRENZ 220 ERUWE-BEAUMENTEUER  TER i

25 PHELHBARBRONEGRN «
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

At 31 December 2013 (continued)

ok T B 285 A P

(#)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[I4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

16. Investment Properties (continued)

16. REWX (&)

RZEBE—=F+=-RA=+—H (&)

Investment properties Fairvalue  Fairvalue Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 hierarchy ~ and key inputs (relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value) average)
AT EXTIEEENNE L]
AEERANRENF ARETR  DVESR RERORFIZBAE (FUEREARBRYNTENEE) (IgTs56E)
Investment properties under 70,500 Level3  Residual method-based on market 1. Contingency (the higher the contingency, the 75%
construction observable transactions of similar lower the fair value)
properties and taken into account the
construction costs that will be expendedto 2. Developer's profit (the higher the developer's 156%-20%
complete the development. profit, the lower the fair value)
3. Marketing costs (the higher the marketing costs, 3%
the lower the fair value)
4. Future construction costs for completion (the NA
higher the construction costs, the lower the fair
value)
ERRENE IR BEE-BEEUNEOTSUERR 1. AAPAEEEER ATEER) 75%
5 VERTRRERENRIER «
2. EERBEN(AREENES  ATESE) 15%-20%
3 EHER(SHERES ATEER) 3%
4 TRREHRRBIER(GEIERES ATE FEF
#fE)
Investment properties under 405,820 Level3  Direct comparison method-based on  Market unit sales rate (RMB/sqm) (the higher the ~ 376-5,580
construction market observable transactions of similar  market unit sales rate, the higher the fair value)
lands and adjusted to reflect the conditions
of the subject lands.
ERRENE 30 ERURE-BEENIHROTAVEE THRENEE(ARE/TAR) (TAELEEESR - 3765580
25 GELBEARBENTIARE . ATEER)
2,419,399
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

17. Interests in Joint Ventures

17. REELENKRE

2014 2013
—E-mF —F—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TFR ARBTT

Unlisted cost of investment

Share of post acquisition profit (loss) and

other comprehensive income (expense)

FEEMRERA
e WB R E N (B51R)
K E A2 et (Fs)

Details of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the reporting

53,892 5,000
9,086 (75)
62,978 4,925

REEBR SRR AREBTA SN E

period are as follow: =y N
Place of
incorporation/ Proportion of
principal place register capital Register capital
Name of entity of operation held by the Group RMB Principal activity
HRAL/ EfEA
BRER TEEXE AEEfEAEMEALA ARH TEEH
2014 2013 2014 2013
“E-mE %= “E-PmE  —T-=F
Guangzhou Baoao Real Estate PRC 50% 50% 10,000 10,000 Property development
Development Limited
("Guangzhou Baoao”)
BMREEHEREERAR ([EMRE]) t WELR
Jiangmen Pengjiang Baishi PRC 51% N/A 100,000 100,000 Property development
Yonghao Property Development
Company Limited (“Baishi Yonghao")
IFmEIREAKEHEREERAR
(rahxEl) el &R MELR

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (7))

For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[I4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

17. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's

. REEEENKRE (&)

AEERGECRNES 2 HBM KR

interests in joint ventures are set out below: BIEBR T -
Guangzhou Baoao 2014 2013
EIIRE —E—EF — =&
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREFT
Current assets MENEEE 14,611 10,001
Non-current assets EmENEE 340,409 =
Current liabilities mENEE 310,311 152
Non-current liabilities EREEE 8,984 =
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive s (B8 RE2mEBA (Fx)
income (expense) 4% 25,876 (150)
Baishi Yonghao 2014 2013
H K —E—OF TR
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®F T AREETFIT
Current assets MENE EE 1,766,840 1,782,740
Non-current assets EmENEE 4,146 2,006
Current liabilities mENAE 1,284,207 1,291,198
Non-current liabilities B TEN=R 400,000 400,000
Loss and total comprehensive expense EERkEEFT B (7.404) (4,768)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—MF+—-A=+—HIFFE

18.

19.

Available-For-Sale Investment

The Group holds 10% equity interest in an unlisted entity
established in the PRC, [LI7KEXH (L EZ B R AR (“Shanshui
Scenery Culture Co Ltd."”), at a cash consideration of
RMB25,000,000.

It is measured at cost less impairment at the end of the period
as the fair value cannot be measured reliably.

Amount Due from a Joint Venture

The balance of RMB 151,955,000 (31 December 2013: nil) is due
from a joint venture, Guangzhou Baoao, an entity established
in the PRC, which is jointly controlled by the Company and
Guangdong Poly Real Estate Development Limited.

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and used for the joint
venture's properties development, so it will not be repaid in one
year.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]

18.

19.

AHEERE

zkﬁl%ﬁ—ﬁwqﬂ BIRKS MFEETE

BEILIKBRE(EEERRARA10% 8%
Zﬁﬁéﬁﬁ IR e R E A ARE 25000000
7TEO

%A B 7 RS AR A R R A AR SR
B8 - REARERATETRAISENE -

FEl —BaEhEREA

Y —HAErEEMNRRBOBELA

R# 151,955,000 (= —=%+=AH

=+—H : £) BMRERP BRI -

Ehﬁf‘ﬂ&ﬁ%ﬁﬂ)%iﬁﬁﬁ%éﬁﬁﬁﬂ
FHEZE] o

AL ERR  REMARAERE
MYEER A TER—FREE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

20. Properties for Sale

20. TJEHEE

2014 2013
—F-MF T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT

Properties for sale comprise of: AIHSHEMEBIE
Completed properties BRI 4,468,268 3,391,226
Properties under development BERPYE 20,478,560 16,046,012
24,946,828 19,437238

Included in the amount are properties under development
for sale of RMB4,733,500,000 (2013: RMB4,475,600,000) in
relation to property development projects that are expected to
complete after one year from the end of the reporting periods.

At 31 December 2014, certain of the Group’'s properties
for sale with carrying value of RMB5,917,991,000 (2013:
RMB1,706,024,000) were pledged for certain banking facilities
granted to the Group.

HEABEIHEESEERYEARE
4,733,500,000 T ( ZE—=F: AR
4,475,600,000 7T ) FEEAS iR R a5 HAAE SR —

FIRIEMX

R-Z—mE+-A=+—H A&EH
BREE A ARES5,917991,000 L (=&
—=4: AR#¥1,706,024,0007T) V& T
AREENEDRAERASEERS TR

1TRVE Ry -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

21. Deposits Paid for Acquisition of Land Use
Rights

The deposits paid for acquisition of land use right consists of:

21.

BB L EAEE N

B ERREE NS RE

2014 2013
—E—MF —2—=F

NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000

Ktat AR%TR AREEFTT

Zhuzhou Land 0 Vi i (i) - 50,000
Chongging Land BELH (ii) - 970,000
Yingde Land B (iii) - 43,890
- 1,063,890

On 29 November 2012, the Group entered into an
agreement to acquire three parcels of land situated
in Zhuzhou, the PRC, at a cash consideration of
RMB746,250,000 through public auction. Upon obtaining
of land use right certificates of two parcels of land, the
consideration paid for acquisition of these land use rights
of RMB335,660,000 was then transferred to properties
under development for sale during the year ended 31
December 2013. The consideration for the remaining
one parcel of land amounting to RMB410,590,000 and
RMB50,000,000 has been paid by the Group as deposit
as at the year ended 31 December 2013. Upon paying
an additional RMB360,590,000 by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group obtained
the land use right certificates of aforesaid land. As the
land was intended to be developed as properties for
sale, accordingly, the deposits paid was transferred to
properties under development for sale during the year
ended 31 December 2014.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]

RZE——F+—A=+hnB"
AEBFZ—hE E8A
AHEFARESREARE
746,250,000 7T 4 i A7 72 AR B AR M
B =18 T 3b o PAEVS MR IE Ay 1=
HE FAEER - EZSE L
AEE TR E AR 335,660,000
TERHBEE-_ZT—=ZF+=_A7
—t+—HALtFEEEAHEER
BYE - BE_ET—=+—_A4
=+—HIEFE BT RELiR
8 AR ¥ 410,590,000 7T * 1M AN 5
E 2 X 1 A R #50,000,000 7T {E
BElE c AEEEREE-Z—
F+-A=+—BILFEZMEEI
A R #:360,590,000 T % © & EL 1S
Bt b O AR B8 - S P AERE -
Rz TR EUHEEE - B
o BE=T—mF+=-—A=+—
BItFEEMNEI&EEBEA (i
EEEWE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

21. Deposits Paid for Acquisition of Land Use
Rights (continued)

(ii)

(iif)

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the
Group entered into an agreement to acquire a parcel
of land situated in Chongging, the PRC, at a cash
consideration of RMB970,000,000 through public
auction. As at 31 December 2013, the Group has fully
paid RMB970,000,000 for this parcel of land situated in
Chongging. However, the Group has not yet obtained
the land use right certificate. Accordingly, the amount
paid was classified as deposit paid. The Group obtained
the land use right certificates of aforesaid land. As the
land was intended to be developed as properties for
sale, accordingly, the deposits paid was transferred to
properties under development for sale during the year
ended 31 December 2014.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group
entered into an agreement to acquire eight parcels of
lands situated in Yingde Qingyuan, the PRC, at a cash
consideration of RMB219,350,000 through public auction.
The Group has paid RMB43,890,000 as deposits during
the year ended 31 December 2013. However, the Group
has not yet obtained the land use right certificate.
Accordingly, the amount paid was classified as deposit
paid as at 31 December 2013. Upon paying an additional
RMB175,460,000 by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2014, the Group obtained the land use right
certificates of aforesaid land. As the land was intended
to be developed as properties for sale, accordingly,
the deposits paid was transferred to properties under
development for sale during the year ended 31 December
2014.

21. B L EREE NS

(&)

(ii)

(iii)

Annual Report 2014 —

REBEE—ZT—=F+=A=+—H
IEFE  ARER L — D &
BARBEARNRASREARE
970,000,000 7T 4 5 iz 7A P B &
W—iELi e R=ZFE—=F+=A4
=+—HB ' AEEEHZEMLNE
B ) & #1371 A R # 970,000,000
TC © ST+ AN B E RERTS T
R#ERE - At - ENEBBERE
fiEE - AEERYS L+ #H A 4R
BT AR 2% - AR T
BRERMEUBHEE Bt - 8=

—E+=—A=+—HILFE
BRI EHEE HEEEED
% o

REEZZT—=F+=-A=+—H
WHFE - AREF LG % &
BARBEIANERREREAR
#& 219,350,000 T Y i 12 78 R B S
BREEMHNRL - AEBERE
2T =F+-_A=+—HIHF
g B X A R # 43,890,000 7t 1E
BEE o AW - AEBEHAKRERS LT
mﬁ%%ﬁolm-aﬁﬁﬁ%:

—=F+=-—A=+—H2EAE
Hﬂ&o$%l%@i_?—m¢
+ZA=+—HALLFEXFEINA
R # 175,460,000 7014 © E S £
it &R R L i AR o B
ZIHBRERMEABHEE  F
- BE_T-—WOF+A=+—
HIEFEEMI B EBBE
EEEME -

—PAEAE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # % —=F

22. Trade and Other Receivables

—HFEF—A=1—HIFE

22. E5 Kk EHMEWR

2014 2013
—EB-lEF —E—=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARETTT
Trade receivables (i) B S UK () 158,128 169,096
Rental receivables TS EUGRIE 39,584 40,606
Other receivables (i) HAth & LUK I (i) 411,124 317,865
Advances to constructors and suppliers iﬁ?¥<%ﬁ&f tFE RS SIH 57,505 82,121
Deposits paid to respective local FiEFIEH N ERBHES ST
governments for granting the BRI E T 2 7] &
rights to purchase land by auction 506,393 201,900
Deposits paid to purchase FEBE A EYEEMETE (i)
properties for sale (iii) 300,000
Other tax prepayments HAFEIETE K 376,424 251,927
1,849,158 1,063,515
The following is the aged analysis of trade receivables T AEBRBEINYEREERRE A
determined based on the date of the properties delivered and TEHE ZERMERER DT ¢
sales were recognised:
2014 2013
—EB-IF —E-=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETTT
0 to 60 days 0£60H 71,910 84,437
61 to 180 days 61 %180 H 29,307 79,101
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 16,417 1,971
1 to 2 years 12z 2% 37,243 -
2 to 3 years 25 34 - 88
Over 3 years A3 F 3,251 3,499
158,128 169,096

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 B2 5] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A 7]




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[4#+ —HA=+—HIFFE

22. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iif)

Trade receivables mainly represent receivable from
properties buyers for mortgage sale of properties
amounting to RMB49,095,000 (2013: RMB60,278,000).
The average credit period on sale of properties is 60
days. Impairment on trade receivables are provided for
based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale
of properties, determined by reference to past default
experience. Considerations under pre-sale contracts will
be fully received prior to the delivery of the ownership
certificate of the properties to the purchasers.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the
Group considers any change in the credit quality of the
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted
up to the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2014, there were RMB40,494,000
(2013: RMB3,587,000) receivable aged more than 1 year
that were past due but not impaired. The management
of the Company is of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary in respect of these receivables
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality
and amounts are still considered recoverable based on
historical experience. The concentration of credit risk
in the remaining trade receivables is limited due to the
customer base being large and unrelated.

As at 31 December 2014, included in the other receivables
is deposit paid to J& N i % fe (5 22 e 1 22 e 1L [ S BB A
#t (“Luogang Business Association”) and &/ T EEER
EAMB AT ("Yijing Investment”) of RMB100,000,000
(2013: RMB90,000,000) for the property project carried
out by BINZERFEHERZEAR AR (“Luo Ao Real Estate
Development”), a subsidiary indirectly owned by the
Company, details refer to note 31.

As at 31 December 2014, the balance represented deposit
paid to a court of RMB300,000,000 (2013: Nil) for potential
acquisition of a property project under development
for sale upon the agreement entered. The amounts will
be fully refundable if the Group could not acquire the

property.

22. ESREMEWR

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Annual Report 2014 —

(%)

B RUGKERIEER Y RIZBIHE
FEW 2 B R AR ¥ 49,095,000 7T
(ZZ—=%F: AK%¥60,278,000
TO)ZHIE - MEHENTFHEE
Hi760 B - BRI ABETIR
BE2ERERBNKEREBE CWEH
B2 EFT AW E S B R
BERHNZRERRNYENFREE
ERXMNEFFI2HEE -

REETE & 5 UK 2 AT I @ 1R -
AEEEEEARVKLEENA
Wt ERE MR IEE S EUKE
SE=NERES -

RZE—NF+=—A=+—H"

BRIRER—F 2RI BARE
40,494,000 (ZF—=F: AR
%3,587,00073) B # HA 18 37 & R
e LK iiw% E#WEZX

H*E%Fﬂ&ﬁﬁ*m??ﬁ(%ﬁm%&ﬁﬁ

AIYRE - A AL % ARG

RRERE HNEFPEHEKRA

j’[ﬁﬁﬁ@ BRIGE 5 RUHR 2 E
EXTRBRAR

R-ZE—WME+—_A=+—0 " H
1th B U SR TE B FE B AR A B AY R B
BRAREMNZEREMERERRA
A([ZEREMERZE ) METY
XIEE mME N EMN T MR M
%ﬁﬁ&%@ﬁéﬁﬁ%mﬁ&m

%éﬁD&FMmﬁkﬁéﬁ

TﬁﬁkhﬁnmJﬁAE
%10000000071(_f—:
AR #90,000,0007T) * =£15 %W
MIEE3T ©

R-ZE—WME+—_A=+—0 " &
EARIBE ] st rl s B e a]
HIHETEWFEIER mEN TAR
#5T% AR ¥ 300,000,000 7T (==
—=F:|) MAKERBWE
BEWE  BEFESEZEERE -

—PAEAE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

23.

24,

Amounts Due From Non-Controlling
Shareholders of Subsidiaries

Except for an amount due from a non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary of RMB2,980,000 (2013: Nil) as at 31 December
2014 which is unsecured, carries interest at rate of 22%
per annum and is repayable by 30 June 2015, the remaining
amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The Group is expected to receive the entire balance within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

An amount due from the non-controlling shareholder of Baishi
Yonghao of RMB100,000,000 as at 31 December 2013 carrying
interest at rate of 12% per annum had been derecognised at the
consolidated financial statements of the Group because Baishi
Yonghao was reclassified from a subsidiary to a joint venture
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2014, details
refer to note 38.

Amounts Due From Related Parties

As at 31 December 2014, the balance of RMB196,582,000
(2013: RMB143,057.000) is due from a related party, &)1 AE
FEHbEFZE AR A 7(" Zhuzhou Tianjun Properties Development
Company Ltd."), an entity established in the PRC, which is
controlled by Mr. Feng Yuanzheng and Mr. Hu Ran, who are
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries. The amount is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The balance at 31 December 2013 of RMB21,056,000 was
due from a related party, JTFiThm &K EEFR AR, which is
the holding company of a non-controlling shareholder of Baishi
Yonghao. As at year ended 31 December 2014, the amount had
been derecognised at the consolidated financial statements
of the Group because Baishi Yonghao was reclassified from a
subsidiary to a joint venture of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2014, details refer to note 38.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 B2 5] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A 7]

23.

24.

FEUR B 2 B) 2 R4 IR IR SR K
|

BR-ZE—ME+-A=1+—HREK—
B AR — IR EHIBARE
2,980,000 7T AR « 1R 22% 2 FF) =X
HE WERZZE—REASA=THA
BRI HHRFBRAEER  RERA
RERIGEER - NEBEHR KSR
+ =18 A RUEZ =B FRIE -

R-_ZE—=F+-_A=+—HEKBA
AXOR8 FE 12 B AR 3R 5118 A R 6 100,000,000
ToiR12% 2 FMEGFE - BRBEANKE
EREE-ZT—WNF+=-A=+—H1t
FEANBARENBAREN»EAE
B BERERE P BRERIIBRER
BRAFERE2HMIEESS -

FEUWR BRI A R FIH

RZZE—MNF+ZA=+—H BEA
R¥196,582,000L(=ZZE—=F: AR
#$143,057,000 7T ) Ty fE W — B BEE A &)
T RESE HERZE AR A R (A E
R E RS - Bk B AR SEERAR RS
RAESCE R BB ST AR BUB - &85
AEER - BB RANERIER -

R-ZE—Z=F+-_A=+—HWNHBEA
R ¥ 21,056,000 7T J5 f& Uk — fE BE 4=
I MaEREEBRARIA - %
AIARBANKE—REERBRENZERA
Al HET—MNE+=-A=+—HL
FE  ZEECAEENGES M BHRE
SRR DTARBEE_T—HF+=
A=+—HLEFEBAKBEER_E
—NEFRNEAEENB AR ENHE
REEDRE  BHEFER2MMESS -

B>

J



25.

26.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F 1+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Restricted Bank Deposits/Bank Balances 25. ZREBITER RITEHK
and Cash RE
Restricted bank deposits ZREIRITER
As at 31 December 2014, the deposits amounting to RMB R-ZZE—WNE+-_A=+—"8 ' #EHEA
2,863,254,000 (2013: RMB1,658,730,000) are restricted for the [£2,863,254,0007t(—F—=% : AR¥
payments to the construction contractors, which carry interest 1,658,730,0007T ) Z 17 5112 R FA P Al j
at variable rate of 0.35% (2013: 0.35%) per annum, and will be X AFHIE - REFBFEFE03B% (=ZF
released upon the completion of the development of properties. —=%F :035%)FT B WHEREERE
The remaining deposits were pledged for short term loan THRETRRER - HATERD THEM
facilities granted by banks and carry interest at variable interest BHESRTEHNESHEERE - WIR)F
rates ranging from 2.35% to 4.8% (2013: 1.7% to 2.1%) per EFFE235% E48%TE(ZE—=
annum. F17%E21%) °
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRAS
The bank balances carry interest at variable rate with an average 2 EF G B RIRTTA R T F F &
interest rate of 0.35% (2013: 0.35%) per annum. £035% (ZF—=4F :0.35%) °
Trade and Other Payables 26. ESRHMEMRNRK
2014 2013
—E-MF —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Trade payables =) ANE 2,651,337 2,355,170
Other payables Hoith fE - 5KIR 816,837 557036
Other taxes payables H At ET 7718 33,118 40,316
3,501,292 2,952,522

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding
for payments to constructors and purchases of construction
materials. The average credit period for trade purchases is
from 6 months to 1 year. The management closely monitors
the payments of the payable to ensure that all payables are
paid within the credit timeframe. Details of the financial risk
management polices by the Group are set out in note 36.

BHRMNREEBRE AR A R
B R IR B il 2R S A BR R 1 SR R RO R
B BZRENTHAEERANEAZR
—F ERETUEREMNRENX
- BERMEERMNREREERHAZ
- REEFHERREERRZFHH
TAPEES6
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26. Trade and Other Payables (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables determined
based on the invoice date:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

26. E5 RHEMEAR ()

NTRBREZZEHETNESEMNN
HIRRER AT

2014 2013

—B-lF —E-=fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETTT

0 to 60 days 0260H 951,261 1,052,076
61 to 180 days 612180 H 392,202 576,594
181 to 365 days 181 %365 H 466,283 311,033
1to 2 years 1E:24F 612,029 279,103
2 to 3 years 2E3F 118,935 98,657
Over 3 years BB 3 F 110,627 37707
2,651,337 2,355,170

At 31 December 2014, the balance of trade payables with
age over 1 year include retention money of RMB617,667,000
(2013: RMB237,750,000) to the sub-contractors of property
development projects, which relates to 5% to 10% of the
contract prices.

According to the construction contracts, the retention money is
interest-free and would be paid to the sub-contractors in 1 to 3
years upon completion of development of the properties.

Included in other payables is: (i) an interest-free balance of
RMB1,302,000 (2013: RMB6,059,000) payable to a former non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary acquired in 2011 and
is expected to be settled within a year; and (ii) a balance of
RMB340,691,000 (2013: Nil) payable to Yijing Investment, a co-
founder of Luo Ao Real Estate Development, a subsidiary of the
Group. The property project undertaken by Luo Ao Real Estate
Development commenced its pre-sale during the year ended 31
December 2014 and the Group had received on behalf of Yijing
Investment, details refer to note 31. The remaining balances of
other payable mainly represent deposits received, payable for
staff salaries, staff welfare and operating expenses.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]

R-Z—mME+—-A=+—8 " E#KS
—FHNEZRENREHBIERN Y
EREBES>PEANEEREFEARE
617,667,000 ( —E—=F: AR
237,750,0007T) + BAE £)EIEE5% E£10%
B -

RIFEZEAKN HERZTARE I
HRTERMEFELE 1 EIFRINT
DER °

H i A SRIEBIE ¢ () AR 1,302,000
T(ZE—=%F : AR%¥6,059,0007T)#Y
REEH  BENTFTHRZ=ZZ——FUWE
B — M B A R M — B R AR IR
BTN —FAEE : R)ENAEE—
5 B /B A B 22 B8 5 1th 72 A 3% 0 2L (R Al
A AR 3R 1% & FOIE A R # 340,691,000
T(ZE—=F: ) BHEREHER
BHEOYEBEERBE-S—NF
T A=+—HLEFEARABEE M
AEBERREREERK - BEFS
E2HMES c BT EAENZIELS
BREZEEDWITE  ENEIFHFE B
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28.

29.

30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Amounts Due to Non-Controlling
Shareholders of Subsidiaries

Except for an amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of
subsidiaries of RMB44,000,000 (2013: RMB44,000,000) is
unsecured, interest bearing at 20% per annum and repayable
on demand, the remaining balances are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Amount Due to a Related Party

The balance represents an amount due to Zhuzhou Tianjun
Properties Development Company Ltd., an entity established in
the PRC which is controlled by the non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Amount Due to a Joint Venture

The balance represents an amount due to Baishi Yonghao which
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Bank and Other Borrowings

27. BASHIE ARz FFERIRRK
75

B FE < BT /B A R B — B FE I IR AR SR Sk IE
AR 44,000,000t (Z2—=F : AR
#44,000,0007T ) A EE A - R EF X
20%EHE - WAREREEEI - 8858
AEER . R ERERERKFER -

28. FE{T—EEEERRFIE
SIS FE RN T RS AR B A R
AT (RPBIR I MERE - B EARE

ERRIRR R ) 2 FIR o ZERIAER
- RERARERKEE -

29. Et—HEEa&EERE

BRESRERNBAXERIE  REE
- REREARBERKEE -

30. SR1TKREAbERK

2014 2013
—E-mF =%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT

The bank and other borrowings comprise: #8717 & H M EREHE
RMB bank borrowings ARBIRITER 6,493,320 6,947708
HKD bank borrowings PETCERITE K 435,755 803,045
USD bank borrowings EITIRITE R 196,909 =
RMB other borrowings (Note) AR EABEFR (FIEE) 1,114,321 402,524
8,240,305 8,153,277
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30. Bank and Other Borrowings (continued)

Note:

Other borrowings amounting to RMB800,000,000 (2013: nil) represent loans
provided by certain trust companies, which are secured by properties for sale,
carry interest at the fixed rate of 9.5% to 9.73% (2013: nil) per annum. The loan
balances as at 31 December 2014 will be fully repaid within 2016. The remaining
balance of other borrowings represented a loan from an independent third party.

On 3 September 2013, the Group entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”)
with an entity established in the PRC, which was an independent third party.
According to the Agreement, the independent third party injected cash of
RMB30,000,000 in B/ RERZEZEREABR A (“Guangzhou Aoyuan”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company established in the PRC which principally
engaged in the property development. The Group held 90.91% enlarged equity
interest in the Guangzhou Aoyuan after the completion of capital injection while
the independent third party held 9.09% enlarged equity interest in the Guangzhou
Aoyuan. In addition, the independent third party provided (i) a shareholder loan
amounting to RMB270,000,000 which is secured and interest-free and (ii) an
entrusted loan amounting to RMB100,000,000 which is secured, bears fixed-
interest rate of 13.6% per annum and is repayable on 30 September 2015.

According to the Agreement, if the Group could not meet any of certain
specific conditions set out in the Agreement, the Group shall acquire back the
9.09% equity interest in the subsidiary held by the independent third party
by repaying the aggregate principal amount of RMB400,000,000 contributed
by the independent third party with interest calculated at 8.8% per annum
on RMB300,000,000 and with interest calculated at 13.6% per annum on
RMB100,000,000 respectively. The executive directors based on the available
information assessed and considered that certain of these conditions are very
remote to meet, therefore the Group would likely have to acquire back 9.09%
equity interest from the independent third party by the end of transaction date as
specified in the Agreement.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the group had early repayment RMB
115,300,000.

Accordingly, the aggregate contribution by the independent third party of
RMB284,700,000 (2013: RMB400,000,000), which is the principal amount, is
classified as other borrowing with an embedded option to buy back the equity
interest. The option is embedded as a derivative and the executive directors
consider that the fair value of the derivative to be insignificant as at 31 December
2014. The balance of the borrowings was stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method at the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

30. SR1TKREAbER (&)

g

ABEARK 800,000,00070 (=T —=4F : &) KHAM
ERIEHRE T EERRIRHAERR « AR HHEmE
EEM » RABEFMEILG% E9.73% (=T —=
FE)FE - RZTE—HF+=—A=+—BHER
BREHENR T —NEARHEE - HERBREAR
BE—BBYE=HMER -

R-ZZE—=FNA=B FEEE—BRRBEKIZLH
BER(ABMYE=H)I—BE((ZHEl) - R
Bz BUS=HRENREREERERAF]
(TEMNRE]REFE ARYS0,000,0007T © FEME
BEAARRIRPBRKIHNZENRBAR - FEZREY
ER% - RIESIETRE - AEEREEENREL
BBHE290.91% @ MBMYE=H#HEEMNRERE
BB 9.09% © LA - BIE =T (i) MR
EIRHE R % B E AR 270,000,000 7T X (i) #E £ &
EER AR 100,000,000 7T © ZERBEEA - &
EEFFE13.6%:ME  WAR-ZT—RFNA=T

HIEE -

BIEZ M MASEREERZ BRI
AETEEGRE A5EEFREEBYIE=F
EAZ RS B A R ¥400,000,0007T 0 EH A
[ # 300,000,000 7T &2 F F| £8.8% 7 &+ AR
100,000,000 STTIRFFIZR 13.6% =15 » BEB L E=
FHET#EWB AR 2 9.09% I HE - ShiTE B REA

3| - Hitk - ARERERZIBHRIEE 2R 5 B ERA
[ESLEE =77 FED 9.09% A% HE °

RBE-F-MF+-_A=+—HLFE AKES
HREFEE AR 115,300,000 7T °

Ht - BIF =77 T E#AARKE284,700,0007T(=
T—=4 : AR¥400,000,00070) A S TIHEAHE
ffER - I A RS AR 2B AR - X HIREER
PTETABRA ATEFRA  R-T—MFE+_H
=+ —HZITETAZRTETERX ° ERBHEER
BRFFER AL B A MR A K ATIBR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[4#+ - A =+—HIFFE

30. Bank and Other Borrowings (continued) 30. SRITREMEF(E)
2014 2013
—E—MF —2—=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Carrying amount repayable as follows: AR AT BRfEE R SRIERBREE ¢
Within one year 15K 4,464,125 2,411,281
More than one year, but not 16 A EBARBIE2F
exceeding two years 2,127,394 3,672,582
More than two years, but not 2F LA HERIEBRL F
exceeding five years 1,601,130 1,823,585
More than five years 5EE 47,656 245,829
8,240,305 8,153,277
Less: Amount due within one year B RREI B EIE B ARTR
shown under current liabilities 1 EREHARRIE (4,464,125) (2,411,281)
Amount due after one year 1 2 1B 2 HAZR 3,776,180 5,741,996
The bank and other borrowings bear the interest per annum: $R1T N E b R R =R
2014 2013
—E-ME —E—=F
Contract interest rate RMB'000 RMB’000
ERF=E AR%T T ARETT
100% to 160% of lending rate of R A RERTTE FRFI R
the People’s Bank of China ([HPEIARBRITHZE]) 100% =
(“PBC rate”) (2013: 100% to 160% (ZZ—=F : FEAR
130% of PBC rate) SRITHF 2 100% £ 130% ) 4,302,965 3,717,801
Fixed rate ranging from 6.5% to 14.1% 6.5% & 14.1% 2 [E 7E F| =
(2013: 6.5% to 14%) ZE—=F :65%£14%) 3,600,006 4,159,996
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rates BARITRZER L ([BHABRT
("HIBOR") plus 1.3% to 6% RZEFS1)M1.3% 6%
(2013: HIBOR plus 1.3% to 6%) —T—=F : HERITAERE
N1.3%%E6%) 337,334 275,480
8,240,305 8,153,277
Annual Report 2014 22— PYAEARE i}

195



h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B 255 e B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

30. Bank and Other Borrowings (continued) 30. RITREMER(E)
The weighted average effective interest rate on bank and other FRIEITREMERDINEFEGERF
borrowings for the year is 9.45% (2013: 10.84%) per annum. REGFIA%(ZF—=F : 10.84%) °
Other than the assets pledged as disclosed in notes elsewhere MBSV REMEMARENS IR
in the consolidated financial statements, certain equity interests HWEEIN - KRB AR E T RRE
of subsidiaries of the Company were pledged for the bank and BETER UEGE TASEMNRITR
other borrowing facilities granted to the Group. Hittfas=zE8% -
31. Provisions 31. #E
LuoAo
Guangzhou Real Estate Guangzhou
Wan Pui  Development Shangshui Total
EMNERE EREMERE BEM 7K @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETTT ARBTT ARBTT AREBTTT
(i) (il (iii)

Balance at 1 January 2014 RZT—ME—H—R#H 550,704 843,700 = 1,394,404
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37)  UEEMIE A &) (KizE37) 130,081 130,081
Additional provisions recognised EREREIMEE 9,592 39,557 3,510 52,659
Balance at 31 December 2014 RZZ-MF+-A=+-B&H% 560,296 883,257 133,591 1,577,144
()  On 31 December 2011, the Company entered into an i) RZEB——F+=ZH=+—8 &
agreement (the “Agreement”) with Panyu Information AEEEREERMNBRAR([F
Technology Limited (“PIT”). According to the Agreement, BIE LM ) FT e ([#HE]) -
the Group injected cash of RMB154,700,000 in EJM BB ZE  AEEREMNTEEK
EBREEEAR AR (the "Guangzhou Wan Pui”), an EEBERARTEMNEER] (R
entity established in the PRC which principally engaged FRIRYHNER  FTEREDER
in the property development. The Group held 65% equity %) )T EH & AR ™ 154,700,000
interest in the Guangzhou Wan Pui after the completion of TC o BTG - AEBREE
capital injection while PIT held 35% equity interest in the ME&E B 2 65% ke - MEBEER
Guangzhou Wan Pui. In addition, the Group and PIT agreed T BIFE A EINE B 2 35% AR < it
that the Group has to transfer 35% completed properties I AEEREREERMAE
in the property development project in Guangzhou Wan REEFTREBRESRTEREEM
Pui to PIT and in return PIT requires to transfer its 35% BERYMERMBEIRAIBREKRIY
equity interest in the Guangzhou Wan Pui to the Group. ¥ DImEFBEERRALEE
The Group is responsible for providing funding to finance HEHENEMNER 235%MKk# -
this property project and the project management is REEE B BRI YEIAR IR
wholly responsible by the Group. PIT will not involve in Be WEAEEE2HEERERE
the daily operation and management of this property 1 o HHREEREIME A28 EY)
project. In addition, PIT will not share any profit and loss of HEMNBERERER - 1 &
Guangzhou Wan Pui during the property construction. BESRMAMEREZHAK I~

D EBEMNE BAERIFEREE
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —ZF—[4#+ —HA=+—HIFFE

31. Provisions (continued)

(i)

(i)

(continued)

Guangzhou Wan Pui is accounted for as wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group and PIT has provided land to the
Group to develop the property project in return to have
35% completed properties. Accordingly, the potential
amount of the development expenditure and other
attributable expenses for the development of properties
to be incurred to complete the development of the 35%
completed properties to be delivered to PIT is accounted
for as provision of the Group in respect of cost of the land.

On 8 August 2013, the Company entered into an
agreement (the “Agreement”) with Luogang Business
Association and Yijing Investment to establish “LuoAo
Real Estate Development” with registered capital
of RMB100,000,000 which engages in property
development.

According to the Agreement, the Group injected
RMB60,000,000 to LuoAo Real Estate Development and
the Group held 60% equity interest in LuoAo Real Estate
Development after the completion of capital injection
while each of Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment injected RMB20,000,000 respectively and
each of them held 20% equity interest in the LuoAo
Real Estate Development respectively. In addition,
the Group, Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment agreed that after the completion of the
development of property project by LuoAo Real Estate
Development, the Group has to transfer 40% completed
properties to Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment in return Luogang Business Association
and Yijing Investment have to contribute part of the
land consideration at RMB926,350,000. The Group is
responsible for providing funding to finance this property
project and the project management is wholly responsible
by the Group. Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment will not be involved in daily operation and
management of this property project. In addition, Luogang
Business Association and Yijing Investment will not share
any profit and loss of LuoAo Real Estate Development
during the property construction.

31. B (&)

(i)

Annual Report 2014 —

(&)

BMNE B AR AAEB 2 BB
ANE MEREERNRAANEER
M AFAEYEER - IRE
35% BT o KL - TERFHEE
i mERE BRI 2 35% 27T
PRI EFTEA RS MEMNRE S H
REMIEBER 2 BESEARS
NS [E A B MR 2 A o

R=ZZ—=FNANB A FH
BB A REEIRIRE R —
iz ((HEl)  UEfEERAR
# 100,000,000 JoAK 37 [ 22 225 =
FE | EEmERE -

BT « ALK E R ZE RE M E R
ZF A A K #60,000,0007T ¢ I
FOF BT 2 58 & BB HE R
ZE60% M A - B e A OB B S 1t
REHEHRES RIS AEAARE
20,000,000t BEEEBE D RIS
ZEBREHEEFI T 20% AXAE o 1thoh -
RNEE - ZEECBEES T RERE
BT REBEERZETHRD
BB 2% AREABERIY
H240% HiE T REMCEB ST R
FEIRIRE - fERETR - 2 0 AR
At KRR E AR IS LR
8 AR % 926,350,000 7T ° AN & [
BEREDUYEBEREES
WEAASRE2EAERHEEEE - #
EEEBALE NERRETS S H
ZMEEEEBEEERERE - It
HN - ERAOEB AT REERER
MERZMATE D ZEBEME
kD e CIVAIVED ST R i

—PAEAE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

31. Provisions (continued)

(i)

(continued)

Luo Ao Real Estate Development is accounted for as
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group and Luogang
Business Association and Yijing Investment has provided
part of the land consideration at RMB926,350,000 to the
Group to develop the property project in return to have
40% completed properties. Accordingly, the potential
development expenditure and other attributable expenses
for the development of properties to be incurred to
complete the development of the 40% completed
properties to be delivered to Luogang Business
Association and Yijing Investment is accounted for as
provision of the Group in respect of the cost of the land. In
June 2014, Luo Ao Real Estate Development commenced
its pre-sale and the Group had received on behalf of Yijing
Investment, which was recorded as other payables.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 B2 5] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A 7]

31. B (&)

(ii)

(&)

ZEEMEREARISASESR
BMEAT  MEMSEBREHR
BRI A MASEREE i
KRB A R # 926,350,000 7T LA 7 8
WEIER - AHEN40% B ST
X o Bt - TR KmEESE
et REREIRE RN 2 40% 255
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F 1+ - A=+—HIFFZE

31. Provisions (continued)

(iif)

On 28 February 2014, the Company entered into an
agreement (the "Agreement”) with two independent
parties, Mr. Zhong Jiawen and Mr. Zhong Binghong.
According to the Agreement, the Group injected
cash of RMB10,408,000 in [~ M # & L AR A 7]
(the “Guangzhou Shangshui”), an entity established
in the PRC which principally engaged in the property
development. The Group held 51% equity interest in the
Guangzhou Shangshui after the completion of capital
injection while the two independent parties held 49%
equity interest in the Guangzhou Shangshui. In addition,
the Group, two independent parties agreed that after the
completion of the development of property project by
Guangzhou Shangshui, the Group has to transfer 50%
completed properties to the two independent parties in
return the two independent parties have to contribute
part of the land consideration at RMB207,356,800. The
Group is responsible for providing funding to finance this
property project and the project management is wholly
responsible by the Group. The two independent parties
will not be involved in daily operation and management of
this property project. In addition, two independent parties
will not share any profit and loss of Guangzhou Shangshui
during the property construction.

Guangzhou Shangshui is accounted for as wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group and the two independent
parties has provided part of the land consideration at
RMB207,356,800 to the Group to develop the property
project in return to have 50% completed properties.
Accordingly, the potential development expenditure
and other attributable expenses for the development of
properties to be incurred to complete the development of
the 50% completed properties to be delivered to the two
independent parties is accounted for as provision of the
Group in respect of the cost of the land.

31. B (&)

(iii)

A-E—NFE-F -+ \H ' AR
AN B B A TSI S A K 48
R EETSL — ek (TR ]) o
B - AEEREMRAOESE
ERAB(EMNEKDETER S
A R #10,408,0007T * & M & 7K
RRABIKINEEE  ZE2XEY
ERR - BTG AEERH
&M 1 7K B9 51% BRAE + 1 R B 5B
ST R BN i K H) 49% A%
HE o AN - ARE BB E B ILA T
AE REMBMKERDERRE
% RNEBERMEELATERE
50% BB T¥% - LS IEL
ATIREID i - REAARE
207,356,800 - A EEE IR
HESUHEZMEEERA 2
NEEBEEERE - ZMABBIYAL
SN E2MEZYEIEE M BEE
REE o JbH  RYIEREREM
MEBIL AT T EEMNEK
B R A K2 518 o

BN #KY| BAEEE N H 2= &K
BAR MMABIALTERAR
EEEMHID T ARBERYE
HE - KERAKK207,356,800
TC 0 FEIAEE50% B T - 5
It BEKERERMA TREE L
ATHIB0% B TYESEENY
EREBECERAT REAEER
S ThHIVEZS & B 3h £t Ak AN BT E 7
1 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 & ZE —F—pU#E+—H=—+—HI F/ZF

32. Deferred taxation

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred

32, IEZERIE

AR A MBI RANEINIBEREMS
FTEERAEERABECHEEN-
AT 2 AR B 75 B ¥R B Ry RO E B TR 4

tax balances for financial reporting purposes: RO -
2014 2013
—E-NE —E—=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREBTT
Deferred tax assets EEFIRE = (150,763) (118,214)
Deferred tax liabilities BIETHIARE 340,545 331,790
189,782 213,576

The deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised by the Group and

AEERANELERE(BEE) BERE

movements thereon during the year are as follows: RERKEEHOT -
Change in Undistributed
fair value of Revaluation earnings Other
investment of of PRC  temporary
properties  properties  Tax losses subsidiaries differences Total
REMSE HENEAR Hh
ATES®  EftNE  HEFR  RORBA  ENER &t
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARETR AR¥TR ARETR AR%Tr ARETzR
t 1 January 2013 W-E-—=%—F—H 246,474 33,671 (35,892) 15,000 (18330) 240,923
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38) WE—fKB AR (Friss) - - 3,010 - (10,352) (7342)
Charge to consolidated statement RrRBRRkEMEZE
of profit or loss and other WasRAmZ i (1 10)
comprehensive income (note 10) 26,772 - (48,305) 15,000 (13,472) (20,005)
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=f+-A=t-H 273,246 33,671 (81,187) 30,000 (42,154) 213,576
Disposal of a subsidiary note 39) it E—FRBAR (HzE3s) - - 1,589 - - 1,589
Charge to consolidated statement RERBRRkEMEE
of profit or loss and other KasRAmZ i (1 10)
comprehensive income (note 10) 20,476 - (62,366) - 16,507 (25,383)
At 31 December 2014 RZZ-ME+T-A=1-H 293,722 33671 (141,964) 30,000 (25,647) 189,782
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Deferred taxation (continued)

Other temporary differences mainly include the deductible
temporary differences in respect of the land appreciation
tax provision amounting to RMB42,342,000 (2013:
RMB40,587000).

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB981,203,000 (2013: RMB687,938,000) available to offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of RMB567,855,000 (2013: RMB324,748,000) of
such tax losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining tax losses of RMB413,348,000
(2013: RMB363,190,000) of the past five years due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams.

Senior Notes

2012 Notes and 2013 Notes

On 23 November 2012, the Company issued senior notes in
an aggregate principal amount of US$125,000,000 (the “2012
Notes"”). The issue price was 97.83% of the principal amount of
the 2012 Notes.

On 28 January 2013, the Company issued additional senior
notes (the “2013 Notes"”) in an aggregate principal amount of
US$100,000,000. The issue price was 106.668% of the principal
amount of the 2013 Notes and plus accrued interest from (and
including) 23 November 2012 to (but excluding) 28 January
2013.

32.

33.

IESERIE (4)

HthEREZEXTEOEHHE L 1
ERBEZANREREZBEARYE
42342,000( ZFE —=F: AR
40,587,0007T) °

RZE-—MNFF+=_A=+—H" K
EEREEHMADAREEBEEARK
981,203,000( =T —=F: AR
687,938,0007T ) + A A {EH iH K K &
Ao B R IEEE A R ¥ 567,855,000
T(ZZ — =% A K %324,748,000
7)) RIEETRIE & E - BN AITERIR
Fomhl AT ARBERAFHRTAR
#413,348,000 L(—ZE—=F: AR¥
363,190,000 7T ) &Y #% 18 &5 18 FE TR R RE A%
BEE °

BEERE
—E-—FEBR-_F=FEF

N-_ZT——F+—A=-+=H ' AQF
(TR & 4858 4 125,000,000 LB LE
BIZZ—=FFg])  -BTER=-Z
——FEBEAREEFEI7.83% °

R-ZEBE—=F—HA=+/7\B  KQ7E
METEEZER(_Z—=FZFK])
N4 #8585 100,000,000 7T  HEITEA
—TE——FEBAETE 2106668% 5
MmE=—Z——F#+—A=-+=B (8%
RE=ZE—=F—A=+\B({ETE
1E%A) 2 EET RIS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

33. Senior Notes (continued) 33. BEEE(E)

202

Both 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes are listed on the SEHK. Both
2012 Notes and 2013 Notes carry interest at of 13.875% per
annum and interest is payable semi-annually on 23 May and
23 November in arrears. The 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes will
mature on 23 November 2017, unless redeemed earlier. At any
time and from time to time on or after 23 November 2015,
the Company may redeem the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes, in
whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the percentage
of the principal amount of the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes
redeemed set forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest (if
any) to (but not including) the redemption date, if redeemed
during the twelve month period beginning on 23 November of
each year set forth below:

TEZFERRZT-=FEEHR
EBBMTA T _E-_FEER
= ERHIREF13.875% 5 -
BB EESLFHARAA=ZT=H
R+—AZ+=A%f - BRIFERTE
Bl BAZE——FEBR=-_T—=4F
ZEBR T —+tF+—A=+=8%
He ARAAIERER_ZE—HF+— A
T+ =Rk @ER R TRIZ T XH
MERE(HEN - —FZEN_-F
——FEEREASENEOLL) ZNER
ELEHH(ETREZB) B AR
ME(E) (WRTXREFEE+—
AZ+=AABn+ @A BEANER)

EHRA N ELN - —FEER T
—=FFEK:

Redemption Price

Period HARS = IR
2015 —E—F4F 106.93750%
2016 —E—RF 103.46875%

At any time prior to 23 November 2015, the Company will be
entitled at its option to redeem both 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes
in whole but not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of
the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus the applicable
premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the
Company dated 14 November 2012 (“Applicable Premium”) as
of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including)
the redemption date.

Applicable Premium is the greater of (i) 1% of the principal
amount of such 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes and (ii) the excess
of (A) the present value at such redemption date of the
redemption price of such 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes on 23
November 2015, plus all required remaining scheduled interest
payments due on such Notes through 23 November 2015 (but
excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date),
computed using a discount rate equal to comparable treasury
price in United States plus 100 basis points, over (B) the
principal amount of such Notes on such redemption date.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

33. Senior Notes (continued)

At any time and from time to time prior to 23 November
2015, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate
principal amount of the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes with the
net cash proceeds of one or more sales of ordinary shares
of the Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of
113.875% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date.

2014 Notes

After the Company issued 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes
on 23 November 2012 and 29 January 2013, respectively,
additional senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of
US$300,000,000 (the “2014 Notes"”) were issued on 17 January
2014. The issue price was 99.254% of the principal amount of
the 2014 Notes.

2014 Notes are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “SEHK"). 2014 Notes are secured, carry interest at
rate of 11.25% per annum and interest is payable semi-annually
on 17 January and 17 July in arrears. The 2014 Notes will mature
on 17 January 2019, unless redeemed earlier. At any time and
from time to time on or after 17 January 2017, the Company may
redeem the 2014 Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to the percentage of the principal amount of the
2014 Notes redeemed set forth below plus accrued and unpaid
interest (if any) to (but not including) the redemption date, if
redeemed during the twelve month period beginning on 17
January of each year at the price set forth below:

Period HAfE

33.

BERE ()

ARARAIR=_ZE—RAF+—HA=1+=8
BIBERS R N A — X s Z X HE AR T
TERCEREFIEFE  THRIZE
BEAREFE113.876% MERIE - ZNEE
BERA(ERNBEIEZB) BT RARR
ME(WE) EZEE_ZE——FFE
R =FZRANEHEEEIS% °

—E-MERE

ARBR-_FE——F+—A=-+=ZAK
—E—=F—A-t+NHLREGT_F
——FERR_T-ZFERE A%
#8%A 5 300,000,000 % 7T 2 BEIMB R =i
T2 MFERBEDR-_T—NF—A
THERET - BITER-_ZT—NEER
RN&F7 99.254% °

—E-NFZEBEREEBARZITER
AEl([ BB b e ZZ—HF
ZRAFRIFARFEL11.25% @ WHREF
—At+tBEREATERESEFEIN—
Re ZE—MERBRER T —NF—
A++tREH REERASERR -
AARIEER -_ZT—+&— A ++tH
8 2 % BERS R NEF IR T XX H G R E B (B
(HER-ZE—NFZEASENED
L) ZMBEERBH(ETEEZAE)
AT RANEFIE (0E) (FREFEE—
Bt+tBmErs+ @A BRERE X
P ERER)  2HRHFLER =T
—MFER :

Redemption Price
BoE

2017
2018 and thereafter

—E—+F
—E- N\FRHEE

105.6250%
102.8125%
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—MF+—-A=+—HIFFE

33. Senior Notes (continued)

At any time prior to 17 January 2017, the Company will be
entitled at its option to redeem the 2014 Notes in whole but
not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the 2014 Notes redeemed plus the applicable
premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the
Company dated 10 January 2014 (“Applicable Premium”) as of,
and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date.

Applicable Premium is the greater of (a) 1% of the principal
amount of such and (b) the excess of (A) the present value
at such redemption date of the redemption price of such
2014 Notes on 17 January 2017 plus all required remaining
scheduled interest payments due on such 2014 Notes through
17 January 2017 (but excluding accrued and unpaid interest to
the redemption date), computed using a discount rate equal
to comparable treasury price in United States plus 100 basis
points, over (B) the principal amount of such Notes on such
redemption date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 17 January 2017, the
Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal
amount of the 2014 Notes at a redemption price of 111.25% of
the principal amount of the 2014 Notes redeemed, plus accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption
date.

The 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes and 2014 Notes are all contained a
liability component and the early redemption options:

(a)  Liability component represents the present value of the
contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate at that
time applicable to instruments of comparable credit status
and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the
same terms, but without the embedded derivatives.
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33. Senior Notes (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying
an effective interest rate of approximately 15.28%,
12.65% and 11.93% per annum to the liability component
respectively since the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes and 2014
Notes were issued.

Early redemption options are regarded as embedded
derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The
executive directors consider that the fair value of the
above early redemption options is insignificant at initial
recognition date, 31 December 2013 and 31 December
2014.

The movement of the liability component in the 2013
Notes and 2014 Notes during the year is set out below:

33. BERE (H)

(@ (&)

FAFMBABES BT —=F
ZE T =FEER TN
FEEBBEITARD BIIRERF A=
#915.28% ~ 12.65% 5 11.93% &t

st
H o
A

(b) RFEBRIESRAILIFEESHOER
PR BRATELER - $fTES
R E iR R B N )6 AR
B -RZE—=F+=ZA=+—8
k—Z—NF+-A=+—HKH2A
FETEK o

T =HFEBRR T NOFER
BEXIHFAEEHWT

2014 2013

—B-lF —E-=fF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETTT

Carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BEREE 1,370,567 750,326
Proceeds received B ARERIE 1,769,247 665,750
Exchange loss (gain) b 5 518 (Uas) 10,170 (41,862)
Interest expenses FBFX 402,186 189,979
Less: interest paid to notes holder  J& : Bt =EHFE AFIE (295,184) (193,626)
Carrying amount as at 31 December B+ = A =+—HERmEE 3,256,986 1,370,567

The fair value of the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes at 31
December 2014 amounted to RMB1,463,151,000 (2013:
RMB1,517,909,000) and 2014 Notes at 31 December
2014 amounted to RMB1,765,177,000 (2013: Nil) which is
calculated using the market price of the 2013 Notes and
2014 Notes at the end of reporting period (or the nearest
day of trading).

TECHFEBERIT—FEENC
T—NNFE+_A=+—HBHNATFEAA
R#1,463,151,0007(ZF—=F : AR
#1,517,909,0007T) * M =ZF—UFZEE
R-ZE—mE+—-A=+—HBHHAFE
BAR¥E1,765,177,000 0 (ZZE—=4 :
=) DiERmERREEARS5H) =
E-—FERER _T-NFEEHENTH
BIRFTE -
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announced by the Company on 4 June 2013. These shares rank

pari passu in all respects with other shares in issue.
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34. Share Capital of the Company KN B IR
Number of shares Amount
BB E S5
HK$'000
TAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BREEO0.01 BT &R
Authorised: SETE
At 1 January 2013 and 31 December 2013 RZE—=F—H—HkK
and 31 December 2014 —T—=F+-fA=+—HK
—E-ME+-A=t—H 100,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
At 1 January 2013 R—ZE—=%—A—H 2,615,500,000 26,155
Issued pursuant to share dividend (note 12) RIER B 81T (F9EE12) 163,095,925 1,631
Exercise of shares options 1Tl 4,249,429 42
At 31 December 2013 R-ZE—=F+-A=+—H 2,782,845,354 27828
Exercise of shares options 1710 B e 1,000,000 10
At 31 December 2014 RZZ-—ME+-_A=+—H 2,783,845,354 27838
2014 2013
—E-mE —E—=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREBTT
Shown in the consolidated RERE B ImERZE5
financial statements 26,355 26,347
During the year ended 31 December 2014, share option of REEZZT—NE+-A=+—HIEF
1,000,000 were exercised. On 4 July 2013, the Company issued J£ 1,000,000 17 BE AR e B FET T « M
and allotted a total of 163,095,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in T—=FtHAWA ' AAa&EEK0.26
the Company at HK$0.26 each to the shareholders who elected BTRRE(ZERREZRERNAR
to receive shares in the Company in lieu of cash for the 2014 RZE—=FNAWBEMHURRE
special dividend pursuant to the scrip dividend distribution DIRAR DB (MRS ) EER=

TN FEFRIRE) FHITREEEHED
163,095,000 f& &A% 0.01 BT 2 &) ° #%
ERNEMEFEEEME ZHITRN=E
B REHAL o
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35. Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries disclosed in note 27, amount due to a related party
disclosed in note 28, amount due to a joint venture disclosed in
note 29, bank and other borrowings disclosed in note 30, senior
notes disclosed in note 33, net of cash and cash equivalents,
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The management of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the management of the
Company assess budgets of major property projects taking into
account of the provision of fundings. Based on the operating
budgets, the executive directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital
and balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-back as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

35. EXERER

AREBEEEHEEN  UERASEAE
ERBEAUSBELCLETALE  RAR
R 8 BUE M5 B AR AR 4 Bk 2 TRV AR AR
FEmARRFREAD®R - B LFNA
Ko AKENERRIEESTE -

AEE2ERNGEBERABTE 2R
Y 5 27 P45 58 8 < PR 1B X B 2 FR I B
RARIAE - M 28 PR BN — R BE R
BIFE - MR 29BN —FMagh
FRIE - 0B ERITREME
H MEBAEERLERE MRS
NEEFEY  ARARBBEERSAE A
PR (BN  FERREERN) -

ARREEEBTHRATEAGEE - ER
WIREN 2 — 8D ARAREEEE
REBRAZRAE UZEMERZE
T ARARPTESREZERE - £
BEAKRARBEBEREARNERZRE
R ARFESA RS - BITHR R A
B BTHEIBLREEHFEHE
BZEARRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—MF+—-A=+—HIFFE

36. Financial Instruments 36. €T H

(a) Categories of financial instruments

(a) ST AEH

2014 2013
—E-MF —E—=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Financial assets SRIEE
Available-forsale investment AHHERE 25,000 25,000
Loans and receivables (including B W GRIE
cash and cash equivalents) (BIERENESEEY) 7,195,695 5,596,751
Financial liabilities cEasE
Amortised cost SRR 15,238,871 12,689,604
Financial guarantee contracts PSR E 4 8,693,677 6,432,581

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and related parties,
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade
and other payables, amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and a related party, bank and
other borrowings, senior notes and financial guarantee
contracts. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include market risk (interest
rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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(b) MBEMEREBEREE

FEEFESRMIABEESRA
fl FE UK - FEURPH B & R Z IR AR
PR N BRE AR IR « ZRGBIRTT
Tk RITHEBRNEAS BEHRHE
AR - AP A Rl IR
IR K —REREARIRIE - RITR
HfER - BARBA LM BER
B4 - hF 2RI EFENEREN
AFRE - EikE SR T AAERKN
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

0]

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
related primarily to its variable-rate bank borrowings,
restricted bank deposits and bank balances.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate
risk related primarily to fixed-rate bank and other
borrowings, interest bearing portion of amounts due
to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and
senior notes. The Group currently does not enter
any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to fair
value interest rate risk. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk for its variable-rate bank borrowings at the end
of the reporting period. The restricted bank deposits
and bank balances are not included in the sensitivity
analysis as the management of the Group considers
that the interest rate fluctuation is minimal. The
analysis is prepared assuming the variable rate bank
borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
(2013: 50) basis points increase or decrease is used
when reporting cash flow interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management'’s assessment of the possible change
in interest rate.

36. £ELT H ()

(b) ¥EEBREEEEREX

(%)

(i)

FIEE

AEERSREMNXERE
BEHZBRITHER - XR

BERITERMIRITRERAR

AEBERRFEMEERE
RHEFEBRITREMBER
FE A Ff /B8 2 ) 2 FEHE AR AR
REZHEBOMBERE
Bl A"EBEBRALER] L
A 0] ) 2= 4 HY 4 0 3% 5 ) K

R Am BEEERESR
BREBEHEAN KR

UTBREDNERRE
HRFERITERZAER
MR EREE - R HIRT
FRRRITERERANEE
BIEER RN K E B/
B BRENBEEDN - %
AR RBERRT L
RITEREREREBLNEME
FEAREEMER - AE
ZEREABABERE SR
MEEREAEA0(=F
— =% : 50) EFHIER - £
REEBHMNENEEZD
YR AR -
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

0]

(ii)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rates had been 50 (2013: 50) basis points
higher/lower with all other variables were held
constant and excluding the effect of capitalisation
of interest, the Group's profit for the year ended
31 December 2014 would decrease/increase by
RMB23,039,000 (2013: decrease/increase by
RMB20,089,000).

Foreign currency risk

The Group's transactions were mainly conducted
in RMB, the functional currency of the Company
and its subsidiaries, and its major receivables and
payables are denominated in RMB. The Group is
subject to foreign exchange rate risk arising from
the assets and liabilities which are denominated in
currency other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entity. The majority of the Group’s
foreign currency transactions and balances are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollars. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. The Group manages
its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates.
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36. £ELT A ()

(b) ¥EEBREEEEREXK
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(ii)
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i ¥ & EF /T B50(=
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group's foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities include
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and bank
balances at the end of respective reporting period
and the carrying amounts are as follows:

T B 285 e B (4)

E-EMFF A=+ —HIFE

36- %EQI/ (II‘E.)
(b) MERBREEBEEREE
(#&)
(i) SME/mSE (&)
REBRFHE R AINE
JIENEKEERERKEGE

(BRERITREAMER B
ERRRTHES) REREELDR
T

2014 2013
—E-NF —E—=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Assets EE
Hong Kong dollars BT 85,471 55,865
United States dollars eI 210,142 142
Liabilities =N
Hong Kong dollars BIT 632,664 803,045
United States dollars £ 3,256,157 1,370,567
Sensitivity analysis BRI T

The following table details the Group's sensitivity
to a 5% (2013: 5%) increase and decrease in the
RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. The
sensitivity rates used represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in profit for the year where
RMB strengthens 5% (2013: 5%) against the
relevant currency. For a 5% (2013: 5%) weakening of
RMB against the relevant currency, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the profit and the
balances below would be negative.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—F+=-A=+—HIFFE

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)  Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

36. €T H
b) BEEBREEREEREE

(%)

SHEm B ()
HEE T (E)
2014 2013
—E-mF —F-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR AR®ETTT

Hong Kong Dollars BT
Profit for the year FERA
United States dollars ET
Profit for the year FERA
Credit risk

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from:

o the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position;
and

o the amount of contingent liabilities in relation
to financial guarantees issued by the Group as
disclosed in note 40.

The concentration of credit risk in respect of trade
receivables is minimal as no customers represent
more than 5% of the total trade receivables as at 31
December 2014 and 2013.
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk of debts, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the executive directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies or
state-owned banks in the PRC.

The Group also exposes to concentration of credit
risk in respect of amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, related parties and
joint venture at the amount of RMB21,014,000
(2013: RMB193,506,000), RMB 196,582,000 (2013:
RMB164,113,000) and RMB151,955,000 (2013: Nil)
respectively.

36. £ELT A ()

(b) ¥EEBREEEEREXK

(ii) SHEmBE (H)

FEER (8)
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214

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’'s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and the flexibility
through the use of borrowings. The executive
directors of the Company closely monitor the
liquidity position and expect to have adequate
sources of funding to finance the Group's property
projects and operations.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. Specifically, bank and other
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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36. £ELT H ()

(b) ¥EEBREEEEREX
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B 285 A i

For the year ended 31 December 2014 &%

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

(%)

E_FAF+ A=+ —HILFE

36. SRIT R (&)
(b) B EAKREEEEREEK

(#&)

(ii) SHEmEE (H)

Liquidity risk (continued) B E SR ()
Liquidity tables HEELRK
On demand
Weighted ~ onless Total  Total
average  than60 61180 181365 12 23 Over3 undiscounted ~ camying
interest rate days days days years years years  cashflow  amount
mE  EERE aAERE A
THAE  M60BA G1Z10R BIZIBE  -ERE  BECE ZEME  REWE  RER
RMB'000  RMB'000  RVB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RWB'000
ARRTR ARBTR ARMTT ARRTR ARETR ARMTR ARRTR ARETR
20 3B
Trade and other payables BARAHERT - 12381 104042 S6I0M 0TI 104045 - 34681 3468174
Amounts due o EfHEATHERER
non-contoling Sharehalders FE(%8)
of subsidiares (interest-fee) - 153,008 - - - - - 153,008 153,008
Amounts due o non-cortroling AT
shreholders of subsideres FA(E)
(inerest-bearing) 000% 44000 - - - - - 44000 44000
Amount due toa relted party Efi-BREATE - 19098 - - - - - 1908 19,098
Amount due toa jointventure Ef-Fretsid - 50 - - - - - E30 57300
Bank and other borrowings Bk 945% 961220 1359007 2553943 2003698 1672337 409219 8959484 8240305
Senior notes Brzk 1238% 66515 133030 199545 399090 1768968 2071467 4638615 3,256,366
Finencial guarantee iR - 8696 - - - - - 86867 -
TOTAL ) 1208679 2532489 3620532 2645560 3545350 2480746 26,033,356 15,238,871
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

36. £ELT H ()

(b) ¥EEBREEEEREX

policies (continued) (&)
(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued) (i) SMEESE (4E)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESER (E)
Liquidity tables (continued) REE X (&)
On demand
Weighted ~~ onless Total Total
aeage  than60 61180 181365 12 23 Owerd undscounted  camying
Interest ate days days days Jears Jears years  cashflow  amount
mE  HER EHAER &%
TEiE  ROAM GIZIN0A WEWSE  ZWE WEE ZENL  RekE BEA
RMB000  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMBOOD  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB000
ARETL ARETL ARETn ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
0 e S
Trade and other payables SAREME - 0922 G736R TABO0B 3B 87 - 291006 2912206
Amounts dugto LEEAGE e
non-controling shereholders FE(%8)
0f subsidiaries (interestfreg) - 1R - - - - - 141552 141552
Amounts due o non-cortroling AT
shareholders of subsicries T (GE)
(Interest-nearing) 20.00% 44000 - - - - - 44000 44000
Amount due o a elaed perty Er—RREATE - B - - - - - 600 e80n
Bank and other borowings BRRR 084%  BLE1 38 1898371 400056 140508 79390 93T BB
Senlor notes i 1B%% 378 6346 %169 190338 190338 1547336 21830 1370567
Financia quarantee BBER - 5432581 - - - - - 6432581 -
TOTAL ) 831749 1684426 2721593 4396728 1682788 230678 21104012 12689604
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 %Jé ZE

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the “on demand or less
than 60 days “
analysis. As at 31 December 2014, the aggregate

time band in the above maturity

undiscounted principal amounts of these bank
borrowings amounted to RMB597,513,000 (2013:
RMB430,215,000). Taking into account the Group's
financial position, the management of the Company
does not believe that it is probable that the banks
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The management of the
Company believes believe that such bank loans
will be repaid ranging from 1 to 3 years after the
reporting date in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. At
that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash
outflows will amount to RMB663,214,000 (2013:
RMB495,803,000).

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the Group considers that it is more likely
than not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which
is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

36. €ET A

o B 285 A B (4)

E-EMFF A=+ —HIFE

(&)

(b) ¥EEBREEEEREX

(%)

(ii)

Annual Report 2014 —

SME R BE (AF)
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—=%F : AR# 430,215,000
T ) ° B RN E& B A& B 5 AR
Mo ARAREIEEHERT
PRATBEITRE M ISR EK
B EE - ARRIEEEME
B ZSRITERBFEUN
TERBZEMS B EERA
HREMEHREIEIF
BE-ER ASLBEREF
Exiﬁimutﬂiﬁﬁﬁj\ﬁm
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

36. Financial Instruments (continued) 36. TR (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(b) ¥EEBREEEEREX

218

policies (continued)

(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

(%)

(ii) SHEmEE (H)
RBEEERE (H)
1ieh 3 B ) 2R {1 B ¥ 25 2R
REEZMEMEFER - A

FRFEEEITELBAR
BB FI%E T A eSS -

(c) Fair value (c) A¥E

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments AN & B K AN Bk B S5 A AN B BR Y
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially CRITAZEREER-_ZT—=
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2013 and F+_A=+—BRKR-_ZT—EOF
31 December 2014 except for the senior notes issued by +—_A=+—HMAFELEEX
the Company, for which its carrying amount and fair value ZE - WARABITHEEZER
(based on the ask price in SEHK) are disclosed below: I ZEEBEZENEREE AT
BE(REEBHIMNELENE)

WEMT :
2014 2014 2013 2013
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
—T-mE —T-mE —E—=F —T-=F
FREE AEE IREE NS
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®T T AERBT T AERETTT
Senior notes BEFE 3,256,986 3,228,328 1,370,567 1,517,909

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than senior notes) of the Group is determined in
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis. The carrying amounts
of the financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (7))

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

37. Acquisition of Subsidiaries 37. WEBHIB A F]
For the year ended 31 December 2014 BE—E—piFEf ==+ —HIFEE
As disclosed in note 31, the Group acquired the effective entire AN EERT FTIN R - AREE D WEEE
equity interest in Guangzhou Shangshui, independent third B=FEMEKER 23 - 2218
party. This transaction has been accounted for as acquisition of RGINEBBEEREE  REREM
assets and liabilities as Guangzhou Shangshui only has a piece mAKIER —IE T ERTERE -
of land for future development.
The transaction was accounted for as purchase of assets and ZBEXZITHEEBABERBEYE -
liabilities. Details are summarised below: BB T
RMB’000
ARETT
Consideration transferred: EEE o MNRE :

Cash Be 10,408
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at date of acquisition RUKEBBAKBEEERFTEREED
are as follows: ™

RMB’000

ARBTT

Properties for sale AR EYE 249,815

Other receivable H A FE R 207,357

Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 4
Amount due to a subsidiary B —RAR R B A RZKIA

of the Company (316,687)
Provision e (130,081)

10,408
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

37. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued) 37. WEEKMIB AT (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued) BE—_ZF—mME+—F=+—HIFEF
(#&)
Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of Tt EEEMN KRS RIRSEEBY R
acquisition of Guangzhou Shangshui: HFEE
RMB’000
AR%ET T
Bank balances and cash of FrU BRI B A Bl R1TAA SR R IR &
subsidiary acquired 4
Cash consideration paid 2R NRE (10,408)
(10,404)
For the year ended 31 December 2013 BEr—E—=—fFf - f=1—HIFEF
(i)  On 30 April 2013, the Group acquired 51% equity iy MNZZE—=FWA=+H  K&£E
interest in JT 9T A AKEMERZE AR AT Jiangmen LR & REARE 51,000,000 T4
Pengjiang Baishi Yonghao Property Development BIFE IR AKENERZESR
Company Limited (the “Baishi Yonghao"), with cash REI([BAKEE]) 51 % IRAE o ZM
consideration of RMB51,000,000. The subsidiary is BATTENRESYERR IS
principally engaged in the property development which BlRsE — BRI L
holds a parcel of land pending for development in the PRC.
This acquisition was accounted for as purchase of assets ZIEWEEEBAEERBEA
and liabilities. Details are summarised below: IR o SEIBEMA N T -
RMB'000
ARETT
Consideration transferred: BRI RIE

Cash Be 51,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (7))

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

37. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued) 37.

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

(i)

(continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at date of
acquisition are as follows:

W EE KB A Al ()

e —FE—=—Ff+_F=1—HIFE
(%)

(i) (%&)

REERHMKBEEREERE BN
T

RMB'000

ARETTT

Property, plant and equipment M - WE k& 20
Properties under development for sale Al BRI 231,972
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H h FEUGR 51,671
Bank balances and cash RITHEMSR RIS 12,785

Trade and other payables B 5 REAMER R (7780)

Amounts due to non-controlling FEAS SRR AR AR SR SRR

shareholders (188,668)
100,000

Less: Non-controlling interests W FERE AR A (49,000)
51,000

The non-controlling interests amounting to
RMB49,000,000 was measured by reference to the
proportionate shares of the 49% net identifiable assets of
Baishi Yonghao at the acquisition date.

Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
of acquisition of Baishi Yonghao:

JEHE R #E 25 & 58 A A R #49,000,000
TT 0 W2 EQAKENIE B H 2 0] 3
PR EE 2 49% FEIGLLHIETE ©

ERBERAKBRZRERREEEY
ZIREMEFE

RMB'000
ARET T

Bank balances and cash of the Pk BB T B A R MRTTAA R KR &
subsidiary acquired 12,785
Cash consideration paid BENBESRE (51,000)
(38,215)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

37. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

(i)

222

On 31 March 2013, the Group acquired 51% equity
interest in EIMNERESEBBR AT Guangzhou Kangwei
Group Company Limited (the “Guangzhou Kangwei”),
with cash consideration of RMB76,500,000. The
subsidiary is principally engaged in the property
development which holds a parcel of land pending for
development in the PRC.

This acquisition was accounted for as purchase of assets
and liabilities. Details are summarised below:

37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

W B B B 2~ B ()

BFE-—E—=#+-HA=+—HIFE

(#&)

i) R=ZFE—=F=A=+—8"
REBKENLREREARE
76,500,000 T4 8 N B B B
PRAE ([EINEREL]) 51% Rt - 3%
MEBAREZREMERAE Wit
REIRE —IBAERE i

ZEWBERBABERAGEIIR - &
Bt

RMB'000
AREFIT

Consideration transferred: B2EEE RE -
Cash bk 76,500

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at date of
acquisition are as follows:

Uk BB IE S E R B R A E
T

RMB'000
ARETT
Properties under development A SRR

for sale 73,643
Trade and other receivables B 5 N HoAth FEUR 50,000
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RIS 81,185
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMERR (4,828)

Amount due to a subsidiary FENS —RA R EIHE A FFE
of the Company (50,000)
150,000
Less: Non-controlling interests W SRR RS (73,500)
76,500
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (7))

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

37. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

(i)

(iif)

(continued)

The non-controlling interests amounting to
RMB73,500,000 was measured by reference to the
proportionate shares of the 49% net identifiable assets of
Guangzhou Kang Wei at the acquisition date.

Net cash inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of

37. WiEKEBAR (&)

e —FE—=—Ff+_F=1—HIFE

(4&)

(i) (48)

EEBREZSEAARE
73,500,0007T * /32 ZE BEINEER
W BB FIERIFEEZ 49% &
IELLBIETE -

ERWEEMNER RS RREE

acquisition of Guangzhou Kangwei: EYIRESRAFE
RMB'000
AREFIT
Bank balances and cash of the FrUEERT B A BIMRITAE A R IR &
subsidiary acquired 81,185
Cash consideration paid BfIRENE (76,500)
4,685

On 23 July 2013, the Group, entered into a sales and
purchase agreement to acquire 80% equity interest in
FImEEE AR AR Yangjiang City Run Xin Property
Company Limited (“Yangjiang City Run Xin”) for a
consideration of RMB4,000,000, to develop a commercial
and residential property project mainly for sales on Long
Island, Yangjiang City, Guangdong Province, the PRC. The
Group has injected RMB261,000,000 to Yangjiang City
Run Xin by way of shareholder’s loan and increase of its
registered capital.

This acquisition was accounted for purchase of assets and
liabilities. Details are summarised below:

(iii)

R-E—=FtA-+=H' ' 4&&
EIVEEmE  UREBARK
4,000,000 7 W B 5 )T TH B (5 B %
BRAR(BBIMERE] 280%
R TZEHPEEREHBITR
EREEAREEDEE B UHEE
& AEEB@BRRERKIEM
HEMEARBITEEIAAR
#261,000,000 7T °

ZBREERBABERARES
i o RGBSR T

RMB'000
AREFT

Consideration transferred: BEEE s NAE
Cash e 4,000
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

37. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued) 37. WEEHEB AR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2013 (continued)

(i) (continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

BE_F—=Ff+_F=+—HIFE
(%)
(i) (&)

RKEE BB EE KD ERE BN
T

RMB’000

ARETTT

Properties under development for sale A] it EEZEYE 265,990

Trade and other receivables B 5 % Hofth FER 45

Bank balances and cash RITHERER® 7

Trade and other payables 2 5 R EMERR (202,042)
Amount due to a subsidiary B —RAR R B A RFKIA

of the Company (8,000)

Amounts due to non-controlling A FEFE AR AR R SRR

shareholders (2,000)

Bank and other borrowings RITREM AR (49,000)

5,000

Less: Non-controlling interests B IEERR (1,000)

4,000

The non-controlling interests amounting to
RMB1,000,000 was measured by reference to the
proportionate shares of the 20% net identifiable assets of
Yangjiang City Run Xin at the acquisition date.

Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect
of acquisition of Yangjiang City Run Xin:

FEEREE SR A AR 1,000,000 7T -
T2EGTmEERE Rz @E5
FEELZ20% EISLLBIETE -

BRAKBSIMBENRERREEE
VIR RER

RMB'000
AREFIT

Bank balances and cash of the FrUk BB B A R ERT TS fR R &
subsidiary acquired 7
Cash consideration paid BEIRE&NE (4,000)
(3,993)

224 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H 54 B2 [ 1 2 45 [ )5 40y A BR A 5]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (7))

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

38. Deemed Disposal of A Subsidiary/Disposal

of Subsidiary

For the year ended 31 December 2014

Baishi Yonghao was a subsidiary of the Company before 31
March 2014, which was held by E/NEEHEEEGRE QA
Guangzhou Aoyuan Jintai Property Company Limited (“Jintai”),
a subsidiary of the Company and JIFIm /&M EZEGR A A,
Jiangmen Haoxiang Property Company Limited (“Haoxiang”),
a non-controlling shareholder, of 51% and 49%, respectively.
Baishi Yonghao is principally engaged in property development
in the PRC. On 1 April 2014, a new Articles of Association
of Baishi Yonghao was adopted and became effective, and it
has stipulated that the Board of Directors comprises of six
directors, of which three directors were appointed by Jintai
and remaining three directors were appointed by Haoxiang.
In the former Articles of Association of Baishi Yonghao, four
directors were appointed by Jintai and two executive directors
were appointed by Haoxiang. The Board of Directors is involved
in daily operations and management of the property project,
two-third of votes of the directors are required on making
relevant significant operating decisions. Accordingly, Jintai and
Haoxiang cannot direct the activities of Baishi Yonghao without
the agreement with another party and each party cannot
individually control Baishi Yonghao. After considering the above
fact and circumstances, the management of the Company
concludes that the Group do not has the power of control over
Baishi Yonghao, therefore the Group classified interest in Baishi
Yonghao as interest in a joint venture.

On 1 April 2014, the Group deemed disposed of its 51% equity
interest in a subsidiary of BaishiYonghao.

38.

RAHE-BNBLARHE
i) PNG

BEZ_F—NFEf—_F=+—HIFE

BAXKBR-E—NMFE=A=+—H#I
BARBIN—FHKEBAR - ARAEA
—HNBRAREMNRERREEERA
Al([#82R]) k— & EERAR T PIm %
MEZBRAA(EA]D 2RFBE51%
N 49% #w - BARKXHAEZEZEREPREY
¥ER -R-_T—HFEA—B ' B8A
KB EBERMANESR T RER
HiPESSH A NBERMHEK  EF =
LESTHBREZARBT=BESHE
HZE (R B AKBR R AL ZZ 4R
o MEEEHBREERBTREHR
TESHEART) - ESSLHEYHER
BEAELENERE  WMELHBEBEX
BEBRFHANB - HAZ_EETZEH -
Bt - SBRIEPDERES —FEI L
FEIABEBEOARKENTES  B&H
TEEBIEFIAAKE - REE LS
EREBERAT  ARREEEE @ A&
EE A AN EIEGED - WEeA
KENRESEAN —HEELENE

fm °

R-ZE-—HFEWNA—R AEEB/HE
ERRABAKE—HHEBARN51%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

38. Deemed Disposal of A Subsidiary/Disposal

of Subsidiary (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)

Analysis of assets and liabilities of Baishi Yonghao upon deemed

38. RAHE—HMNEAR HE

Mo e (&)
BE_F—NFEf+ _—_F=+—HIFE
(#&)

RESHERBAKENEERBED

disposal: B -
RMB’000
ARET T
Property, plant and equipment Y% - E k&G 400
Deferred tax assets FIERIBE B 1,589
Properties for sales A EYIE 1,246,329
Trade and other receivables B 5 N Hoh eI R 1,413
Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders FE U IR AR AR SR R IE 240,276
Amount due from a related party FEU —RREE R A 5RIA 21,056
Amounts due from subsidiaries of the Group JE WA £ B B 2 R 3R IR 163,000
Tax recoverable EEEEE 11,458
Restricted bank deposit PRSI T 91,678
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RS 30,474
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMERR (491,590)
Sale deposit received for sale of properties HHEVMHEEBEHEET S (220,216)
Bank and other borrowings RITRE M AR (1,000,000)
Net Assets disposed of BEEEEFE 95,867
Less: non-controlling interests W FERERR R (46,975)
Reclassified equity interest in Baishi Yonghao REBEFTIFA B AKRERE
held by the Group as interest in a joint venture REEZT—NF+_A=+—HILFE
during the year ended 31 December 2014 EMOBEARN—HEELENER 48,892
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents upon R A &R — T B A B i s
deemed disposal of interest in a subsidiary Re RBESEBWRD (30,474)

There is no significant gain or loss arising from the deemed

disposal of the subsidiary.

G PNGR e L P e
B -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B s A M (7))

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

38. Deemed Disposal of A Subsidiary/Disposal

of Subsidiary (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group disposed
of its owned 70% equity interest in ¥k AZBEHEME AR
/A 8] Zhuzhou Tianjun. The net assets of Zhuzhou Tianjun at the

day of disposal amounts to RMB64,312,000 were as follow:

38. RAHE—RHKBLAR HE
KB A E (&)

BE—F—=F1+-A=1—HULFE

Bz =F+-A=+—HLF
B - ANEBEEHERKNTREE &
FEERART70% KE - REERE
BN KA E EE)FE AR 64,312,000 7T

BIEATEIE
RMB'000
ARETTT
Property, plant and equipment M - RS RS 35
Deferred tax assets RIERIIRE EE 3,010
Properties for sales A EYIE 542,052
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H fth FEUGR 9,347
Amounts due from non-controlling JEUR IR AR AR R SR TE
shareholders 31,824
Tax recoverable A E R IE 11,996
Bank balances and cash RITHER LR ® 26,360
Trade and other payables B 5 R H M FERTR (4,111)
Sale deposit received for sale of properties FhIHEWED UIHET S (413,849)
Amounts due to a subsidiary of FES —RA R EIHE A FIFIE
the Company (10,000)
Bank and other borrowings RITREM AR (122,000)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBBE (10,352)
Net Assets disposed of EEEEFE 64,312
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE B AR ¢
Consideration receivable BRIE 65,700
Net Assets disposed of EEEEFE (64,312)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A 19,294
Gain on disposal S M 20,682
Net cash outflow of cash and cash HEE—fEHBEARBREZRE R
equivalents in respect of the disposal ReFEY 2R LIFE
of a subsidiary:
Consideration receivable FEWRE 65,700
Less: deferred cash consideration W IRER 2R (E (65,700)
Less: bank balances and cash of B HERBARMBITAHKERS
the subsidiary disposed of (26,360)
(26,360)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

39. Major Non-cash Transaction

40.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group disposed

its prepaid lease payments to Guangzhou Baoao at the carrying

amount of RMB151,955,000 which approximates to its fair value

at the date of disposal. The consideration on disposal was not yet

settled by the end of reporting period and recorded as amount

due from a joint venture, details are disclosed in note 19.

(a)

39. FEHFRERZ

REBEZ_ZE—NF+_A=+—HILHF
E - AEEZEEEARK 151,955,000
THEENHEERIERE FEMRSE -

HRHERSMHATERS -

HE R

RERBFERRARBN - WLk AE

W—HaERERA -

FIEEAHIFET9 o

Contingent Liabilities 40. ZARAEE

At the end of respective reporting period, the Group had REMEHR » NEBRSABEMT ¢
contingent liabilities as follows:
2014 2013
—EB-lF —E—=fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR¥ETTT
Guarantees given to banks in connection IRTFE=ZFNEESLT

with facilities granted to third parties RITHIHELR 8,693,677 6,432,581

The Group acted as guarantor to the mortgage bank loans
granted to certain purchasers of the Group's properties
and agreed to repurchase the properties upon the
purchasers’ default on the repayment of bank loans and
repay the outstanding loan and interest accrual thereon.
The fair value of the financial guarantee contracts is not
significant as the default rate is low.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
entered into an agreement with two independent third
parties (the “Vendor"”) for a potential acquisition of
a company (the “Target”). However, this acquisition
agreement was subsequently terminated by the Group
because of the uncertainty about the validity of the
Vendor's shareholding in the Target. The Vendor then
made claims against the Group for compensation of
RMB61,096,000. At 5 December 2014, final judgments
were issued by Liaoning high people's court. According to
the judgments, the Group should pay a compensation of
RMB6,291,000 in total to the Vendor, which was recorded
as other payable and expense.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]

AEERETASEETHEER
HIRIBIRTTERMETIERA - A
RAERERBREERTEREE
B ) 3 K (B& 1) R (88 B 3 K e T
ME - HRNENERRER - BHKER
BRNAFHELTENR -

REBEE_ZZE+LF+=-A=+—H
IEFE AEFBEMEBELE=
HUERDRATEEE —KQA
(TBEERAR 2EBEST W& o
A - BREARERARZRE
WA FETRERS - A5H
REBRIEZIEE R - BAKA]
MASEEREBAR  ZXEEAR
#61,096,0007C ° X = F — PO F
TZARA - BEma ARZERE
IR ARFDR - BRIBEBBEHAR - KN&E
BAEMEBEFZNEEGEARK
6,291,0007T * A BRI Ty 5| {EH
b FERT I KBS o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

41. Operating Lease Arrangements 41.

As lessor

At the end of the respective reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease

REHERH
ERHBEA

RERESHR  AEERBEEEITON
ARSZEHEERBNOT

payments:
2014 2013
—F-MF —F=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR¥ETTT
Within one year —FR 62,296 61,656
In the second to fifth year inclusive EEFAT (BREEERT) 203,986 170,459
After five years HEFLAE 254,897 193,477
521,179 425,592

Rental from certain tenants of an investment property
are determined at the amount of the higher of a specified
percentage of their turnover and a fixed monthly rental. The
remaining properties are expected to generate rental yields of
average 0.65% to 8% per annum on an on-going basis. All the
properties held have committed tenants from 2 to 14 years.

As lessee

At the end of the respective reporting period, the Group had
outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as

BEMELDHAL S NIRE LR
BELERREEAB I RREEE - #
TYITEE R EE £ 5 FF150.65% 2
8% M BIME - MBEREWHEIIE2
Z14FMEABEEPE -

EREBEA

REREHR - NEBRETATHOHL
EHERTHORRKEEEKEH AR
BES NP IE

follows:
2014 2013
= —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREETFIT
Within one year —FR 6,769 6,028
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EFERAFT (BREEEMTE) 1,492 4,085
8,261 10,113
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #HZE —FE—MF+ - A=+—HIFFE

41. Operating Lease Arrangements (continued) 41, KREHELH (F)

Operating lease payments mainly represent rentals payable KEHERBEZEASEBRE THA
by the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases are EMENHES o ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁ 78 & 4F B
negotiated with range from 1 to 3 years and rentals are fixed for NF—Z==F " FH—E==FRHHES
an average term of 1 to 3 years. INEFETE °

42. Other Commitments 42. HihEE
At the end of respective reporting period, the Group has other REMEHR - RERAHEMAENT -

commitments as follow:

2014 2013
= —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARETT

Construction cost commitments for BERTAMERRER S TS mR A BH 2

properties for sales contracted for A BESH S W) 3 SRR AN I

but not provided in the consolidated

financial statements 8,357,765 7.219,091
Commitments for acquisition of land use B RI4IMERRER A F SRR ABEZ

rights contracted for but not provided 6 AU AR 1 3 (s PR A I

in the consolidated financial statements 2,408,888 536,050
Construction cost commitments for BT AR AR & BT R A

investment properties contracted for Bl 2 B W) SRR SRR AR I

but not provided in the consolidated

financial statements 360,085 525,627

Construction commitment in respect of BRI ARG SRR ANRE 2
hotel under development contracted for — 7EE /5 ALK AR AdE
but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 20,697 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

43. Share-Based Payment Transactions

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 23 October 2007
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and
eligible employees.

At 31 December 2014, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Scheme was 4,500,000 (2013: 4,568,000), representing 0.16%
(2013: 0.16%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that
date. The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders.

Consideration of HK$1 is payable on the grant of an option.
Options may be exercised according to the schedule set out
below. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company's shares.

43. LR BERTHRS

BRAGEE RS

ApmZ B S (T5HE])) HRER
“ERHFT AT ZHBBRZIRER
Ry TEENRRAEZTRAERESR
TR AR -

R_ZE—NmE+=-_A=+—8 " BE
BB 5 R 8 R AT 6 80 B AR PO R AR
D #H %4,500,000( =T — =4
4,568,0000%) ' 15642 RlZ B B #1ThMD
20.16%(=ZZF—=%F : 0.16%) ° REAR
RAREELEBE - BIEBFT IR L ER
REFT SR 17 M BT AT B 3B AN A B (E {a] B
BEZEITRDE10% o RERRQ AR
EhuitE - RNEW—EFEARERA
TR KA R 2 RS B T
M7 Z RDEE T Al BB AR Rl fE
AR B I TARDAI 1% ©

ROBRERN ZRER/ BT - BEE
A T XFPI 2 R ER T AT » 1718
EBRARREREE - BTEEROAR
AR R H BT E : i) BER
HAMAEEXBENFHEHE: &
(i) RABRMNEEZZSE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFF/E

43. Share-Based Payment Transactions
(continued)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

No. of options

43. LR BERIANRS ()

FBREZFEDBFRMT

granted Exercise price Fair value/
after the after the share at
Option type adjustment Date of grant Vlesting period Exercisable period adjustment grant date
EEdd RABH
BhRESD FiRiEREHE RARH BROE ATRDHE HEATREE  SRAYE
HKS HKS$
BT BT
201A 2,124,114 4 April 201 4 April 2011 to 1 April 2012 to 1318 0.53
31 March 2012 31 December 2014
“5——4MmAmA “5——4MANAZE Z$-Z4MA-RZ
“E2-#=A=1-H “E2-WETZA=t-H
2011B 2,124,115 4 April 2011 4 April 2011 to 1 April 2013 to 1318 0.56
31 March 2013 31 December 2014
“Z——%MmAmA “E——FMARAZE “Z--ENA-RE
—2-=%=f=1-H “3-mE+=A=t-H
2011C 318,707 4 April 2011 None 4 April 2011 1o 1318 0.46
3 April 2014
—E—4MmARA & —Z—FmAmAZ
“Z-Wm¥MmA=R
2014A 4,500,000 15 January 2014 15 January 2014 to 16 October 2014 to 1610 0.16
15 October 2014 16 December 2014
—$-mE-AtHA Z5-ME-ATHAZ ZS-METATAAZE
“E-RETATHRA ZB-METZATAR
20148 4,500,000 15 January 2014 15 January 2014 to 16 October 2015 to 1610 0.20
15 October 2014 16 December 2015
“3-mE-ATHA “3-mE-A+HAZ Z3-RETATAE
ZE-METATHA ZE-RETZATAR

The following table disclose movement’s of the Company's

share options held by the directors and employees during the

current and prior years:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

43. Share-Based Payment Transactions 43. LIBRHBAERINANRS (&)
(continued)
Exercised
Qutstanding after the Expired  Qutstanding QOutstanding
at Granted  Adjustment  adjustment during at Granted  Exercised Expired at
1 January during during during the year 31 December during during during 31 December
Option type 2013 the year the year the year 2013 the year the year the year 2014
BiERy WZZ—=% RZZ2—=% RZZ-MmF
-A-H ER +-A=1-H Em tZA=1-H
AiE  ERRE FRNEE BEAGE  ERER A FARE  BERAR  ERER 7ol
‘000 '000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 '000
note]
T T T T T T T T T T
i)
2010A 2,000 - 125 (2,125) = = = = = =
20108 2,000 - 124 (2,124) - - - - - -
2011A 2,000 - 125 - - 2,125 = (1,000) (1,125) =
2011B 2,000 - 124 - - 2124 = = (2,124) =
2011C 300 - 19 - - 319 = = (319) -
2014A - - - - - - 4,500 = (4,500) =
2014B - - - - - - 4,500 - - 4,500
8,300 - 517 (4,249) = 4,568 9,000 (1,000) (8,068) 4,500
Exercisable at the end
of the year
RERATTE 4,300 4,568 -
Weighted average
exercise price (HK9)
ETAEE (A7) 131 132 161
Note: Bt e -
Regarding to the announcement of the declaration and distribution of special RARGREHA-ZT—=FNA=-+"HEHRETRKE
dividend of the company dated 26 April 2013, the Company make adjustment to IRHRRIIREZ AEME @ AQREARAR=ZZEET
the exercise prices and the number of share options upon the outstanding options CE A+ = BERMZ BIRERT 8118 TR TR B AR E
under share option scheme adopted by the company on 13 September 2007 ZATEE KBRS B (EL AR -
In respect of the share options exercised during the vyear, the FAITEBRERITE B A INE
weighted average share price at the dates of exercise was BAR161BT(ZE—=9F : 1.3287) °

HK$1.61 (2013: HK$1.32).
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # % —=F

—HFEF—A=1—HILFE

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous one
year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB954,000 (2013:
RMB118,000) for the year ended 31 December 2014 in relation
to share options granted by the Company.

The number of share options granted expected to vest has been
reduced to reflect historical experience of forfeiture of options
granted prior to completion of vesting period and accordingly
the share option expense has been adjusted. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
the profit and loss over the remaining vesting period, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the executive
directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]

43. Share-Based Payment Transactions 43. R BER TR E (8)
(continued)
These fair values were calculated using the binominal model. ANEEDER ZHBABRRGTE - ZIERX
The inputs into the model were as follows: ZEASEINT
2011A&B 2011C 2014A 2014B
Exercise price 1T{EE HK$1.318 HK$1.318 HK$1.610 HK$1.610
1.318/87C 1.3188 7T 1.61087T 1.610/8 7T
Expected volatility TEARE R A g 64 % 62% 34% 34%
Expected life TEET G HA 4 years 3 years 0.9 year 1.9 years
45 3% 0.94 1.9
Risk-free rate o 2R B 7 = 1.60% 1.20% 0.18% 0.34%
Expected dividend yield TE HARR BB R 2.80% 2.80% 5% 5%

BHREARRBRERBE-—FZE
SLRIREEE © R AR LR 2 HEF
EREEELERTAEERENE  THER
B RITRARREL 2 KIE[RE -

REBEZE-_ZT—WHF+-_A=1+—HBLHF
B AEBBRARRRE 2 BRERER
Sz #E%8 AR5 954,000 T ( =T — =4 :
AFR#118,0007T) °

EHRENEENCRHBRERE
NRBRBELRTEROBREERE
HAR SR AT E - R R S
TEE - R|EHR - AREKEFTH
HEHEKREBERERERE b5t - &

AIRRMEFHBFORTE(WME) IR

SERRAERRRER  WHBRER
IEHEE R -
“HABEAD AR AT EBREN D

B tEBREAFERERNEE R
BRDIBEBERTES 2 &EMT - BRK
BNEESERETIERRNTAZE
MmABMER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Retirement Benefit Plan

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme administrated by
the local municipal government. The Group’s PRC subsidiaries
contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage
of the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits
of the employees. The principal obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.

Related Party Transactions

(@)  The Group had material transactions during the year with

44. EBIKRBERETE

BRI BARBARNAR - ARBMF
B EARASEM T MERAE RN
FERMFURINGTE - NEE S ENEB
NEVIAF G (8 B % & 11 i 77 R A
BHELE A DL E 2 A8
"X REBMNEARENRERES - &
SEMERBENEEANTIERER
RIBFTEIEH PR o

45. BERRS

(a) AKERANFEEBAETRNEXN

related parties as follows: RLH5WT
2014 2013
—E-mE —T—=F
Related party Nature of transaction RMB’000 RMB'000
& RH1HE AR®T T AREBTT
A related party (note) Interest income 3,864 6,000
—MEE R A (i) FEWA
Non-controlling shareholders Interest income 500 1,024
of subsidiaries
B8 A FIIEEARAR R FEHA
Non-controlling shareholders Interest expense 19,866 16,998
of subsidiaries
B8 & Rl R AR AR ER MEFXZ
A joint venture (note 15) Disposal of prepaid
lease payments 151,955 =

—Ha &% (KizE15)

Note:

The related party is an entity established in the PRC, and is controlled by
the non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries.

BENEERAERE

B -

ZRBERRRRPBERINERE - DEBRRZIE
PERRAR SRR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

45. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(b)  The remuneration of key management personnel during

the year is as follows:

45. BEL X5 (&)

b) MAFETEEEASHHMAT :

2014 2013

—E-NF —ET-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFIT

Short-term benefits S HIfE T 27,437 24,234
Share-based payments VAR (D BERET R 954 118
28,391 24,352

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard

to the performance of individuals and market trends.

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company

(@) General information of principal

subsidiaries

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries at the end of

EEZRIZTRABHFMIAFMHES
SEBEARBR NN EBLMETE °

46. AR T EEMBATFHE

(a) FEMBERT—RER

RBEMKR - AEETEHE LA

the reporting period are as follows: EJCINE
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
e,/ ERTRAR
WEARER R FrsERE BE/EMRE  TEER
2014 2013
ZE-mE _F-=F
Add Hero Holding Limited British Virgin Islands 100% 100% US$10,000  Investment holding
("Add Hero") (note a) ("BVI")
Add Hero Holding Limited RBERES 100005 REZR
(TAdd Hero ) (3t a) BT sst)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

46. AR EEME D RS ()

(a) EFEMBERE—RER (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL/ BRTREAR
WEARER kS FisERE RE/dfRE  TEER
2014 2013
“¥-mE -B-Z=
Add Gain Investments Limited BVI 100% 100% US$100  Investment holding
HRERES 100%T  REER
Add Lion Profits Limited BVI 100% 100% US$100  Investment holding
ABERES 100FT  REZR
Add Power Investments Limited BVI 100% 100% US$100  Investment holding
HRERES 100%T  REER
Add Right Investments Limited BVI 100% 100% US$100  Investment holding
ABERES 100FT  REBKR
Bright Oriental Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% HK$1  Investment holding
A 1AL RERR
China Aoyuan International Hong Kong 100% 100% HK$1  Investment holding
Development Limited A 18T RERR
EREIERHEREARAT PRC 100% 100% US$49,000,000  Property development
(Chongging Chuangguan Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
BREEE AR ERAA G 49.000000%T  MEER
BHAIEREERARAT PRC 100% 100% RMB80,000,000  Property development
(Fogang Tong Li Sheng Investment
Development Company Limited)
BRHANEREERARAR il AR#80,000000 WEEE
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46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

46. AR TR EEM B A BB (&

)

(a) EFEMBERE—RER (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
MR/ BRTREAR
WEARER ALY FisERE RE/dfRE  TEER
2014 2013
“2-mE -B-Z=
RESEERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB680,000,000  Investment holding
(Aoyuan Group Company Limited)
RESEERAF i ARE680,000000c  wEER
ENREESHEHEREARLT PRC 100% 100% RMB380,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Aoyuan Hai Jing
Cheng Real Estate Development
Company Limited)
ENRR SR EHEREER AR Gile AR®380,000000c  MERE
ENTEBEEREHERE AR AT PRC 100% 100% RMB170,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Panyu Jin Ye Yuan
Real Estate Development
Company Limited)
BNTER e ZREHEREERAR el AR®170,000000c  MERE
ENTEBSEEHEREEBRAH PRC 100% 100% RMB180,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Panyu Jin Ye Real
Estate Development Company Limited)
BAmERe X EHEREERAR i AR®180,000000c  MEERE
BENEME R R EREERAR PRC 100% 100% RMBG0,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Olympic Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
ENARC R FHEREERAR el AR¥60000000  MEEE
ENESRN R ERE AR AR PRC 100% 100% RMB31,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Panyu Olympic Real
Estate Development Company Limited)
BNERENC R B HEREERAR el AR¥31,000000T  MEEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

46. AR EEME D RS ()

(a) EFEMBERE—RER (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
MR/ BRTREAR
WEARER kS FisERE RE/dfRE  TEER
2014 2013
“2-mE -B-Z=
ENREEELEERER AR PRC 100% 100% RMB50,000,000  Provision of consultancy
(Guangzhou Aoyuan Assets of services and hotel
Management Company Limited) ownership
BNREEELEERERAR G AR50,0000007T  REFARBIHRER
BN EREHERE AR AR PRC 100% 100% RMB120,494,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Nansha Guo Ao Real
Estate Development Company Limited)
BN EREHEREERAR Gl AR#1204940007  MERE
SRR ERBERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB31,000,000  Property development
{Longnan Jin Cheng Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
ERZSHEHEREERAR i ARE31,000000  MEEE
INREFRHEREERAH PRC 100% 100% RMB80,000,000  Property development
(Yulin Aoyuan Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
FHARFHEREERAR H AKRF80,000000c  MEERE
INBERANEHEREERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB200,000,000  Property development
(Yulin Aoyuan Cannes Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
FHRERNEHEREBRAR H AK®200000000 MEEE
I IR EREERAR PRC 51% 51% RMB20,000,000  Property development
(Jiangmen Jiangao Real Estate Development
Company Limited) (“Jiangmen Jiangao")
IR EREERAR Gl ARB20,000007  WEER

(IFIR))
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46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

46. AR TR EEM B A BB (&

)

(a) EEMBERE—RER (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
MR/ ERTRAR
WEARERE ALY Frisa e BA/ZRBR  TEER
2014 2013
ZE-mE —F-=F
BEMREEXERAR PRC 80% 80% RMB50,000,000  Property development
(Qingyuan Aoyuan Property Company Limited)
BEMREEZERAR L ARE50,000000c  WEEE
EERENHEEERAF PRC 100% 100% RMB1,030,000,000  Property development
(Shenyang Aoyuan New City
Property Company Limited)
B REIERERAA G AR¥1,030000000T  MEER
BNRERHEREERAH PRC 53.96% 100% HK$1,390,000,00000  Property development
(Guangzhou Aoyu Real Estate
Exploitation Company Limited) (note b)
ENRBEERZERAR (Fiib) G 1,390,000,00000%7w  MEEE
BRI ERER AT PRC 100% 100% US$110,000,000  Property development
(Zhongshan Plaza Development
Company Limited)
B ESREREBRAR HE 110,000,000  MEEE
A (BIL) EXBRAR PRC 100% 100% US$5,552,000  Property development
(Woolim Fanta (Kunshan)
Development Company Limited)
R (BIL) EXRRAR il 5052000%T  MEER
R (RIL) BB AR PRC 100% 100% US$3,100,000  Property development
(Woolim (Kunshan) Development
Company Limited)
R (BIL) BRAR HE 3100000%T  MFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AR BB R Mk ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F 1+ - A=+—HIFFZE

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 46. X ARIEEMMB A RS (&)
Company (continued)
(a) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMEAT—RER (F)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL/ BRTREARE
WEARERE R Frisa e BA/ZRBR  TEER
2014 2013
“E-mF -T-=F
HWNEFEHEREERAR PRC 60% 60% RMB50,000,000  Property development
(Zhuzhou Jin Ye Property
Development Limited)
e XEHEREER AT i AREB0,000000T  MEERE
MR EHERE AR AR PRC 70% 70% RMB8,000,000  Property development
(Zhuzhou Cheng tou Properties
Development Company Ltd.)
MR EHERE AR AR G AREB000000  WEEE
HNREEHERE AR AR PRC 60% 60% RMB50,000,000  Property development
{Zhuzhou Aoyuan Property
Development Company Limited)
HNREFEHEREARAR HE AR¥D50,000000  MEEE
EEERARHEREERAH PRC 100% 100% RMB200,000,000  Property development

(Chongaing Pan'ao Real Estate
Development Company Limited)

EREREHEREERAR P AR¥2000000007t  MEXE
EEBREXARAA PRC 100% 100% RMB600,000,000  Property development
(Chongaing Gang Ao Properties Limited)

BEEREXARAF I AKH600,000000  MERE
ENRERHREERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB670,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Aoyuan Cannes
Investments Company Limited)

ENRERNZEERAR S AE®670,0000007T  MEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

46. RN R EEME D RS ()

(a) EEMBERE—RER (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL/ BRTREARE
WEARER kS FisERE RE/dfRE  TEER
2014 2013
“E-mF -T-=F
REEE(BM)BRAR PRC 100% 100% RMB1,000,000,000  Property development
{Aoyuan Group (Guangzhou)
Company Limited)
BESE (BM)BRAR e AR%1,000000000 WEEE
BNTERREERERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB238,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Wan Pui Investment
Management Company Limited)
BNmEARAERERAR il ARE238000,000c  MEERE
BMEREREREERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB110,000,000  Hotel operation
(Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan
Health Hotel Company Limited)
ENEYRRREEERRAR il AR¥1100000007  S&EE
BImEEEXBRAR PRC 80% 80% RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Yangjiang City RunXin Properties
Company Limited)
BImBEEZBRAR e AR%100,000000  WEEE
EFREEZERAT PRC 100% 100% RMBE0,000,000  Property development
{Yun Fun Aoyuan Properties
Company Limited)
EFARELARAR e AR%50,0000000  WEEE
ERBRELXBRAR PRC 100% 100% RMB450,000,000  Property development
(Chongging YueAo Properties
Company Limited)
EFBRELERARA e ARE450,0000007  MEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AR BB R Mk ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F 1+ - A=+—HIFFZE

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the Company 46. NN TEFE M;j% NEIFE (E])
(continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMEAT—RER (F)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
EMAL/ BRITRAR
WEARER R B8 iR R RE/EMRA  TEER
2014 2013
“2-mE —T-=F
REEESEEXER AT PRC 100% 100% RMB200,000,000  Property development

(Aoyuan Group Chongging YueAo
Properties Company Limited)

RESEERELERAH i AE#200,000,000  EEE
ENEEEEERAR PRC 51% 51% RMB150,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Kangwei)

ENEREEBRAR e AR#150,000,0000  MEEE

BT RERHEREER AR PRC 100% 100% RMB50,000,000  Property development
{Foshan City Nanhai Aoyu Real e AREE0000,000 MEXE

Estate Development Company Limited)

frLm S RBEHERLERAT

RESE (/M) BRAR PRC 100% 100% RMB100,000,000  Property development
{Aoyuan Group (Meizhou)

Company Limited)
BESE (/M) BRAF i AK%100,000000  MEEE
ENEREHEREEBR AT PRC 100% 100% RMB100,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou LuoAo Real Estate
Development Company Limited)

ENEREHEREAB AT HE AEH100,000000T  WEER
ENRREEERERAH PRC 100% 100% RMB300,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Aoyuan Commercial
Development Company Limited)

ENRERRERARAR i AR®3000000007t  MERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

46. AR EEME D RS ()

(a) EFEMBERE—RER (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
MR/ BRTREAR
WEARER ALY FisERE BA/ZRBR  TEER
2014 2013
~B-mF —%-=
REEE (BIL) EXERAF PRC 100% Nil RMB50,000,000  Property development
(Foshan Aoyuan Property Company Limited)
RESE (L) EXERAR i i ARE50,000000c  WEEE
RESE(RE)BRAR PRC 100% Nil RMB200,000,000  Property development
(Yingde Aoyuan Group Company Limited)
RESE (5E) BRAR il m  AR%2000000007T MEEE
ERRKEXBRAR PRC 100% Nil RMB20,408,000  Property development
(Guangdong Shangshui Wine Company Limited)
BREKEEERAR t & ARE204080007T  MEER
RESE (F0) BRAF PRC 100% il RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Shaoguan Aaoyuan Group Company Limited)
BESE () ARAR g &  AR%1000000007 MEEE
ERREEXARAA PRC 100% Nil RMB1,400,000,000  Property development
(Chongaing Aoyu Property Company Limited)
EEREEXERAT ﬁF & AR%1400000000T MIEEE
ERRRESARAR PRC 100% il RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Jiaoling Aoyuan Square Company Limited)
ERRERSERAR el & AR®100000000 MEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

46. AR EEME D RS ()

(a) EFEMBERE—RER (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
MR/ BRTREAR
WEARER ALY FisERE BA/ZRBR  TEER
2014 2013
= L
EERREZBRAT PRC 100% Nil RMB1,500,000,000  Property development
(Chongging Jinao Property Company Limited)
ERRRERERAT e & AR®1500000000 MEER
TERERSERAR PRC 100% Nil RMB200,000,000  Property development
(Wuhua Aoyuan Square Company Limited)
hERERGEB AT e i AK%200000000 MEEE

Notes:

(a) Add Hero is directly held by the Company and the remaining
subsidiaries comprising the Group are indirectly held by the

Company.

(b) Hua Xia Life Insurance Corporation Limited, an independent third
party, injected an amount of RMB1,000,000,000 to Guangzhou
Aoyu during the year ended 31 December 2014. After that the
Group held equity interest of 53.96% of Guangzhou Aoyu.

(c) Except for BVI and Hong Kong incorporated companies which are
operating in Hong Kong, other subsidiaries are operating in the
PRC.

(d) The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company

which, in the opinion of the executive directors, principally affect
the results or assets of the Group. To give full details of subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the executive directors, result in particulars

of excessive length.

PIRE -

(@) Add HeromiZA R RIEEZRA - HRAKAS
B2 B ARHRARRRERSE -

(b) REE_E-—WNE+-_A=+—B8LLFE -
BYE=HEBEASRBRBRNDBRARRE
N FE ARE1,000,000,0007T ° Ei% -
AEEEEENEEL3.96% % ©

© BREBERESRBBEMKILIZARE

FBEEIN

HMBRRSERRELE

d ERINHATEERRIBZELASEREA
REEZAAREEZMBEAR - ITEER

RRHERUR KT A

AgSHEBRILE
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(b) Composition of the Group

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has

other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A

maijority of these subsidiaries operate in PRC. The principal

activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

46.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

KRR EEME R RFE (&)

(b) AEEZAMK

ARARREMRE LM AREE
WAREZHMBRF - KEDEL
MEARBRTEZE - BENE
RAMEBRRBHRLT

Number of subsidiaries

Principal place B ARZE
Principal activities of businesses 2014 2013
FEX FELEME —E-NEF —E—=F
Investment holding BVI 41 41
KA EEERHES
Hong Kong 55 54
BB
PRC 5 5
h
Property development and investment PRC 6 5
MEEREREE H
Provision of consultancy and
management services PRC 38 36
TRALEER R B R AR H
Hotel operation PRC 1 1
KR B
146 142
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F+ - A=+—HIFFZE

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(c) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiary that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group as at 31 December 2014 and
31 December 2013 that have material non-controlling

46. NN A EEME D AR (&)

(c) EREARFEREZZHFE
BB RFE

TERAFARER-FT-—mF+= A
=+—BR=F-=5+-A=+—H
REEAFRRERD 2 F2ENBAT

interests: i
Proportion of
ownership
interests
Place of voting rights
establishment held by
and principal non-controlling Profit allocated to accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
R ER
RUBERETE  FEEEERE
- SR =E b RERREE I R 2R A& R Rt R ER
2014 2013 2014 2013
“E-ME —ZT-=-F ZE-NF ZT-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTT AR¥TRT ARETR
Jiangmen Jiangao PRC 49% 9,777 39,930 103,545 93,768
Il A 3
Guangzhou Aoyu PRC 46% - - 1,091,694 -
BMEE 3

Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests

BAFRRREENEIFEANBEAF

Summarised financial information in respect of Jiangmen
Jiangao and Guangzhou Aoyu that has material non-
controlling interests is set out below. The summarized
financial information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

119,397 211,042

1,314,636 304,810

BREIFTIRNREMBRBHEBENIFE
PRt S AR T o X
BRI EEREEALIHRI S o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B 255 e B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 # 7 —F—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(c) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiary that

46.

KRR EEME R RAFE (&)

(c) EREARFEREZZHFE

have material non-controlling interests BB A RIS (&)
(continued)
Jiangmen Jiangao JIP9IER
2014 2013
—2-mEF —F=%
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE 127 13
Current assets MENEE 392,097 399,408
Current liabilities mENAE 180,908 208,158
Non-current liabilities SEMBAE - -
Equity attributable to owners RATHEE AR
of the Company 107,771 97595
Non-controlling interests IR A 103,545 93,768
Revenue L] 105,013 298,636
Expenses FsZ 85,060 217147
Profit and total comprehensive FRmA 2R R
income for the year 19,953 81,489
Profit and total comprehensive RAREMR SN R EE R =25
income attributable to the Company 10,176 41,559
Profit and total comprehensive R R FE (RS T R 2 E B R
income attributable to the
non-controlling interests 9,777 39,930
Profit for the year F R A 19,953 81,489
Net cash inflow from KEEBEE ZIRERAFE
operating activities 158,030 6,211
Net cash flow from WEEBELEZRSREF5E
investing activities - -
Net cash outflow from BEEBEE 2 IR SR FEE
financing activities (80,000) (69,225)
Net cash inflow (outflow) WERACREL) F58 78,030 (63,014)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F 1+ - A=+—HIFFZE

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 46. A AR EEM B A RFE (E)

Company (continued)

(c) EREARFEREZZHFE

(c) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiary that

have material non-controlling interests BB A RIS (&)
(continued)
Guangzhou Aoyu E N ERE
2014 2013
—2-mEF —F=%
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,650,934 1,650,655
Current assets MENE EE 2,122,671 1,347707
Current liabilities nEBE 594,209 411,457
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 808,211 1,183,328
Equity attributable to owners RAREE AEGER
of the Company 1,279,491 1,403,577
Non-controlling interests =R 2 1,091,694 -
Revenue = 55,934 267357
Expenses X 88,326 240,376
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive 4R (E518) % F &2 (s )
(expense) income for the year W faza (32,392) 26,981
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive 22 A& (E518) 4 F|
(expense) income attributable to pESENGEFIR G G
the Company (32,392) 26,981
Profit and total comprehensive P AR S AR A &
income attributable to the S ERE= R
non-controlling interests - -
(Loss) profit for the year FN(EE) = (32,392) 26,981
Net cash outflow from operating KRB ELE 2 RS F5E
activities (934,502) (428,277)
Net cash outflow from investing WERDELE 2R ML FE
activities (580) (109)
Net cash inflow from financing BMEEREE RS MAFRE
activities 930,000 305,900
Net cash outflow IR e F R (5,082) (122,486)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —F—MF+ - A=+—HIFFE

46. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(c) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiary that

have material non-controlling interests
(continued)

At 31 December 2014, Hua Xia Life Insurance Corporation
Limited injected registered capital of RMB1,000,000,000
to Guangzhou Aoyu, represented a 46.04% of the equity
interest of Guangzhou Aoyu after its capital injection.
Accordingly, the deemed disposal generated a non-
controlling interest of RMB1,091,694,000 at the date of
capital injection.

47. Events After the Reporting Period

Subsequent to the reporting date, the Group had following

significant events took place:

(a)

250

On 21 January 2015, the Company and an Australian
property developer, Ecove Investments Pty limited
("Ecove”), entered into an agreement collectively to
acquire one parcel of land situated at 130 Elizabeth
Street in Sydney, Australia, at a total consideration of
AUD121,250,000 (equivalent to RMB600,000,000). The
Company will hold 70% equity interest of the project
company established for developing the land upon
execution of agreement. The Company and Ecove have
paid AUD12,125,000 (equivalent to RMB®60,000,000) of
the consideration and required to settle the remaining
balance on or before 21 April 2015. The land in Australia is
designated for residential properties for sale.

On 26 January 2015, the Company entered into an
agreement to acquire two parcels of land situated in
Jiaxing, the PRC, at a consideration of RMB221,060,000
through public auction. The Company has paid
RMB114,530,000 of the consideration and required to
settle the remaining balance on or before 9 June 2015.
The land in Jiaxing is designated for commercial and
residential properties for sale.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 B2 5] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A 7]

46. NN A EEMB D AR (&)

(c)

BRERFERERZHE
EKE QRS (&)

R-E—WFE+—A=+—H
B ASRBIRMD AR A R A EMNE
255 &% AR # 1,000,000,000 7T
HR T BERIFAEINRE46.04%
I Bt - B AHEEERE
EHHELIEERESZARE
1,091,694,000 7T °

47. REHPEEEE

RBEBMR - AREREUATERE

f

(a)

RZE—RAF—A=+—8"
ARAAERMNEMEZER
Ecove Investments Pty Limited
([Ecovel) &1 3 W FE A U i — 18
iz PR e TR R EE S5 B 7 130 5%
Bt - B85 5 121,250,000
YR IT (48 % 5 A K #600,000,000
7o) o RIBEIITIR - AR A
BHEB AT ZT70% - NAFK
Ecove B X X8 12,125,000 T
(FEE R AR# 60,000,0007T) @ I
BR—_ZE—AFMNA=-+—H=%Z
Al A5 VB BREE o ML AVEINEY EHbFERE
AR EEAIEIHEEEYE

R-ZZ—RAF—HA-tXB &
NRAEBRFAMEER L — 0

& WU AR B 5 LT A R R
T i KER AR 221,060,000
T o ARAIE X NREFHARE
114,530,0007T ' WER =T —H
FRANBHZANMEBHEE - 1R
REMH T HIEEERNEREEH
ER® -
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48.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok B 5 A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #ZE —FE—F 1+ - A=+—HIFFZE

Events After the Reporting Period 47. EHBREE(E)

(continued)

R=—E—RF_F+/XH ~AQF
SN — D - BiEEE A EE
FEHEBAEREXERZEER AT
MEBSIEHBRABZEHMERA
AIHG7%E  BREABARE
200,000,000 7 * LA M BE — 1@ 2 A
R B8zt o Ul Bz i
EEESERmEDFEAZ -

48. RN FIFBHME

(C) On 16 February 2015, the Company entered into an (c)

agreement to acquire 67% equity interest in each of
Shanghai Tianye Eco-Industrial Development Limited
and Shanghai Jiangnan Tianyuan Clubhouse Limited
by way of capital injection at a total consideration
of RMB200,000,000 to acquire a parcel of land in
Shanghai, the PRC. The land in Shanghai is designated for
commercial properties for sale.

Financial Summary of the Company

2014 2013
—ZT—F =%
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS JEmMBNE E
Investment in a subsidiary R—HEHE A RRRE 4,401,648 4,401,648
Property, plant and equipment M - WE K& 1,013 860
4,402,661 4,402,508

CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A E R 1,086 -
Amount due from a subsidiary FEW —FEIF B A Bl 5RIA 2,663,730 1,695,172
Bank balances RITHERR 34,074 44,043
2,698,890 1,739,215
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE

Other payables HAth fES 5RIE 3,625 247
Bank and other borrowings SR1T R E AR 342,665 210,250
346,290 210,497
Net current assets BB EFE 2,352,600 1,528,718

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EmBAE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER - 364,487
Senior notes BAEEE 3,256,986 1,370,567
3,256,986 1,735,054
Net assets BESE 3,498,275 4,196,172

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARKEE
Share capital [N 26,355 26,347
Reserves ] 3,471,920 4,169,825
Net equity SR 3,498,275 4,196,172
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48. Financial Summary of the Company

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

ok T B 255 A B R (40)

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # 7 —E—[14#+ - H=+—HIFFE

48. XNFIHBME (&)

(continued)
Statement of changes in equity of the company RARIERBEI*K
Retained
Share profits
Share Share option  (accumulated
capital premium reserve loss) Total
REEH
B B3R E BRERE (RiER) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR ARBTR
At 1 January 2013 R=E-=%-A—-H 25,015 4,123,191 4,148 603,065 4,755,419
Loss and total comprehensive FRNEBREERLEE
expense for the year - - - (91,134) (91,134)
Dividend recognised as REDRERE (i 12)
distribution (note 12) 1,299 212,109 = (686,006) (472,598)
Recognition of equity-settled BRARALE L R D BERR
share-based payments - - 118 - 118
Exercise of share options fEiERE 3 6,653 (2,319 - 4,367
At 31 December 2013 W-E-—=F#+_A=1—H 26,347 4,341,953 1,947 (174,075) 4,196,172
Loss and total comprehensive FREBREARY S
expense for the year - - - (477271) (477211)
Dividend recognised as RENRRRE (7 12)
distribution (note 12) - - - (222,628) (222,628)
Recognition of equity-settled RUARALEE AR
share-based payments RERER - - 954 - 954
Exercise of share options TiPiEiE 8 1,485 (445) - 1,048
Transfer of share option reserve R RS ERERER
upon forfeiture of share options - - (2,068) 2,068 -
At 31 December 2014 R=E-ME+=-A=+-H 26,355 4,343,438 388 (871,906) 3,498,275

The total amount of share premium and retained profits, if any
amounting to RMB3,471,532,000 (2013: RMB4,167,878,000) is
available for dividend distribution as at the end of the reporting

period.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B[] i 7 4 B By A B A 7]

RBEEAR - BB E KRB HEF AR5
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Consolidated results

For the year ended 31 December 2014 # % —=F

Financial Summary

it i’éﬂ%g

Year ended 31 December

—HFEF—A=1—HIFE

MAXE BE+t=-B=t—-HILEE
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
—2-2F —T——F —T——-F —T-=F ZZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETRT ARETT ARETT AR¥Tx
(restated)
(#==71)
Revenue EEH 2,442,172 3,022,154 3,943,205 5,729,267 6,976,151
Profit before taxation B Tt A 705,737 778,960 1,525,181 1,265,081 1,448,706
Income tax expense FTisfif X (359,137) (336,300) (592,537) (512,945) (665,773)
Profit for the year FEEEF 346,600 442,660 932,644 752,136 782,933
Consolidated assets, equity and liabilities As of 31 December
HREEE ERRAE R+t=A=+-—H
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
—2-Z2F —T—F —T——F —T-=F ZZET-NE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRTE ARETRT ARETRT ARET:R
(restated) (restated)
(/=E75) (&71))
Assets BE
Non-current assets FERBEE 3,090,876 3,992,103 4,129,290 3,150,401 3,635,897
Current assets MENEE 10,059,824 12,922,368 16,683,751 26,781,105 33,149,937
Total assets BEE 13,150,700 16,914,471 20,813,041 29,931,506 36,785,834
Equity and liabilities EakaE
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 2,223,726 2,166,444 3,604,750 7,444,353 7,373,711
Current liabilities mEEE 5,068,586 8,619,250 10,104,606 14,963,297 20,378,035
Total liabilities wEE 7,292,312 10,685,694 13,709,356 22,407,650 27,751,746
Equity attributable to owners AR FHEH A
of the Company FEfEHE R 5,807,405 6,159,182 6,951,335 7,219,046 7,719,452
Non-controlling interests FEE R 50,983 69,595 152,350 304,810 1,314,636
Total equity and liabilities BERkaE 13,150,700 16,914,471 20,813,041 29,931,606 36,785,834
The Company was incorporated on 6 March 2007 as an exempted KRR —EELF= ANHRHAESHE M

company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands and became
the holding company of the Group as a result of certain business
combinations transactions on 6 September 2007. The financial

B RERRERAR YR —F

summary has been presented on the basis that the Company had

been the holding company of the Group from the beginning of the

earliest period presented.
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Properties for Sales

Major Properties Held for Sale

Egﬁﬁ (B VES

A HEEEYE

GFA Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) the Company
Project Location Status Existing use BEEE /NG|
HHE 1t 26 R RERZ (FFF7K) Frib s
Guangzhou Aoyuan  Panyu, Guangzhou Under construction Hotel, offices, 206.4 100%
City Plaza BEMNTEER friz commercial properties
BN BB TR BIE - BFE - BE
Zhuzhou Aoyuan Zhuzhou, Hunan Under construction Commercial properties, B3 60%
Shennong Health City #F3& kM T iz integrated residential
RN ER R 3 2 A 35k community
BE mArE
Zhuzhou Aoyuan Zhuzhou, Hunan Under construction Commercial properties, 429.7 60%
Plaza WEAEIMT Triz integrated residential
HRNREES community
B¥  FaitE
Guangzhou Luogang  Huangpu, Guangzhou Under construction  High-rise apartments, 3076 51%
Aoyuan Plaza BEMmEE TR commercial properties
BMNEEREES SIEYNCINSES
Shenyang Aoyuan Shenyang, Liaoning  Under construction Integrated community 553.6 100%

Convention Plaza

EEREASRES

e
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Investment Properties

BEYE

1. Completed properties held for investment 1. ERIFEREYE
Gross floor
area Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) the Group
No. Project Location Type Lease term BEERE rEE
F% 1A % g1 a8 (FRHK)  Fims
1 Guangzhou Nanguo Panyu, Guangzhou Golf course & commercial Long 84.2 100%
Aoyuan BMmESR building REH
BENEERR RRAERES REFEAE
2 Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan  Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Long 74 100%
EMNERRER BMNmESE building RFH
S GE N
3 Guangzhou Guo Ao Nansha, Guangzhou Office Long 2.4 100%
Investment Development ~ BMmEYRE BT REH
Centre
BB REEERE L
4 Guangzhou Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop Medium 8.6 100%
BN RE BMNmESR 58 HEEH]
5  Chongging Aoyuan City of  Chongging Retail shop & Clubhouse Medium 5.9 100%
Health EEM ESRER I H
6  Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Medium 80.5 100%
BMNREES BNmESRE building 5
EHREERNE
7  Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza  Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Medium 6.1 100%
ENREELES BENHEER building R
S GSEINE]
8  Shenyang Aoyuan The Shenyang, Liaoning Commercial building Medium 70 100%
Metropolis BELEGT HEAE ks
R R E B

Annual Report 2014 22— PYAEARE i}
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Investment Properties (continued)

B (B)

2. Investment properties under construction BIFEREMEYE
Gross floor
area Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) Stage of the Group
No. Project Location Type Lease term BEEE Completion KEE
B4 EH 1 £ a8 (FEHX) 3 it
1 Shenyang Aoyuan Shenyang, Liaoning Commercial Medium 114.2 Under 100%
Convention Plaza #EE&&ERGT buildings 5 construction
L REERES [EEIN] s
2 Guangzhou Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & Medium 277 Under 100%
Aoyuan City Plaza BN MESE commercial F A HR construction
BMEER T A building s
ERREERE
3 Jiaoling Aoyuan  Meizhou, Guangdong Retail shop & Medium 19.1 Under 100%
Plaza BRE/MT commercial A construction
EERRES building LA
ERREERE
4 Guangzhou Huangpu, Guangzhou Retail shop & Medium 26.1 To be constructed 60%
Luogang Aoyuan BN mEHE commercial FEEHE BT
Plaza building
EMNEERRES ERREERE
5  Guangzhou Aoyuan Zengcheng, Guangzhou Retail shop & Medium 60.0 To be constructed 51%
Kangwei Plaza M T commercial A H] ET
BN RE R ES building
ERREERE
6  Yangjiang Yangjiang, Guangdong Commercial Medium 10.0 To be constructed 80%
Aoyuan Central EREGIN buildings 5 EHT
Parkview BENE
BIRENE—%
7 Chongging Chongaing Retail shop & Medium 214 To be constructed 100%
Aoyuan The BEM commercial A T
Metropolis building
EFE RE B SN
8  Chongaing Chongaing Retail shop & Medium 573 To be constructed 100%
Aoyuan City Plaza EETM commercial F R Sy
BERRBMAL building
ERREERE

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited b [38 52 [&] #h 2 45 [ B4 A FR A w]



This 2014 annual report (the “Annual Report”), in both
English and Chinese is available on the Company’s website at
http://www.aoyuan.com.cn (the “Company Website” ) and
the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited at
http://www.hkexnews.hk.

Shareholders who have chosen to receive the corporate
communications of the Company (the “Corporate
Communications” ) via the Company Website and who for
any reason have difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the
Annual Report posted on the Company Website may request

the Annual Report in printed form free of charge.

Shareholders of the Company may at any time change their
choice of the means of receipt (either in printed form or
via the Company Website) and/or language (either English
only or Chinese only or both languages) of Corporate

Communications.

Shareholders of the Company may send their request to receive the
Annual Report in printed form and/or in the requested language,
and/or to change their choice of the means of receipt and/or
language(s) of Corporate Communications by notice in writing
to the branch share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’ s Road East Hong Kong or

by sending an email to at aoyuan.hk@aoyuangroup.com.
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China Aoyuan Property Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
I B 2 T B RE AL 2 A PR A ] )
HKEXx Stock Code FrlsJfi & fir Eiifiifk = 3883

REgERERE

Developing Commercial and
Residential Properties in

Parallel
ERERERL
Creating Smart Living
- with Mobile Internet
iR A BRI 5 Technology

Parallel Development in
Domestic and Overseas
Markets

XiREEERS

Upgrading Composite Real Estate
with Themes of Cultural Tourism,
Regimen and Senior Care
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